

mgr Zofia Łapińska

Rozprawa doktorska

"Wykorzystanie elektroporacji z jonami wapnia oraz estradiolem w leczeniu

raka jajnika na modelu in vitro"

Doctoral thesis:

"Utilization of electroporation with calcium ions and estradiol in the treatment of ovarian

cancer in an in vitro model"

Rozprawa doktorska przygotowana pod kierunkiem:

prof., dr hab. inż. Julity Kulbackiej

Kierownik Katedry i Zakładu Biologii Molekularnej

i Komórkowej Uniwersytetu Medycznego im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

dr Dagmary Baczyńskiej (promotor pomocniczy)

Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej

Uniwersytetu Medycznego im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

Wrocław, 2024

Serdecznie dziękuję Promotorkom niniejszej pracy, **Pani prof., dr hab., inż. Julicie Kulbackiej** oraz **Pani dr Dagmarze Baczyńskiej** - za ich nieocenioną wiedzę, wsparcie i cenne wskazówki, które były dla mnie źródłem inspiracji i fundamentem mojego rozwoju naukowego oraz osobistego sukcesu.

Ze szczególnym wzruszeniem wspominam **śp. prof. Jolantę Saczko**, pierwszą Promotorkę tej pracy. Jej niezwykła inspiracja, mądrość i poświęcenie pozostaną na zawsze w moim sercu i będą wiecznie obecne w mojej pracy naukowej.

I would like to thank prof. Vitalij Novickij for his amazing guidance and developing my knowledge in electroporation.

Dziękuję Pracownikom i Przyjaciołom Katedry i Zakładu Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej – Agnieszce Ch., Annie Ch., Ninie R., Annie Sz., Katarzynie B.-K., Agnieszce G.-N., Justynie R., Urszuli Sz., Dawidowi P. oraz Edycie P. – za owocną współpracę i życzliwość. Ich przyjaźń, pomysły oraz motywacja były dla mnie niezastąpione.

Chciałabym serdecznie podziękować moim Rodzicom – Maciejowi i Małgorzacie, siostrze Aleksandrze, partnerowi Jakubowi oraz Przyjaciołom za ich niezawodne wsparcie, wyrozumiałość i wiarę we mnie, które były siłą napędową mojej podróży doktorskiej.

Bez waszej miłości i motywacji nie osiągnęłabym tego sukcesu.

Dziękuję, że byliście przy mnie na każdym kroku.

Spis treści

1.	Streszczenie
2.	Abstract
3.	Wykaz publikacji stanowiących podstawę rozprawy doktorskiej7
4.	Wstęp
5.	Cele rozprawy doktorskiej 14
6.	Materiały i metody 16
6	5.1 Linie komórkowe
e	5.2 Elektroporacja komórek oraz analiza efektywności16
6	5.3 Wyznaczenie optymalnych stężeń analizowanych związków chemicznych 18
e	5.4 Ocena morfologii komórek, zmian cytoszkieletu oraz struktury błony komórkowej 19
e	5.5 Ocena poziomu wybranych białek (kaspazy-1/ -3/ -8 oraz -12) 20
e	5.6 Analiza śmierci komórkowej metodą kometową oraz cytofluorymetryczną 21
e	5.7 Analiza statystyczna
7.	Podsumowanie oraz wnioski
8.	Piśmiennictwo
9.	Spis załączonych w pracy figur 45
10.	Artykuły z cyklu publikacji w formie załączników 48
11.	Informacje o źródłach finansowania badań 110
12.	Oświadczenia współautorów prac będących podstawą cyklu 111
13.	Życiorys oraz dorobek naukowy 127

13.1 Prace pełnotekstowe w czasopismach naukowych	127
13.2 Rozdziały w monografiach naukowych i inne	129
13.4 Streszczenia zjazdowe	129
13.4 Nagrody i wyróżnienia	132
13.5 Udział w projektach naukowych	132
13.6 Udział w warsztatach i szkoleniach	133
13.7 Dodatkowa działalność Doktorantki	133

1. Streszczenie

Rak jajnika (ang. *ovarian cancer;* OC) jest ósmym najczęściej diagnozowanym nowotworem u kobiet. Choroba często rozwija się bezobjawowo, a pierwsze symptomy pojawiają się dopiero w zaawansowanych stadiach, co skutkuje późnym rozpoznaniem. Leczenie opiera się na terapii skojarzonej, łączącej rozwiązania chirurgiczne i chemioterapię. Niestety, dużą część pacjentek dotyka wznowa procesu nowotworowego, po której wyleczalność jest znikoma. Istnieje więc konieczność opracowywania nowych, bardziej skutecznych terapii pierwszego rzutu, które pozwolą opóźnić nawrót choroby, wydłużą wskaźniki przeżycia lub podniosą komfort życia pacjentek w czasie trwania leczenia.

Praca doktorska oparta jest o cykl 2 publikacji oryginalnych, jednej pracy przeglądowej oraz rezultatów badań własnych, do tej pory nieopublikowanych. Temat przewodni cyklu obejmuje analizę efektów biologicznych wywołanych elektroporacją z jonami wapnia (Ca²⁺) oraz estradiolem w modelu *in vitro* raka jajnika. Elektroporacja wapniowa (ang. *calcium electroporation*, CaEP) jest nowatorską modyfikacją elektrochemioterapii (ECT). Obie techniki opierają się na zjawisku elektroporacji (EP), gdzie pod wpływem impulsywnego pola elektrycznego dochodzi do reorganizacji błony komórkowej. Skutkiem jest przejściowe formowanie porów, umożliwiając zwiększony transport molekuł (m.in. leków cytotoksycznych lub jonów) do wnętrza komórki. Dotychczasowe badania wskazują, że CaEP jest mniej toksyczny dla komórek prawidłowych niż klasyczna chemioterapia. Literatura naukowa przedstawia także potencjał terapeutyczny estrogenów (m.in. 17β-estradiolu) oraz ich stymulujący wpływ na wewnątrzkomórkowe stężenie Ca²⁺. Biorąc pod uwagę powyższe, w pracy przeanalizowano jego potencjalnie wzmacniający efekt wobec terapii CaEP.

Wyniki wykazały obiecujący efekt terapeutyczny CaEP na ludzkie komórki raka jajnika. EP zwiększa cytotoksyczność cisplatyny oraz chlorku wapnia, zarówno przy zastosowaniu impulsów nanosekundowych, jak i mikrosekundowych. Efektywność zależy od długości czasu trwania impulsu, polarności oraz symetryczności zastosowanych protokołów. Pozwala to na kontrolowanie tego procesu i skuteczne dostarczenie leku. Nowe rozwiązanie przejawia większy potencjał toksyczny wobec komórek nowotworowych w porównaniu do chemioterapii oraz ECT opartych na cisplatynie. Wskazano, iż CaEP w mniejszym stopniu oddziałuje negatywnie na komórki prawidłowe w porównaniu do standardowej chemioterapii oraz ECT. Odnotowano również wzmacniający wpływ 17β-estradiolu na skuteczność analizowanej terapii.

5

2. Abstract

Ovarian cancer (OC) is the eighth most diagnosed cancer in women, accounting for 3.7% of cases and 4.7% of cancer-related deaths worldwide in 2020. The disease often develops asymptomatically, with the first symptoms typically appearing only at advanced stages, leading to late diagnosis. Treatment combines surgery and chemotherapy. Unfortunately, a significant number of patients experience recurrence of the cancer, after which the chances of cure are minimal. Therefore, there is a urgent need to develop new, more effective first-line therapies that can delay recurrence, extend survival rates, or improve the quality of life for patients during treatment.

Presented doctoral dissertation is based on a series of publications and non-published data focusing on the analysis of biological effects induced by electroporation with calcium ions (Ca^{2+}) and estradiol ovarian cancer model. Calcium electroporation (CaEP) is a novel technique that modifies standard electrochemotherapy (ECT). Both techniques are based on the phenomenon of electroporation (EP), where an impulsive electric field induces rearrangement of the cell membrane. This results in the transient formation of pores allowing increased transport of molecules (incl. cytotoxic drugs or ions) into the cancer cell. Moreover, previous studies indicate that CaEP has a less toxic impact on normal cells compared to conventional chemotherapy. Additionally, considering the therapeutic potential of high concentrations of estrogens, particularly 17β -estradiol, and its stimulatory effect on intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration, its potential stimulating effect on CaEP therapy was analyzed.

The results obtained demonstrated a promising therapeutic effect of CaEP on ovarian cancer cells. Electroporation enhances the cytotoxicity of cisplatin and calcium chloride with both nanosecond and microsecond pulses. The effectiveness depends on the pulse duration, polarity, and symmetry of the applied protocols, allowing for precise control of the process and effective drug delivery. This novel approach shows a greater toxic potential against cancer cells compared to chemotherapy and cisplatin-based ECT. It was also noted that CaEP has a lesser negative impact on normal cells compared to standard chemotherapy and ECT. Additionally, the potentiating effect of 17β -estradiol on the efficacy of the analyzed therapy was observed.

3. Wykaz publikacji stanowiących podstawę rozprawy doktorskiej

Artykuły zostały uszeregowane zgodnie z realizowanym w nich celem naukowym.

 <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Dębiński Michał, Szewczyk Anna, Choromańska Anna, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta: *Electrochemotherapy with calcium chloride and 17β-estradiol modulated viability and apoptosis pathway in human ovarian cancer*, Pharmaceutics, 2021, vol. 13, nr 1, art.19 [17 s.], DOI:10.3390/pharmaceutics13010019

(IF: 6,525; MNiSW: 100 pkt.)

 Lapińska Zofia, Novickij Vitalij, Rembiałkowska Nina, Szewczyk Anna, Dubińska-Magiera Magdalena, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta Ewa: *The influence of asymmetrical bipolar pulses and interphase intervals on the bipolar cancellation phenomenon in the ovarian cancer cell line*, Bioelectrochemistry, 2023, vol. 153, art.108483 [10 s.], DOI: 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2023.108483

(IF: 4,8; MNiSW: 100 pkt.)

3) <u>Lapińska Zofia,</u> Szwedowicz Urszula, Choromańska Anna, Saczko Jolanta: *Electroporation and electrochemotherapy in gynecological and breast cancer treatment*, Molecules, 2022, vol. 27, nr 8, art.2476 [32 s.], DOI:10.3390/molecules27082476 (IF: 4,6; MNiSW: 140 pkt.)

Łączna punktacja cyklu publikacji: IF: 15,925; MNiSW: 340 pkt.

4. Wstęp

Podstawę rozprawy doktorskiej stanowi cykl trzech pełnotekstowych artykułów naukowych opublikowanych w latach 2021-2023. Artykuły zostały uszeregowane zgodnie z realizowanym w nich celem naukowym. Komentarz do cyklu publikacyjnego stanowi podsumowanie najważniejszych naukowych osiągnięć własnych, będących podstawą przedstawionej rozprawy doktorskiej. Sumaryczny współczynnik wpływu (Impact Factor; IF) czasopism, w których opublikowany został cykl publikacji wynosi **15,925** a łączna liczba punktów Ministerstwa Nauki i Szkolnictwa Wyższego (MNiSW) wynosi **340**. Praca została ponadto wzbogacona o dane dotychczas nieopublikowane.

Rak jajnika (ang. ovarian cancer; OC) stanowi ósmy pod względem częstości występowania nowotwór diagnozowany wśród kobiet, odpowiadając szacunkowo za 3,7% przypadków i 4,7% zgonów z powodu nowotworów odnotowanych w 2020 roku na świecie¹. Do początku XXI wieku wskaźnik zapadalności standaryzowanej na wiek był najwyższy w Europie Północnej oraz Ameryce Północnej. Ta tendencja uległa jednak zmianie. Obecnie zapadalność na tę chorobę wzrasta w niektórych częściach Europy Wschodniej i Azji. Według danych Krajowego Rejestru Nowotworów w 2021 roku w Polsce zostało odnotowanych 3624 nowych przypadków raka jajnika oraz 2639 zgonów kobiet spowodowanych tą chorobą². Tym samym, rak jajnika stanowi drugą najczęstszą przyczynę zachorowań na nowotwory złośliwe narządów płciowych wśród polskich pacjentek. Poza guzami o wydzielaniu dokrewnym, nowotwory jajnika, często we wczesnym etapie, rozwijają się w sposób bezobjawowy (z czym wiąże się popularne w literaturze naukowej określenie tej choroby jako "cichego zabójcy"). Co więcej, w przypadku raka jajnika próżno jest szukać tzw. objawów patognomonicznych. Gdy guz osiągnie już znaczny stopień zaawansowania, pojawiające się symptomy często są mylnie interpretowane przez pacjentki jako dolegliwości ze strony układu pokarmowego, co nie skłania do wizyt u lekarza ginekologa. Z tego powodu wczesna diagnoza choroby ma najczęściej charakter incydentalny, a blisko 70% pacjentek rozpoczyna leczenie w III lub IV stopniu zaawansowania klinicznego wg. klasyfikacji Międzynarodowej Federacji Ginekologii i Położnictwa (FIGO, fr. Fédération internationale de gynécologie et d'obstétrique), w którym wskaźnik 5-letniego przeżycia obniża się odpowiednio do 41 i 20%³. Leczenie choroby opiera się na terapii skojarzonej łączącej cytoredukcję oraz chemioterapię opartą na związkach platyny oraz taksanów ^{4,5}. Pomimo, iż duża część pacjentek obiecująco reaguje na chemioterapię, wg statystyk ~70% kobiet z zaawansowanym rakiem jajnika doświadcza wznowy procesu nowotworowego w przeciągu

8

3 lat, a 10-letni wskaźnik przeżycia wynosi wówczas 17% ^{6,7}. Nawrotowy zaawansowany rak jajnika jest najczęściej nieuleczalny, co podkreśla potrzebę rozwoju nowych strategii terapeutycznych. Na niekorzystne rokowania składa się m.in. duża heterogenność, jaką charakteryzuje się schorzenie ^{8,9}. Znikoma część przypadków rozwija się z komórek germinalnych, czy komórek zrębu jajnika. Zdecydowana ich większość (~90% odnotowanych nowotworów) to nowotwory nabłonkowe (z ang. *epithelial cancers*). Tę ostatnią grupę można dalej podzielić na pięć głównych histotypów, tj. nowotwory surowicze o wysokim i niskim stopniu złośliwości (ang. *high-grade and low-grade serous cancers*) oraz nowotwory endometrioidalne (ang. *endometrioid*), jasnokomórkowe (ang. *clear cell*) i śluzowe (ang. *mucinous*). Każdy z przytoczonych podtypów różni się między sobą podłożem genetycznym, etiologicznym, a także odpowiedzią na zastosowane leczenie. Biorąc po uwagę powyższe, istnieje nagląca potrzeba poszukiwania nowych rozwiązań terapeutycznych oraz poznawania podłoży molekularnych choroby, w celu zwiększania szans przeżycia pacjentek oraz podnoszenia jakości ich życia w trakcie trwającej terapii.

Rak jajnika klasyfikowany jest jako nowotwór zależny od estrogenów, ponieważ hormony te oraz inne czynniki związane z rozrodczością, mają istotny wpływ na jego rozwój i postęp choroby ¹⁰. Dominującym wewnątrzkomórkowym estrogenem jest 17β-estradiol (E₂), który jest syntetyzowany z cholesterolu, a głównym źródłem jego sekrecji sa jajniki. Główna funkcje E2 stanowi rozwój układu rozrodczego oraz gruczołów sutkowych. Jego aktywność biologiczna opiera się na interakcji z określonymi receptorami, mianowicie receptorem estrogenowym α (ang. estrogen receptor α ; ER α), receptorem estrogenowym β (ang. estrogen receptor β ; ER β) oraz receptorem estrogenowym sprzężonym z białkiem G (ang. G protein-coupled estrogen receptor; GPER-1)¹¹. Mechanizm działania estradiolu można podzielić na genomowy i niegenomowy¹². Pierwszy z nich, określany jako klasyczny mechanizm działania estrogenu, polega na przenikaniu E₂ przez błonę komórkową i oddziaływaniu z receptorami estrogenowymi znajdującymi się w cytoplazmie (zarówno ERα, ERβ, jak i obydwoma jednocześnie). Związanie liganda umożliwia dimeryzację receptora, a następnie translokację do jądra komórkowego. Kompleks ER-E₂ wiąże się z określonymi sekwencjami DNA, znanymi jako elementy odpowiedzi na estrogen (ang. estrogen response elements; ERE), obecnymi w promotorach genów docelowych, co umożliwia regulację ich ekspresji. Alternatywnym szlakiem działania estradiolu jest szlak niegenomowy, w którym to osiągnięcie efektu nie wymaga bezpośredniego wpływu na ekspresję genów ¹². Estradiol wiąże się w tym przypadku z receptorami estrogenowymi zlokalizowanymi na błonie komórkowej, takimi jak receptor

estrogenowy typu alfa (mERα) lub wspomniany wyżej receptor GPER-1. Po związaniu z receptorem pobudzone zostają kaskady sygnalizacyjne, które obejmują aktywację kinaz białkowych, takich jak kinaza białkowa C (ang. *protein kinase C;* PKC), kinaza białkowa aktywowana mitogenami (ang. *mitogen-activated protein kinase*; MAPK), czy -kinaza fosfatydyloinozytolu (ang. *phosphoinositide 3-kinases*; PI3K). Skutkuje to fosforylacją białek docelowych, a co za tym idzie zmianami w regulacji kanałów jonowych, potencjału błonowego, mobilizacją jonów wapnia, czy modulacją aktywności enzymów. Te szybkie odpowiedzi mogą wpływać na funkcje komórkowe, takie jak proliferacja, migracja, różnicowanie czy odpowiedzi komórkowe na stres. W przeciwieństwie do genomowego szlaku działania estradiolu, niegenomowy funkcjonuje na poziomie cytoplazmatycznym lub błonowym, a efekty działania następują w przeciągu od kilku sekund do kilku minut.

Od dekad estradiol rozpatrywany jest jako jeden z czynników odpowiadających za rozwój szeregu nowotworów. Estrogen może indukować produkcję oksydacyjnych metabolitów, co prowadzi do powstania adduktów DNA oraz podwójnych pęknięć nici DNA (ang. *DNA double-strand breaks*; DSBs)^{13,14}. Ponadto, hiperaktywacja kompleksu ER:E₂ skutkuje wzmożoną proliferacją komórek, co sprzyja akumulacji uszkodzeń DNA ¹⁵. Stan ten doprowadza ostatecznie do niestabilności genomu, która jest jedną z głównych przyczyn rozwoju nowotworu. Zaskakujący jest jednak fakt, iż w zależności od zastosowanego stężenia (>1 nM), E₂ może wykazywać hamujący wpływ na proliferację komórek nowotworowych, jednocześnie napędzając w nich proces apoptozy ¹⁶.

Do lat 70-tych XX wieku tzw. wysokie dawki estrogenów (ang. *high dose estrogens*; HDEs) były popularne w leczeniu nowotworów piersi pojawiających się po długotrwałych okresach niedoboru estrogenów ¹⁷. Z czasem jednak, rozwiązanie to zostało wyparte przez hormonalne preparaty antyestrogenowe, po porównaniu ilości skutków ubocznych występujących po obu terapiach. Jednakże, HDEs mogą być brane pod uwagę jako alternatywne leczenie pierwszego rzutu pacjentek będących min. 5 lat po menopauzie. Co ciekawe, z punktu widzenia niniejszej pracy, w literaturze naukowej omawiano również stymulujący wpływ estrogenów na kanały jonowe, m.in. kanały wapniowe ¹⁸. W przeprowadzonych badaniach *in vitro* wykazano, iż 17 β -estradiol w zależności od stężenia ($\geq 10 \mu$ M) skutkuje zwiększonym poziomem białka Cav1.3, które to jest izoformą kanału wapniowego typu L (ang. *L-type calcium channel*; LTCC) w komórkach MCF-7, będących modelem badawczym nowotworu piersi ¹⁹. LTCC należy do większej grupy białek, mianowicie kanałów wapniowych bramkowanych napięciem (ang. *voltage-gated calcium channels*; VGCC). Inkubacja szczurzych komórek siatkówki oka

z 10 μ M E₂ skutkowała przejściowo zwiększonym wewnątrzkomórkowym stężeniem jonów wapnia za pośrednictwem LTCC oraz kinazy fosfoinozytolu 3' (ang. *phosphoinositide 3-kinases*; PI3K) ²⁰. Rezultatem tego była ochrona komórek przed procesem apoptozy indukowanym 100 μ M nadtlenkiem wodoru (ang. *hydrogen peroxide*; H₂O₂). Biorąc po uwagę powyższe, w niniejszej pracy postanowiono przeanalizować ewentualną rolę 17β-estradiolu jako czynnika stymulującego dodatkowo efektywność elektroporacji z jonami wapnia.

Stosunkowo jest elektrochemioterapia nową metoda leczenia nowotworów (ang. electrochemotherapy; ECT). Zjawisko to zostało opisane po raz pierwszy przez L.M. Mir i wsp. w 1991 roku i stanowi połączenie konwencjonalnej chemioterapii z elektroporacją (ang. electroporation; EP) ²¹. Jako "elektroporację" rozpatruje się zastosowanie impulsowanego pola elektrycznego zwiększającego krótkotrwale przepuszczalność błony komórkowej, poprzez tworzenie hydrofilowych porów ²²⁻²⁴. W momencie ekspozycji komórki na zewnętrzne pole elektryczne o odpowiedniej sile dochodzi do powstania tzw. indukowanego napięcia transmembranowego (ang. induced transmembrane voltage; iTMV), które istnieje tak długo, jak obecne jest to zewnętrzne źródło pola elektrycznego ²⁵. W chwili, gdy różnica potencjałów po obu stronach błony wyniesie ok. 200-250 mV, dochodzi to rearanżacji/lub reorganizacji dwuwarstwy lipidowej, w wyniku której powstają wspomniane wcześniej pory, a co za tym idzie, zwiększa się przepuszczalność błony komórkowej 26. W zależności od zastosowanego protokołu elektroporacji (tj. natężenia pola elektrycznego, kształtu, długości i czasu trwania impulsów), a także charakterystyki celowanej komórki (jej rodzaju, kształtu, wielkości, składu oraz krzywizny dwuwarstwy lipidowej), możemy wyróżnić dwie główne odmiany elektroporacji: nieodwracalną i odwracalną. Pierwsza (ang. irreversible electroporation; IRE) z nich prowadzi do bezpowrotnego rozszczelnienia błony komórkowej, co znacząco zaburza homeostazę komórki, skutkując ostatecznie jej wkroczeniem na drogę śmierci komórkowej ^{27,28}. Zastosowanie elektroporacji typu odwracalnego (ang. reversible electroporation; RE) pozwala komórkom na zrekonstruowanie ciągłości błony komórkowej oraz przywrócenie homeostazy²⁹. Przejściowy wzrost przepuszczalności dwuwarstwy lipidowej pozwala na zastosowanie RE W celu dokomórkowego, bardziej precyzyjnego, transportu materiału genetycznego, białek, czy leków cytotoksycznych ^{21,30}. Dodatkowy podział elektroporacji zależy od długości aplikowanych impulsów tj. wyróżniamy elektoporację (nsEP) nano-, (µsEP) mikro- oraz (msEP) milisekundową. Na efektywność EP może wpływać również kształt zastosowanych impulsów. Zostało wskazane, iż zastosowanie

impulsów bipolarnych (ang. *bipolar pulses*; BP) wpływa na permeabilizację błony komórkowej bardziej intensywnie niż impulsy unipolarne (ang. *unipolar pulses*; UP), przy osiągnięciu tych samych lub lepszych wskaźników przeżycia ^{31,32}. Pakhomov i wsp. opisali zjawisko, w którym działanie impulsu elektrycznego o dodatniej polarności (tzw. impuls katodowy; oznaczany symbolem: ↑) może zostać zniesione (z ang. *cancelled*) poprzez zastosowanie impulsu o odwrotnej polaryzacji (tzw. impuls anodowy; oznaczany symbolem: ↓) ³³. Jest to unikalna reakcja fizjologiczna komórki, określana w literaturze naukowej jako *"bipolar pulse cancellation"* oraz uważana dotychczas za wyłączną dla protokołów nanosekundowych (nsEP). Zjawisko to może być również kontrolowane poprzez symetrię impulsów oraz ewentualne przerwy wprowadzane pomiędzy aplikację każdego z nich. Chociaż terapie oparte na zjawisku elektroporacji znajdują coraz szersze zastosowanie, należy zaznaczyć (jak zostało wspomniane powyżej), iż efekt końcowy takiej terapii zależny jest od wielu parametrów, dlatego też powinno się analizować skuteczność tego rozwiązania w kontekście każdej tkanki indywidualnie.

Procedury kliniczne z zastosowaniem elektrochemioterapii opierają się w głównej mierze na europejskich wytycznych dotyczących standardowej procedury operacyjnej ECT (ang. European Standard Operative Procedure ECT; ESOPE) opublikowanych w 2006 r. ^{34,35}. Obejmują one aplikację 8 impulsów o długości czasu trwania 100 µs i częstotliwości równej 1 Hz lub 5 kHz (w zależności od typu zastosowanej elektrody). Skutkuje to odwracalną elektroporacją wspomagającą transport leku cytotoksycznego, który podawany jest dożylnie lub bezpośrednio do guza²⁹. Głównymi chemioterapeutykami stosowanymi podczas ECT sa cisplatyna (CPP) i bleomycyna (BLM)^{21,36-39}. Połączenie impulsów elektrycznych oraz wymienionych wyżej chemioterapeutyków pozwala na wzrost ich cytotoksyczności odpowiednio 80- i 1000-krotnie⁴⁰⁻⁴². Rośnie, jednakże liczba badań analizujących efektywność przeciwnowotworową innych niż standardowe leki cytotoksyczne substancji, jak np. jony wapnia (Ca²⁺). Ta modyfikacja standardowej ECT znana jest w literaturze naukowej jako "elektroporacja wapniowa" (ang. calcium electroporation; CaEP) i została opisana po raz pierwszy w 2012 r. przez Frandsen i wsp. 43. Stężenia jonów wapnia po obu stronach błony komórkowej są ściśle kontrolowane⁴⁴. Ich masywny napływ do wnętrza komórki ułatwiony, powstającymi w wyniku EP porami hydrofilowymi, skutkuje zaburzeniem tej homeostazy⁴⁵. W celu pozbycia się nadmiaru Ca^{2+} komórka uruchamia zależne od adenozyno-5'-trifosforanu (ATP) wymienniki oraz pompy. Aktywność tych mechanizmów połączona z zaburzonym gradientem elektrochemicznym, który jest niezbędny do produkcji ATP, ostatecznie

doprowadza do wyczerpania zapasów tej molekuły, aktywując w komórce mechanizmy prowadzące do jej śmierci ⁴⁶. Podobnie jak w przypadku standardowej ECT, CaEP skutkuje większym efektem cytotoksycznym wobec komórek nowotworowych w porównaniu do konwencjonalnej chemioterapii ⁴⁷. Co bardziej znaczące, w zestawieniu z pozostałymi wymienianymi wcześniej terapiami przeciwnowotworowymi, CaEP w mniejszym stopniu wpływa negatywnie na prawidłowe komórki organizmu ^{48–50}.

5. Cele rozprawy doktorskiej

Celem niniejszej pracy była analiza efektywności połączenia elektroporacji z jonami wapnia (Ca²⁺) w kontekście eliminacji komórek raka jajnika na zróżnicowanych modelach *in vitro*. W pracy zweryfikowano dwie główne hipotezy:

- Komórki raka jajnika wykazują wysoką wrażliwość na działanie impulsowego pola elektrycznego o wysokim natężeniu w połączeniu z cisplatyną lub chlorkiem wapnia (CaCl₂).
- 17β-estradiol (E₂) pełni rolę czynnika uwrażliwiającego komórki raka jajnika na terapie oparte na zjawisku elektroporacji, takie jak elektrochemioterapia z wykorzystaniem cisplatyny i chlorku wapnia (CaCl₂).

Dodatkowo, w pracy wyróżniłam hipotezy podrzędne:

- Prawidłowe komórki nabłonkowe jajnika wykazują zmniejszoną wrażliwość na impulsy elektryczne o wysokim natężeniu oraz ich kombinację z cisplatyną lub chlorkiem wapnia (CaCl₂) w porównaniu do komórek nowotworowych.
- 2.) Symetryczne impulsy bipolarne skutkują obecnością efektu *bipolar cancellation*, tj. redukcją permeabilizacji błony komórkowej, przy jednoczesnym wzroście przeżywalności komórek. Zastosowanie protokołów asymetrycznych powoduje ograniczeniem tego zjawiska.

Sformułowane przeze mnie hipotezy zostały zrealizowane i przedstawione w formie cyklu dwóch oryginalnych prac naukowych oraz danych dotychczas nieopublikowanych. Dodatkowo, cykl publikacji został wzbogacony o pracę przeglądową, która opisuje aktualny stan wiedzy oraz potencjalne kierunki rozwoju terapii przeciwnowotworowych opartych na zjawisku elektroporacji, ukierunkowanych na leczenia nowotworów ginekologicznych i raka piersi.



Figura 1. Graficzna prezentacja koncepcji pracy doktorskiej pt. "Wykorzystanie elektroporacji z jonami wapnia oraz estradiolem w leczeniu raka jajnika na modelu in vitro". Zastosowanie impulsywnego pola elektrycznego (1) skutkuje wzrostem stopnia permeabilizacji błony komórkowej (3). Zjawisko to nosi nazwę elektroporacji (EP). Pozwala na podniesienie ilości związków chemioterapeutycznych lub jonów wapnia (Ca²⁺), jakie są dostarczane do wnętrza komórki (4). Ostatecznym skutkiem jest wzrost cytotoksyczności aplikowanych leków, przy jednoczesnym (w przypadku elektroporacji z jonami wapnia tj. elektroporacji wapniowej, CaEP) zmniejszeniu działań niepożądanych wobec komórek prawidłowych (6). Dodatkowo, ekspozycja komórek nowotworowych na działanie 17β-estradiolu (1a) pozwala uwrażliwić je na działanie stosowanych terapii (2).

6. Materiały i metody

6.1 Linie komórkowe

Eksperymenty badawcze zostały przeprowadzone w laboratorium Katedry i Zakładu Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Uniwersytetu Medycznego we Wrocławiu. W pracach doświadczalnych wykorzystano modele in vitro raka jajnika w postaci linii komórkowych pochodzenia ludzkiego: MDAH-2774 [1] oraz OvBH-1 [wyniki nieopublikowane]. Dodatkowo, w celu porównania wpływu analizowanych rozwiązań terapeutycznych na komórki prawidłowe (lub nienowotworowe) zastosowano prawidłowe komórki nabłonkowe jajnika chomika chińskiego: CHO-K1 [wyniki nieopublikowane]. Komórki są równocześnie modelem do badań nad elektroporacją, w związku z obniżoną ekspresją kanałów jonowych. Linie MDAH-2774 i CHO-K1 zostały nabyte w banku komórek ATCC[®] (American Type Culture Collection) i znajdują się na wyposażeniu Katedry i Zakładu Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej. Linia komórkowa OvBH-1 została udostępniona przez prof. J. Bar (Zakład Immunopatologii i Biologii Molekularnej, Katedra Podstaw Nauk Medycznych i Immunologii, Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu) i wyprowadzona z komórek 54-letniej kobiety zdiagnozowanej z jasnokomórkowym rakiem jajnika. Morfologiczne i fenotypowe cechy, jak również zależna od temperatury wrażliwość OvBH-1, zostały wcześniej opisane przez prof. J. Bar i współpracowników, wskazując OvBH-1 jako unikalny i interesujący model badawczy (patent polski nr: PL189880)^{51,52}. Linię komórkową MDAH-2774 wyizolowano z guza endometrioidalnego raka jajnika (ang. endometrioid ovarian carcinoma; EOC) u 47-letniej kobiety. Po raz pierwszy opisane i zidentyfikowane zostały w 1979 roku. Wszystkie komórki były hodowane zgodnie z zaleceniami producentów w warunkach 37°C, 5% CO₂, 95% wilgotności powietrza. Linie komórkowej hodowano przy użyciu komercyjnych mediów hodowlanych tj. DMEM (OvBH-1), RPMI-1640 (MDAH-2774) oraz Ham's F-12 (CHO-K1). Pożywki wzbogacone zostały 100 U/ml penicyliną, 100 µg/ml streptomycyną, 10% płodową surowicą bydlęcą (z ang. fetal bovine serum; FBS) oraz 1% L-glutamina.

6.2 Elektroporacja komórek oraz analiza efektywności

W doświadczeniach wykorzystano komórki adherentne, które przed ekspozycją na impulsowe pole elektryczne, odklejano od podłoża naczynia hodowlanego za pomocą enzymatycznego roztworu TrypLETM Express Enzyme (Life Sciences— Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., USA) i zawieszano w dwóch różnych buforach do elektroporacji (HEPES wzbogacony o 250 mM sacharozę i 1 mM MgCl₂ dla linii OvBH-1 oraz CHO-K1 lub SMEM dla linii MDAH-2774) zawierającymi (lub nie) leki przeciwnowotworowe: cisplatynę (10 µM) lub chlorek wapnia (2,5 mM). Ekspozycję materiału na impulsy elektryczne poprzedzała ich 24-godzinna preinkubacja z roztworem 10 μM 17β-estradiolu (E₂) w medium hodowlanym. Zastosowane stężenie E₂ zostało zoptymalizowane dla każdej linii komórkowej raka jajnika (Pub. 1; Fig. 1 oraz Fig. 2; dane nieopublikowane) poprzez analizę przeżywalności komórek na skutek 24- oraz 72-godzinnej inkubacji we wzrastających stężeniach związku. Na podstawie otrzymanych wyników wybrano najwyższe nietoksyczne stężenie E2. Elektroporacji dokonywano w 1 lub 4-mm kuwetach z elektrodami (BioRad[®], USA) przy użyciu kilku generatorów impulsów elektrycznych: 1.) ECM830 BTX (Harvard Apparatus, USA) - do wytworzenia impulsów mikrosekundowych; 2.) PPG-20 generator (FID Technology, Niemcy) - dla ultrakrótkich impulsów elektrycznych o długości czasu trwania równej 10 ns; 3.) High-Frequency Bipolar Electroporator (VGTU, Litwa) – do aplikacji krótszych (600 ns – 10 µs) impulsów elektrycznych uni- oraz bipolarnych o zmiennej symetrii. Każdy z zastosowanych protokołów został dokładnie opisany w pracach oryginalnych składających się na niniejszą rozprawę. W przypadku niepublikowanych wcześniej wyników, komórki OvBH-1 oraz CHO-K1 zostały wyeksponowane na działanie impulsów elektrycznych, które były dostarczane w postaci 8 impulsów elektrycznych o natężeniu pola w zakresie 0,8-2,5 kV/cm i czasie pojedynczego impulsu 100 µs z częstotliwością powtórzeń 1 Hz, zgodnie z klinicznie stosowanymi Europejskimi Standardowymi Procedurami Operacyjnymi ECT (ESOPE) 53. Po ekspozycji na zewnętrze impulsy elektryczne komórki inkubowano przez 15 min. w temperaturze 37°C, a następnie zawieszono ponownie w medium hodowlanym i poddano dalszej analizie.

Skuteczność protokołów elektroporacji oceniano poprzez pomiar ilości barwnika fluorescencyjnego jodku Yo-ProTM-1 (zwanego również żółcią oksazolową; Thermo ScientificTM, USA) zaabsorbowanego przez komórkę. Analizę przeprowadzono przy użyciu cytometru przepływowego CyFlow CUBE-6 (Sysmex, Polska). Komórki po trypsynizacji zawieszono w odpowiednim buforze do EP z dodatkiem 1 µl/ml barwnika Yo-Pro-1TM. Po ekspozycji na zewnętrzne impulsy elektryczne, komórki odwirowano (2 min. × 100 RCF), a następnie zawieszono w 300 µl buforowanego fosforanem roztworu soli fizjologicznej (z ang. *Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Saline*; dPBS) lub 0,9% roztworu chlorku sodu (NaCl). Tak przygotowane próbki poddawano analizie w cytometrze przepływowym CyFlow Cube 6 flow cytometer (Sysmex, Poland). Każdorazowo analizie poddawano min. 10 000 komórek

w próbie. Kontrolę negatywną stanowiły komórki inkubowane z Yo-Pro-1TM, które nie poddano elektroporacji. Procent permeabilizacji wyrażano jako liczbę komórek emitujących fluorescencję o długości fali 506 nm w stosunku do całkowitej liczby komórek, użytych do analizy. Eksperyment powtarzano 3 razy. Próbki kontrolne bez leczenia zostały użyte jako negatywna kontrola w celu określenia grupy komórek żywych przy użyciu detektorów FSC (z ang. *Forward Scatter Channel*) oraz SSC (z ang. *Side Scatter Channel*). Wyniki zebrano oraz analizowano za pomocą oprogramowania CyView software (Sysmex, Poland).

Żywotność komórek MDAH-2774, OvBH-1 oraz CHO-K1 po ich ekspozycji na zaaplikowane leczenie została oceniona przy użyciu testu MTT, który identyfikuje aktywność mitochondriów. Krótko po elektroporacji, komórki zostały wysiane na 96-dołkową płytkę i inkubowane przez 24-72 godz. Po tym czasie, medium hodowlane zostało usunięte i inkubowano z 0,5 mg/ml roztworem bromku 3-(4,5-dimetyltiazol-2-yl)-2,5-dofenylotatrazolowego (MTT; Sigma-Aldrich, USA) przez 2 godz. w 37°C, 5% CO₂. Uformowane kryształy formazanu rozpuszczono przez dodanie 100 µl zakwaszonego izopropanolu (38% HCl w 99,7% izopropanolu). Do pomiaru absorbancji przy długości fali 570 nm wykorzystano czytnik mikropłytek GloMax[®] Discover (Promega, USA). Wyniki wyrażono jako procent żywych komórek w stosunku do nieleczonych komórek kontrolnych.

6.3 Wyznaczenie optymalnych stężeń analizowanych związków chemicznych

Metoda MTT została również wykorzystana w celu obserwacji przeżywalności komórek MDAH-227, OvBH-1 oraz CHO-K1 na działanie cisplatyny, chlorku wapnia (CaCl₂) oraz 17β-estradiolu (E₂). W pierwszej kolejności przeanalizowano toksyczność 17β-estradiolu, inkubując komórki ze związkami przez czas 24 i 72 godz. (**Pub. 1; Fig. 1 oraz Fig. 2;** *dane nieopublikowane*).



stężenie 17β-estradiol [μM]

🗆 24 godz. 🔲 72 godz.

Figura 2. Optymalizacja stężenia 17β-estradiolu dla komórek OvBH-1. Komórki inkubowano we wzrastających stężeniach 17β-estradiolu przez 24 oraz 72 godziny; Uwagi: (średnia ± SD) N = 3, *p< 0.05, **p< 0.01, ***p< 0.001, ****p< 0.0001 w przyrównaniu do kontroli (CTRL, 0 µM); #p< 0.05, ##p< 0.01, ###p< 0.001, ####p< 0.001 w przyrównaniu wyników dla poszczególnych stężeń pomiędzy różnymi czasami inkubacji; *dane nieopublikowane*.

Na podstawie otrzymanych wyników wybrano optymalne stężenie E_2 stosowane na dalszych etapach prac badawczych (tj. 10 µM w przypadku obu analizowanych linii raka jajnika). Następnie, komórki (po uprzedniej preinkubacji z E_2) wystawiono na 24- i 72-godzinne działanie cisplatyny i CaCl₂, po czym dokonano inkubacji z odczynnikiem MTT. W tym miejscu, również na podstawie otrzymanych wartości, wyznaczono stężenia obydwu związków, które były wykorzystane w kolejnych eksperymentach.

6.4 Ocena morfologii komórek, zmian cytoszkieletu oraz struktury błony komórkowej

Zmiany morfologii komórek MDAH-2774 oraz OvBH-1 uwidoczniono stosując obrazowanie holotomograficzne przy użyciu holograficznego mikroskopu tomograficznego 3D Cell Explorerm (Nanolive Ecublens, Szwajcaria). Komórk preinkubowane z 17β-estradiolem zostały wystawione na działanie cisplatyny lub chlorku wapnia (CaCl₂) w połączeniu (lub bez) z impulsami elektrycznymi. Dokładny opis postępowania w przypadku linii MDAH-2774 został zawarty w rozdziale *Materiały i metody* w pracy oryginalnej nr [1]. W przypadku danych nieopublikowanych komórki linii OvBH-1 zostały odklejone od podłoża naczynia za pomocą TrypLETM Express Enzyme (Life Sciences— Thermo Fisher Scientific

Inc., USA), następnie zawieszone w buforze do EP z dodatkiem związków leczniczych (lub bez) i wystawione na działanie zewnętrznych impulsów elektrycznych. Następnie, komórki odwirowano (2 min. × 100 RCF) i zawieszono w medium hodowlanym, nasadzając je na naczynia do obrazowania Ibidi μ-Dish35mm Quad, a następnie inkubując w temp. 37°C, 5% CO₂ przez 24 godz. Porównanie dla leczenia wspieranego przez dodatek EP stanowiły komórki uprzednio nasadzone na naczynia firmy Ibidi, a następnie inkubowane z cisplatyną oraz CaCl₂ zawieszonymi w medium hodowlanym przez 24 godz. Po tym czasie wykonano zdjęcia przedstawione na **Fig. 10** (*dane nieopublikowane*). Część komórek została wcześniej wybarwiona przez 20 minut w temperaturze 37°C, 5% CO₂ barwnikiem Hoechst 33342 (Life Sciences— Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., USA) w celu wizualizacji jąder komórkowych. Uzyskane obrazy poddano obróbce za pomocą oprogramowania Software for Tomographic Exploration of Living Cells w wersji 1.6.3496 (STEVE, Nanolive).

Przy użyciu mikroskopii konfokalnej oceniono zmiany w strukturze cytoszkieletu, wybarwiając materiał biologiczny przeciwciałami I-rzędowymi skierowanymi przeciwko F-aktynie (MDAH-2774 **[1]** i OvBH-1 *dane nieopublikowane*; 1:300, nr kat. #A12381 Alexa FluorTM546 Phalloidin, nr kat. # A2228, Life Technologies-Thermo Fisher Scientifi, USA) oraz β-tubulinie (OvBH-1 **[2]**; 1:300, nr kat. #ab108342, Abcam, UK). Komórki, uprzednio wystawione na działanie impulsów elektrycznych z dodatkiem cisplatyny lub chlorku wapnia (CaCl₂), poprzedzone 24-godzinną preinkubacją z 17β-estradiolem, nasadzono na szkiełka mikroskopowe, utrwalono przy użyciu 4% paraformaldehydu w PBS, blokowano przy użyciu 5% roztworu płodowej surowicy bydlęcej (z ang. *fetal bovine serum*; FBS) w PBS i wybarwiono wymienionymi wyżej przeciwciałami przygotowanymi w 5% FBS w PBS. Dodatkowo, w celu analizy zmian zachodzących w błonie komórkowej, komórki OvBH-1 inkubowano z barwnikiem CellMaskTM (InvitrogenTM, USA) **[2]**. Oceny struktur dokonano przy pomocy skaningowego mikroskopu konfokalnego Olympus FluoView FV1000 (Olympus, Japonia).

6.5 Ocena poziomu wybranych białek (kaspazy-1/-3/-8 oraz -12)

Stosując metodę immunocytochemiczną określono poziom kaspazy-12 w komórkach MDAH-2774 inkubowanych przez 24 godz. z cisplatyną i chlorkiem wapnia (CaCl₂) [1]. Komórki były uprzednio (bądź nie) poddane 24-godz. preinkubacji z 17β-estradiolem. Obrazowania dokonano przy użyciu odwróconego mikroskopu świetlnego Olympus BCX43 (Olympus, Japonia).

Wykrycie obecności oraz poziomu białek kaspazy-1/-3/-8 oraz -12 zostało wykonane z udziałem techniki Western Blot. Komórki OvBH-1, wystawione wcześniej na działanie elektroporacji z jonami wapnia, poddano lizie przy użyciu buforu litycznego (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8,0, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0,1% SDS, 0,5% deoksycholanu sodu) uzupełnionego koktajlem inhibitorów proteaz (Promega, USA) oraz 0,2 mM fluorkiem fenylometylosulfonylu (PMSF, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) w celu pozyskania całkowitej frakcji komórkowej białek (dane nieopublikowane). Stężenie białka zostało określone przy użyciu zestawu PierceTM BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., USA). Następnie 50 µg białka/próbkę zostało zawieszonych w buforze Laemmli (Bio-Rad, Polska) i poddanych elektroforezie w warunkach denaturujących (SDS-PAGE) przy użyciu 10% żeli poliakrylamidowych. Rozdzielone białka zostały przeniesione na membranę nitrocelulozową przy użyciu systemu Transblot Bio-Rad i zablokowane w 5% roztworze mleka w buforze TBS-T (0,2 M Tris; 1,5 M NaCl; 0,1% Tween-20). Membrany były następnie inkubowane przez noc w 4°C z I-rzędowymi przeciwciałami króliczymi skierowanymi przeciwko kaspazie-1 (1:2000, nr kat. 22915-1-AP, Proteintech, Niemcy) i kaspazie-12 (1:1000, nr kat. PA5-19963, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., USA) oraz przeciwciałami mysimi przeciwko kaspazie-8 (1:200, nr kat. sc-56070, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., USA) i β-aktynie (kontrola wewnętrzna, 1:200, nr kat. sc-47778, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., USA). Po przemyciu membran 3x roztworem TBS-T, membrana inkubowano przez 1 godz. w 37°C z II-rzędowymi przeciwciałami sprzężonymi z peroksydazą chrzanową (HRP), tj. przeciwciałami przeciwko IgG króliczemu (1:5000, nr kat. A6154-1ML, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) lub przeciwciałami przeciwko IgGk BP-HRP mysiemu (1:500, nr kat. sc-516102, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., USA). Wszystkie przeciwciała były rozcieńczane w buforze TBS-T. β-aktyna była stosowana w celu normalizacji ilości białka w każdej z prób. Sygnał chemiluminescencyjny został wykryty przy użyciu systemu obrazowania chemiluminescencyjnego i dokumentacji żelu G-Box Chemi XRQ (Syngen, Polska). Wyniki blottingu oceniano dalej poprzez analizę densytometryczną przy użyciu oprogramowania ImageJ w wersji 2.15.0 (https://imagej.net/).

6.6 Analiza śmierci komórkowej metodą kometową oraz cytofluorymetryczną

Śmierć komórkową oceniono pośrednio poprzez pomiar poziomu białek związanych ze szklakami apoptotycznymi. W tym celu wykorzystano metodę kometową, cytometrii przepływowej oraz (*dane nieopublikowane*).

Analiza cytometryczna komórek OvBH-1 polegała na dodaniu do komórek barwników SYTOX oraz APC połączonego z Aneksyną V po upływie 6 oraz 24 godz. od ich uprzedniej ekspozycji na elektroporację z jonami wapnia (leczenie wykonano wg. protokołu opisanego w podrozdziale 6.2). Komórki oderwano od naczynia hodowlanego przy użyciu odczynnika TrypLETM (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., USA), odwirowano (3 min., 1500 RPM), a następnie zawieszono w 0,5 ml roztworu PBS zawierającego SYTOX™ Green Nucleic Acid Stain (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) oraz Anneksynę V znakowaną allofikocyjaniną (APC Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit, BioLegend, USA), postępując zgodnie z zaleceniami producentów. Eksperyment został przeprowadzony przy użyciu cytometru BD FACSCantoTM Clinical Flow Cytometry System. Fluorescencja SYTOXTM była wzbudzana za pomocą lasera o długości fali 488 nm i mierzona detektorem 530/30, natomiast fluorescencja APC była wzbudzana za pomocą lasera o długości fali 640 nm i mierzona detektorem 670/30. Badanie przeprowadzono na dwóch grupach komórek OvBH-1 (niepreinkubowanych oraz preinkubowanych przez 24 godz. przed leczeniem, 37°C, 5% CO₂ z 10 µM E₂). Ponadto, kontrolami (CTRL) były próbki niebarwione i barwione, z użyciem tylko jednego z dwóch barwników. Komórki apoptotyczne wykrywano na podstawie ekspresji fosfatydyloseryny na zewnętrznej warstwie błony cytoplazmatycznej, którą oznaczano poprzez wiązanie aneksyny V. Komórki nekrotyczne barwiono odczynnikiem SYTOX, który przenika przez uszkodzoną błonę komórkową i tworzy kompleksy z kwasami nukleinowymi.

Wykonano również pomiar aktywności kaspazy-3 oraz -7, wykorzystując test Caspase-Glo® 3/7 Assay System (Promega, Niemcy). Poddane leczeniu komórki OvBH-1 nasadzono na 96-dołkową płytkę i inkubowano przez czas 4, 8, 12 i 24 godz., po czym do odpowiednich dołków dodano 100 µl Caspase-Glo® 3/7 Reagent i inkubowano zgodnie z zaleceniami producenta przez 1 godz., w temp. pokojowej. Odczyt sygnału luminescencyjnego umożliwił czytnik mikropłytek GloMax® Discover (Promega, USA). Wyniki zostały wyrażone jako procent aktywności kaspazy-3/7 w komórkach w porównaniu do komórek kontrolnych (CTRL) niepoddanych leczeniu.

6.7 Analiza statystyczna

Eksperymenty przeprowadzono w trzech powtórzeniach. Analizę statystyczną wykonano przy użyciu oprogramowania GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software Inc, USA). Dane przedstawiono jako średnia ± SD (odchylenie standardowe) i poddano analizie za pomocą dwuczynnikowej analizy wariancji (ANOVA). Gdy analiza ANOVA wykazała istotny

statystycznie wynik, zastosowano test wielokrotnych porównań Sidaka w celu oceny różnicy. Za istotne statystycznie uznano wartości p < 0,05.

7. Podsumowanie oraz wnioski

Cykl publikacji otwierają badania własne, gdzie porównano wrażliwość ludzkich komórek endometrioidalnego raka jajnika MDAH-2774 na klasyczną chemioterapię oraz elektrochemioterapię z cisplatyną lub chlorkiem wapnia (CaCl₂), który stanowił źródło jonów wapniowych [1]. Na wstępie należy zaznaczyć, iż linia MDAH-2774 wykazuje umiarkowana oporność na konwencjonalną chemioterapię, tj. oparta na cisplatynie. W przypadku obu analizowanych związków, zwiększenie ich transportu poprzez zaaplikowanie zewnętrznego pola elektrycznego pozwoliło obniżyć przeżywalność komórek raka jajnika w porównaniu do cisplatyny oraz CaCl₂ podawanych samodzielnie. Najbardziej efektywny okazał się protokół oparty na impulsach mikrosekundowych (µsEP). Co więcej, preinkubacja komórek z 17β-estradiolem, jaka poprzedzała etap leczniczy uwrażliwiła linię MDAH-2774 na działanie cisplatyny oraz CaCl₂ (**Pub. 1; Fig. 3**). Efekt utrzymywał się również w przypadku 72-godz. inkubacji ze związkami. Preinkubacja skutkowała również zwiększeniem poziomu cytotoksyczności klasycznej elektrochemioterapii oraz jej modyfikacji z jonami wapnia (Ca²⁺). W celu określenia, czy obniżona przeżywalność komórek MDAH-2774 preinkubowanych z 17β-estradiolem jest związana ze zwiększoną syntezą reaktywnych form tlenu (ROS), przeanalizowano ekspresję kaspazy-12 (Pub. 1; Fig. 4). Kaspaza-12 uczestniczy w apoptozie wywołanej stresem siateczki śródplazmatycznej i jest aktywowana w odpowiedzi na czynniki stresowe, takie jak reaktywne formy tlenu oraz wysokie stężenia jonów wapnia 54. Barwienie immunocytochemiczne wykazało wzrost ekspresji kaspazy-12 w komórkach preinkubowanych z estradiolem, przy czym efekt ten był zróżnicowany w zależności od zastosowanego związku chemicznego. W komórkach traktowanych cisplatyną wzrost ten wynosił ok. 10%, niezależnie od stężenia cytostatyku. W przypadku zastosowania CaCl₂ w stężeniu 1 mM liczba komórek z ekspresją kaspazy-12 wzrosła o 45%. Należy zauważyć, że w przypadku zastosowania stężenia jonów wapnia 2,5 mM liczba komórek z obecnościa kaspazy-12 nie zmieniała się na skutek preinkubacji z estradiolem, z uwagi na wysoką ekspresję tego białka niemal u 95% komórek poddanych terapii. Fluorescencyjne barwienie filamentów aktynowych ujawniło wyraźne zmiany morfologiczne w komórkach poddanych elektroporacji mikrosekundowej i nanosekundowej (przy natężeniu pola elektrycznego 50 kV/cm) (Pub. 1; Fig. 5 i 6). W tych próbach zaobserwowano znaczące obkurczenie komórek oraz uszkodzenia cytoszkieletu. Zmiany morfologiczne zostały potwierdzone przy użyciu mikroskopii holotomograficznej (Pub. 1; Fig. 8). W celu przeanalizowania czy wzrost toksyczności badanych rozwiązań terapeutycznych po preinkubacji komórek z estradiolem jest

związany z jego wpływem na strukturę błony komórkowej, komórki były elektroporowane (po uprzedniej preinkubacji) z barwnikiem fluorescencyjnym (Yo-Pro-1TM), którego absorpcja była następnie mierzona za pomocą cytometru przepływowego (**Pub. 1; Fig. 7**). Komórki preinkubowane z estradiolem wykazywały umiarkowanie niższą absorpcję barwnika. Uzyskane wyniki testu cytotoksyczności pozwalają wnioskować, iż mechanizm odpowiadający za spadek aktywności mitochondrialnej w tych komórkach nie wynika ze zmian w przepuszczalności dwuwarstwy lipidowej.

Jak już wcześniej wspomniano, linia komórkowa MDAH-2774 stanowiąca materiał badawczy pierwszej z prac oryginalnych zawartych w niniejszym cyklu **[1]** charakteryzuje się nieznaczną opornością wobec standardowej chemioterapii opartej na cisplatynie. Inaczej jest w przypadku linii OvBH-1, dla której efekt cytotoksyczny leku jest już obserwowany przy stężeniu 10 µM po 24-godzinnej inkubacji (**Fig. 3**; *dane nieopublikowane*).



Figura 3. Przeżywalność linii komórkowej OvBH-1 podczas 24- oraz 72-godzinnej inkubacji na wzrastające stężenia cisplatyny. Eksperyment został przeprowadzony na dwóch grupach komórek, tj. nie- i preinkubowanych z 17β-estradiolem 24 godz. przed chemioterapią; Uwagi: (średnia ± SD) N = 3, *p< 0.05, **p< 0.01, ***p< 0.001, ****p< 0.0001 w przyrównaniu do kontroli (CTRL, 0 µM); #p< 0.05, ##p< 0.01, ####p< 0.001, ####p< 0.001 w przyrównaniu wyników pomiędzy grupami komórek; *dane nieopublikowane*.

Może to być spowodowane różnicami w ich patofizjologii oraz patogenezie. MDAH-2774 to linia komórek endometrioidalnego raka jajnika (EOC) ⁵⁵, natomiast linia OvBH-1 to komórki wyprowadzone od pacjentki ze zdiagnozowanym jasnokomórkowym rakiem jajnika (*szerzej opisane w sekcji "Materiały i metody"*). Oba typy histologiczne raka jajnika są powszechne wśród kobiet ze zdiagnozowaną endometriozą ⁵⁶. Jednakże posiadają odrębne cechy kliniczno-patologiczne i fenotypy molekularne. Charakterystyczne dla endometrioidalnego raka jajnika

są mutacje w genach *CTNNB1* (30-50%), *ARID1A* (~30%), *PIK3CA* (15-40%), *KRAS* (12-33%), *PTEN* (~20%) oraz *TP53* (6-24%) ^{57,58}. W porównaniu do innych typów raka jajnika, w endometrioidalnym raku jajnika rzadziej występują mutacje w genach *BRCA1/2*. EOC są przeważnie dodatnie wobec ekspresji receptorów estrogenowych, podczas gdy jasnokomórkowy rak jajnika zazwyczaj wykazuje niższy poziom ich ekspresji. EOC charakteryzuje się zazwyczaj lepszymi rokowaniami niż inne podtypy raka jajnika, szczególnie jeśli jest zdiagnozowany we wczesnym stadium.

Jasnokomórkowy rak jajnika (ang. *clear cel ovarian carcinoma; CCOC*) charakteryzuje się mniejszą częstością występowania. Jest za to bardziej agresywny i wiąże się ze zmniejszoną częstością odpowiedzi na chemioterapię opartą na platynie i gorszym rokowaniem, zwłaszcza w zaawansowanym stadium ^{57,59}. Co zaskakujące, dodatkowo wykonane eksperymenty wskazują na stosunkowo wysoką wrażliwość komórek OvBH-1 na chemioterapię (**Fig. 3**; *dane nieopublikowane*). Wśród najczęściej identyfikowanych mutacji w CCOC znajdują się mutacje genów *ARID1A* (47-57%), *PIK3CA* (30-60%), *PPP2R1A* (7-16%), *CTNNB1* (31-53.3%) ^{57,58}. Z uwagi na swoją agresywność i skłonność do szybkiego rozwoju, jasnokomórkowy rak jajnika często jest diagnozowany w bardziej zaawansowanych stadiach i wiąże się z gorszym rokowaniem. Biorąc to pod uwagę, powyższy model komórek również włączono do cyklu prowadzonych badań. Otrzymane wyniki nie zostały dotychczas opublikowane, jednakże włączono je do niniejszej pracy.

W kolejnym etapie prac wykonywanych w ramach niniejszej rozprawy doktorskiej podjęto próbę odpowiedzi na pytanie, czy dodatek zewnętrznych impulsów elektrycznych zwiększy efektywność cisplatyny oraz czy elektroporacja z jonami wapnia okaże się być bardziej efektywna w porównaniu do standardowej chemioterapii i elektrochemioterapii również w linii komórkowej jasnokomórkowego raka jajnika (model OvBH-1). Co więcej, podobnie jak w eksperymentach z udziałem linii MDAH-2274, podjęto próbę oceny roli 17β-estradiolu jako czynnika wspierającego badane terapie. Dodatkowo, przeanalizowano skutki biologiczne, jakie wywołają proponowane rozwiązania terapeutyczne na komórki prawidłowe nabłonka jajnika (tj. chomicza linia komórkowa CHO-K1).

Podobnie jak to miało miejsce w przypadku linii endometroidalnego raka jajnika, również tutaj obserwowano ewentualną wspierającą rolę preinkubacji z estradiolem leczenia cisplatyną (**Fig. 3 i 4**; *dane nieopublikowane*). Połączenie standardowego chemioterapeutyka z zewnętrznym polem elektrycznym w dużej mierze zwiększyło jego toksyczność wobec komórek OvBH-1 (**Fig. 4**; *dane nieopublikowane*).



Figura 4. Analiza przeżywalności komórek CHO-K1 (**a-c** i **g-i**) oraz OvBH-1 (**d-f** i **j-l**) przeprowadzona za pomocą testu MTT (**a-f**) 24 godziny oraz (**g-l**) 72 godziny po ekspozycji na różne protokoły elektroporacji. Eksperyment przeprowadzono na dwóch grupach komórek (nieinkubowanych przez 24 godziny z 10 μ M E₂) z każdej linii komórkowej; Uwagi: (średnia ± SD) N = 3, **p* < 0,05, ** *p* < 0,01, **** *p* < 0,001 w przyrównaniu do kontroli (CTRL); #*p* < 0,05, ## *p* < 0,001, #### *p* < 0,001 w przyrównaniu między grupami; *dane nieopublikowane*.

Warto zaznaczyć, że zastosowanie samych impulsów elektrycznym zaburzyło żywotności komórek (**Fig. 4**; *dane nieopublikowane*). W przypadku komórek linii OvBH-1 odsetek przeżywalności po ekspozycji na impulsy elektryczne wynosił odpowiednio 86,27% po 24 godzinach oraz 79,5% po 72 godzinach od zakończenia terapii. W grupie komórek poddanych wcześniejszej preinkubacji z E₂ wartości te wynosiły odpowiednio 88% i 84%. Natomiast analiza za pomocą testu MTT wykazała żywotność komórek CHO-K1 na poziomie 83,5% po 24 godzinach oraz 86,67% po 72 godzinach. W przypadku preinkubacji z E₂ wartości te wynosiły 72,16% po 24 godzinach oraz 89,5% po 72 godzinach.

Elektroporacja z jonami wapnia okazała się być bardziej toksyczna wobec komórek nowotworowych, w porównaniu do standardowej chemioterapii oraz elektrochemioterapii z cisplatyną. Preinkubacja materiału badawczego z estradiolem uwrażliwiła komórki na działanie chlorku wapnia i cisplatyny podawanych pojedynczo oraz w połączeniu z elektroporacją (**Fig. 3 i 4**; *danie nieopublikowane*). Ciekawym jest fakt, że efekt ten został zniesiony po 72 godz. od leczenia, co niezaprzeczalnie wymaga dalszych badań i głębszej analizy. Co ważne, w przypadku obu linii komórkowych, podobnie jak we wcześniejszych eksperymentach z udziałem komórek MDAH-2774, poziom wychwytu barwnika Yo-Pro-1TM potwierdził, iż działanie estrogenu nie wpływa na stopień przepuszczalności błony komórkowej (**Fig. 5**; *danie nieopublikowane*).



Figura 5. Wychwyt fluorescencyjnego barwnika Yo-Pro-1TM, reprezentujące poziom permeabilizacji błony komórkowej dla linii komórkowych (a) OvBH-1 i (b) CHO-K1, zmierzone za pomocą cytometru przepływowego; Uwagi: (średnia \pm SD) N = 3, *p < 0.05 w porównaniu między intensywnościami pola elektrycznego; *dane nieopublikowane*.

Dzięki zastosowaniu mikroskopii konfokalnej odnotowano liczne zmiany w strukturze F-aktyny po zastosowanych terapiach (**Fig. 6**; *dane nieopublikowane*). Mianowicie, komórki eksponowane na CaEP wykazały zaburzenie lamellipodiów i włókien stresowych, połączone z akumulacją cytoszkieletu w centralnej części komórki. Zniszczenia były nasilone w grupie komórek poddanych wcześniej preinkubacji z E₂. Porównując obrazy uzyskane w 6 i 72 godz. po leczeniu można odnotować delikatną tendencję do rekonstrukcji cytoszkieletu, jednak jego ukształtowanie w trzeciej dobie po terapii nadal pozostaje w znacznym stopniu zaburzone.



Figura 6. Organizacja F-aktyny w komórkach CHO-K1 (**a**, **b**) i OvBH-1 (**c**, **d**). Komórki po ekspozycji na terapie zostały nasadzone na szkiełka nakrywkowe, a po 6 (**a**, **b**) oraz 72 (**c**, **d**) godzinach po ekspozycji na różne lecznicze utrwalone za pomocą 4% formaldehydu. Komórki zostały oznakowane w celu wizualizacji jąder (**niebieski**) oraz F-aktyny (**czerwony**). Strzałki wskazują: **zielone** – lamellipodia, **białe** – włókna stresowe. Skala – 20 μm; *dane nieopublikowane*.

W przypadku komórek prawidłowych, przeprowadzone testy przeżywalności wykazały podobny stopień toksyczności CaEP w porównaniu do elektrochemioterapii z cisplatyną (**Fig. 4**; *dane nieopublikowane*). Jednakże, zestawiając wyniki uzyskane po 24 i 72 godz. można zauważyć, iż komórki są w stanie przetrwać chwilowe zaburzenie homeostazy, powrócić do stanu pierwotnego i nadal się dzielić, co obrazuje wzrost przeżywalności pomiędzy tymi czasami. Co więcej, obrazy uzyskane dzięki mikroskopii konfokalnej, gdzie dokonano barwienia F-aktyny, ukazują rekonstrukcję lamellipodiów w komórkach CHO-K1 w czasie 72 godz. po CaEP (**Fig. 6**; *dane nieopublikowane*). Analizując potencjalne działanie wspierające toksyczność leczenia przez 17-βestradiol, zaobserwowano, iż komórki prawidłowe inkubowane wcześniej z estrogenem były mniej podatne na działanie chlorku wapnia (CaCl₂) i cisplatyny podawanych osobno. Badając terapie połączone z zewnętrznym polem elektrycznym nie odnotowano efektu wspierającego toksyczność leczenia przez estrogen, co popiera wcześniejsze obserwacje.



Figura 7. (a) Detekcja metodą Western-Blot kaspazy-1/ -3/ -8/ -12 w komórkach OvBH-1, 24 godziny po leczeniu CaEP; (b) względna ekspresja białek; β -aktyna została użyta jako kontrola załadunku; *dane nieopublikowane*.

Biorąc pod uwagę wcześniejsze wyniki, ujawniające wzrost ekspresji kaspazy-12 po ekspozycji komórek MDAH-2774 na 2,5 mM CaCl₂, oraz brak w dostępnej literaturze informacji na temat alternatywnych szlaków śmierci komórkowej jako następstw CaEP, na tym etapie prac badawczych, wzięto pod uwagę również ten aspekt badawczy. Rzeczywiście, inkubacja komórek OvBH-1 z CaCl₂ również skutkowała wzrostem poziomu kaspazy-12, jednakże efekt ten został zniwelowany zarówno po dołączeniu impulsów elektrycznych, jak również w przypadku grupy komórek poddanych wcześniej preinkubacji z estradiolem (**Fig. 7**;

dane nieopublikowane). Wzrost poziomu kaspazy-8 został odnotowany w grupie komórek wcześniej preinkubowanych z 10 μM E₂, jednakże wśród tej grupy komórek jego najniższa ekspresja została zaobserwowana po leczeniu CaEP. W komórkach wcześniej niepreinkubowanych z estradiolem, wzrost poziomu tego białka zaobserwowano po aplikacji impulsów elektrycznych 1,0 kV/cm. W przypadku kaspazy-1 oraz -3, biorąc pod uwagę analizę densytometryczną otrzymanych wyników, nie odnotowano wzrostu względnego poziomu ich ekspresji ponad poziom komórek kontrolnych (tj. nieleczonych; CTRL).



Figura 8. Procentowy rozkład apoptozy i nekrozy w komórkach OvBH-1 analizowana za pomocą pomiaru fluorescencji barwników SYTOXTM Green i APC-Annexin V. Barwienie przeprowadzono 6 i 24 godziny po dostarczeniu impulsów elektrycznych (PEFs). (**a**, **b**) reprezentatywne histogramy ukazujące rozkład zdrowych, wczesnych apoptotycznych, późnych apoptotycznych oraz nekrotycznych komórek po leczeniu; fluorescencja SYTOXTM Green — wysokość rozproszenia w przód; fluorescencja APC—Annexin V — wysokość rozproszenia w bok; (**c**) reprezentatywne histogramy z analizy cytometrii przepływowej 24 godziny po leczeniu; *dane nieopublikowane*.

Analizując wyniki otrzymane z użyciem techniki Western Blot (**Fig. 7**; *dane nieopublikowane*), cytometrii przepływowej (**Fig. 8**; *dane nieopublikowane*), oraz testu luminescencyjnego (**Fig. 9**; *dane nieopublikowane*), wysunięto wniosek, iż nekroza jest głównym szlakiem śmierci obieranym przez komórki w następstwie ich ekspozycji na elektroporację z jonami wapnia. Pomiar metodą cytometrii przepływowej wykazał znaczący wzrost sygnału emitowanego przez barwnik SYTOXTM-Green, 6 godz. po leczeniu.

Dodatkowo, analiza luminescencyjna aktywności kaspazy-3 oraz -7 powiązanych z procesem apoptozy wykazała spadek ich aktywności 4 godz. po zastosowaniu terapii (**Fig. 9**; *dane nieopublikowane*), co można tłumaczyć gwałtowną redukcją ilości komórek w wyniku

nekrozy. Efekt utrzymywał się w czasie. Odnotowano również spadek poziomu kaspazy-1, która łączona jest z procesem pyroptozy⁶⁰.



Figura 9. Pomiar aktywacji kaspazy 3/7 po ekspozycji na EP i CaEP. Uwagi: (średnia \pm SD) N = 2, *p < 0,05, **p < 0,01, ****p < 0,001, ****p < 0,0001 w porównaniu do kontroli (CTRL); *dane nieopublikowane*.

Co ciekawe, interpretacja zdjęć otrzymanych dzięki mikroskopii holotomograficznej ujawniła istnienie pęcherzykowatych wypukłości na powierzchni błony komórkowej 24 godz. po elektroporacji z jonami wapnia, tzw. blebbing (**Fig. 10**; *dane nieopublikowane*). Fakt ten może wskazywać na obecność alternatywnych ścieżek śmierci komórkowej, jednak dostępna literatura odnotowuje również taką morfologię komórek w trakcie procesu nekrozy. Biorąc to pod uwagę, trudno jednoznacznie wskazać dominujący rodzaj śmierci komórkowej, powstałej w wyniku zastosowania CaEP, a problem wymaga dalszych badań i dokładniejszej analizy z uwzględnieniem krótszych punktów czasowych.



Figura 10. Wizualizacja morfologii komórek OvBH-1 za pomocą mikroskopii holotomograficznej (HTM) (a) 24 godziny po leczeniu, jądra zostały wybarwione fluorescencyjnym barwnikiem Hoechst 33342; (b, c, d) inne przykłady komórek obrazowanych 24 godziny po terapiach; strzałki wskazują: zielone – wakuole, czerwone – krople lipidowe, białe – blebbing. Skala – 20 μm; *dane nieopublikowane.*

Druga z prac oryginalnych wchodzących w skład niniejszego cyklu publikacji obejmuje analizę wpływu symetryczności oraz obecności interwałów między impulsami w protokołach elektroporacji bipolarnej (BP EP) na obecność efektu *bipolar cancellation* [2]. Impulsy asymetryczne otwierają zupełnie nowy rozdział w zakresie elektrochemioterapii. Do tej pory jest niewiele badań dotyczących przeciwnowotworowego działania takich protokołów. Jako model badawczy wykorzystano ludzką linię jasnokomórkowego raka jajnika (OvBH-1). Przeprowadzone analizy przeżywalności komórek oraz absorpcji barwnika Yo-Pro-1TM pozwoliły ustalić, iż w przypadku protokołów elektroporacji opartych na impulsach nanosekundowych uszkodzenie błony komórkowej wywołane zastosowaniem ↑600 nsEP może zostać zredukowane przez kolejny impuls o tej samej amplitudzie i czasie trwania, ale o przeciwnej polaryzacji, tj. \uparrow 600 ns + \downarrow 600 ns (**Pub. 2; Fig. 2 i 4**). Jednocześnie, zastosowanie nanosekundowych symetrycznych protokołów bipolarnych skutkowało wyraźnym spadkiem wychwytu barwnika Yo-Pro-1TM przez komórki OvBH-1 w porównaniu do wartości uzyskanych dla protokołu unipolarnego (\uparrow 600 nsEP). Co więcej, mikroskopia konfokalna ujawniła, iż oba rozwiązania skutkują zmianami w morfologii komórek raka jajnika, jednak są one mniejsze przy zastosowaniu protokołu \uparrow 600 ns (**Pub. 2; Fig. 5 i 6**). Wyniki te wskazują na obecność efektu *bipolar cancellation* w tym przypadku oraz potwierdzają jego unikalność dla protokołów angażujących impulsy nanosekundowe. Stwierdzenie to poparły również analizy zawarte w niniejszej pracy z udziałem uni- oraz bipolarnych protokołów symetrycznych, jednakże składających się z impulsów mikrosekundowych.

Rozpatrując wpływ symetryczności protokołu oraz wprowadzenia interwałów pomiędzy impulsami na obecność i intensywność efektu *bipolar cancellation*, dotychczasowe doniesienia podkreślały, iż aplikacja negatywnego impulsu o dłuższym czasie trwania skutkuje redukcją, bądź całkowitą eliminacją zjawiska ^{61,62}. Jednakże prace te obejmowały analizę jedynie impulsów nanosekundowych. Biorąc pod uwagę powyższe, w przytaczanej pracy stworzono protokoły bipolarne składające się z nanosekundowego impulsu dodatniego oraz następującego po nim negatywnego impulsu o długości czasu trwania 10 µs (\uparrow 600 ns + \downarrow 10 µs) (**Pub. 2; Fig. 7**). Otrzymane wyniki doprowadziły do konkluzji, iż efekt *bipolar cancellation* jest obecny w przypadku takiego protokołu, jednakże jest on znacząco słabszy niż przy zastosowaniu symetrycznego protokołu nanosekundowego (\uparrow 600 ns + \downarrow 600 ns) (**Pub. 2; Fig. 2 i 4**). Ponadto, wprowadzenie interwałów 1 lub 10 µs pomiędzy impulsami o przeciwnej polaryzacji nie wpłynęło znacząco na to zjawisko.

W aspekcie efektywności elektroporacji komórek OvBH-1 z jonami wapnia, zastosowanie impulsów nanosekundowych (uni- oraz bipolarnych) skutkowało mniejszą toksycznością, w porównaniu do protokołów z wykorzystaniem impulsów mikrosekundowych, co pokrywa się z wynikami osiągniętymi w publikacji [1], stanowiącej część niniejszego cyklu (Pub. 2; Fig. 4). Co więcej, asymetryczność protokołu pozwoliła osiągnąć podobne wartości przeżywalności komórek OvBH-1 jak protokół wzorowany na wytycznych ESOPE (tj. 100 µs; 1,2 kV/cm). Wprowadzenie dodatkowych interwałów pomiędzy impulsami nie miało istotnego wpływu na te wartości. Najsilniejszy efekt toksyczny wobec komórek raka

jajnika odnotowano dla symetrycznego protokołu bipolarnego opartego o impulsy mikrosekundowe.

Przeprowadzone badania dostarczają **nowych danych** na temat interakcji między impulsami o różnych polaryzacjach i czasach trwania, co może być wykorzystane do przyszłej optymalizacji protokołów elektrochemioterapii, szczególnie w kontekście leczenia nowotworów złośliwych.

Podsumowując, w wyniku przeprowadzonych badań wysunięto następujące wnioski:

- Elektrochemioterapia: Zastosowanie zewnętrznego impulsowego pola elektrycznego w połączeniu z konwencjonalną chemioterapią zwiększa lokalne stężenie leku w komórkach raka jajnika, co prowadzi do 20-70% spadku przeżywalności komórek w porównaniu do samej chemioterapii. Elektrochemioterapia, zarówno z cisplatyną, jak i z jonami wapnia, wykazuje antynowotworową aktywność wobec komórek raka jajnika, zarówno tych opornych, jak i podatnych na tradycyjną chemioterapię
- Elektroporacja z jonami wapnia: Otrzymane w ramach rozprawy wyniki wskazują, że jest to najbardziej obiecująca metoda leczenia, łącząca wysoką skuteczność w zwalczaniu komórek raka jajnika z relatywnie niską toksycznością wobec komórek prawidłowych, co czyni ją atrakcyjną opcją terapeutyczną.
- Impulsy bipolarne: W badaniach wykazano, że jeden impuls unipolarny może zostać "anulowany" przez drugi impuls o odwrotnej polaryzacji, co określono jako zjawisko bipolarnego anulowania (BPC). Badania wykazały, że opóźnienia między-impulsowe (1 i 10 μs) wpływają na zjawisko BPC, co sugeruje możliwość kontrolowania tego efektu poprzez modyfikację parametrów impulsów. Zjawisko BPC wpływa na skuteczność elektrochemioterapii z jonami wapnia, redukując permeabilizację błony komórkowej oraz przeżywalność komórek po terapii.
- Rola 17β-estradiolu: Może pełnić kluczową rolę jako czynnik uwrażliwiający komórki nowotworowe na terapie oparte na elektroporacji, co otwiera nowe możliwości w projektowaniu terapii skojarzonych.
W ramach cyklu publikacji dokonano również przeglądu aktualnego stanu wiedzy dot. efektywności terapii opartych na zjawisku elektroporacji (tj. ECT, CaEP, IRE itp.) w przypadku nowotworów ginekologicznych i nowotworu piersi **[3]**. W pracy przedstawiono krótkie charakterystyki każdej z omawianych metod leczniczych, ich korzyści oraz skutki uboczne. Zwrócono uwagę na znikomą ilość badań dot. stosowania elektrochemioterapii i jej pochodnych jako potencjalnej terapii raka jajnika. Biorąc pod uwagę stale rosnącą liczbę diagnozowanych przypadków oraz słabe prognozy związane z tych schorzeniem, poszukiwanie coraz to nowych rozwiązań terapeutycznych stanowi naglącą potrzebę. Autorzy publikacji dostrzegli także fakt, iż standardowa chemioterapia stymuluje pobudliwe tkanki i nerwy, powodując ból i skurcze mięśni ⁶³ oraz nadzieję w ograniczeniu tych efektów ubocznych poprzez zastosowanie protokołów opartych na impulsach nanosekundowych.

8. Piśmiennictwo

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2021;71(3):209-249. doi:10.3322/caac.21660
- Didkowska JA, Wojciechowska U, Barańska K, Miklewska M, Michałek I, Paweł O. Nowotwory Złośliwe w Polsce w 2021 Roku.; 2023.
- 3. Huang Z, Yan H, Chavan D, et al. Effective treatment of a patient with stage IV ovarian cancer: A case report. *Oncol Lett.* 2018;15(1):588-591. doi:10.3892/ol.2017.7285
- Saczko J, Pilat J, Choromanska A, et al. The effectiveness of chemotherapy and electrochemotherapy on ovarian cell lines in vitro. *Neoplasma*. 2016;63(3):450-455. doi:10.4149/315_150930N510
- Basta P, Bidziński M, Bieńkiewicz A, et al. Rekomendacje Polskiego Towarzystwa Ginekologii Onkologicznej Dotyczące Diagnostyki i Leczenia Raka Jajnika. Vol 12.; 2015. doi:10.15557/CGO.2014.0003
- Ledermann JA, Raja FA, Fotopoulou C, Gonzalez-Martin A, Colombo N, Sessa C. Newly diagnosed and relapsed epithelial ovarian carcinoma: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol.* 2013;24(SUPPL.6):vi24vi32. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdt333
- Cress RD, Chen YS, Morris CR, Petersen M, Leiserowitz GS. Characteristics of longterm survivors of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2015;126(3):491-497. doi:10.1097/AOG.00000000000981
- McCluggage WG, Singh N, Gilks CB. Key changes to the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of female genital tumours introduced in the 5th edition (2020). *Histopathology*. 2022;80(5):762-778. doi:10.1111/his.14609
- 9. Shih IM, Wang Y, Wang TL. The Origin of Ovarian Cancer Species and Precancerous Landscape. *Am J Pathol*. 2021;191(1):26. doi: 10.1016/J.AJPATH.2020.09.006
- Webb PM, Jordan SJ. Epidemiology of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Best Pract Res Clin* Obstet Gynaecol. 2017; 41:3-14. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2016.08.006
- Vrtačnik P, Ostanek B, Mencej-Bedrač S, Marc J. The many faces of estrogen signaling. Biochem Medica. 2014;24(3):329-342. doi:10.11613/BM.2014.035

- Fuentes N, Silveyra P. Estrogen receptor signaling mechanisms. In: Advances in Protein Chemistry and Structural Biology. Vol 116. Academic Press Inc.; 2019:135-170. doi: 10.1016/bs.apcsb.2019.01.001
- Williamson LM, Lees-Miller SP. Estrogen receptor α-mediated transcription induces cell cycle-dependent DNA double-strand breaks. *Carcinogenesis*. 2011;32(3):279-285. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgq255
- 14. Caldon CE. Estrogen signaling and the dna damage response in hormone dependent breast cancers. *Front Oncol.* 2014;4 MAY(May):1-9. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00106
- Halazonetis TD, Gorgoulis VG, Bartek J. An oncogene-induced DNA damage model for cancer development. *Science* (80-). 2008;319(5868):1352-1355. doi:10.1126/science.1140735
- Song RXD, Mor G, Naftolin F, et al. Effect of long-term estrogen deprivation on apoptotic responses of breast cancer cells to 17β-estradiol. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2001;93(22):1714-1723. doi:10.1093/jnci/93.22.1714
- Coelingh Bennink HJT, Verhoeven C, Dutman AE, Thijssen J. The use of high-dose estrogens for the treatment of breast cancer. *Maturitas*. 2017; 95:11-23. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2016.10.010
- Restrepo-Angulo I, Bañuelos C, Camacho J. Ion Channel Regulation by Sex Steroid Hormones and Vitamin D in Cancer: A Potential Opportunity for Cancer Diagnosis and Therapy. *Front Pharmacol.* 2020;11(February):1-13. doi:10.3389/fphar.2020.00152
- Ji Y, Han Z, Shao L, Zhao Y. Ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction of calcium channel subunit α 1D siRNA inhibits breast cancer via G protein-coupled receptor 30. *Oncol Rep.* 2016;36(4):1886-1892. doi:10.3892/or.2016.5031
- Feng Y, Wang B, Du F, et al. The involvement of PI3K-mediated and L-VGCC-gated transient Ca2+ influx in 17β-estradiol-mediated protection of retinal cells from H 2O2induced apoptosis with Ca2+ overload. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(11):1-12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077218
- Mir LM, Orlowski S, Belehradek J, Paoletti C. Electrochemotherapy potentiation of antitumour effect of bleomycin by local electric pulses. *Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol*. 1991;27(1):68-72. doi:10.1016/0277-5379(91)90064-K

- 22. Weaver JC, Chizmadzhev YA. Theory of electroporation: A review. *Bioelectrochemistry Bioenerg*. 1996;41(2):135-160. doi:10.1016/S0302-4598(96)05062-3
- Kotnik T, Rems L, Tarek M, Miklavcic D. Membrane Electroporation and Electropermeabilization: Mechanisms and Models. *Annu Rev Biophys.* 2019; 48:63-91. doi:10.1146/annurev-biophys-052118-115451
- 24. Freeman SA, Wang MA, Weaver JC. Theory of electroporation of planar bilayer membranes: predictions of the aqueous area, change in capacitance, and pore-pore separation. *Biophys J.* 1994;67(1):42-56. doi:10.1016/S0006-3495(94)80453-9
- Kotnik T, Pucihar G, Miklavčič D. Induced transmembrane voltage and its correlation with electroporation- mediated molecular transport. *J Membr Biol*. 2010;236(1):3-13. doi:10.1007/s00232-010-9279-9
- Teissié J, Rols MP. An experimental evaluation of the critical potential difference inducing cell membrane electropermeabilization. *Biophys J.* 1993;65(1):409-413. doi:10.1016/S0006-3495(93)81052-X
- Aguilar AA, Ho MC, Chang E, et al. Permeabilizing cell membranes with electric fields. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2021;13(9):1-19. doi:10.3390/cancers13092283
- Davalos R V., Mir LM, Rubinsky B. Tissue ablation with irreversible electroporation. Ann Biomed Eng. 2005;33(2):223-231. doi:10.1007/s10439-005-8981-8
- Probst U, Fuhrmann I, Beyer L, Wiggermann P. Electrochemotherapy as a new modality in interventional oncology: A review. *Technol Cancer Res Treat*. 2018; 17:1-12. doi:10.1177/1533033818785329
- Titomirov A V., Sukharev S, Kistanova E. In vivo electroporation and stable transformation of skin cells of newborn mice by plasmid DNA. *BBA - Gene Struct Expr*. 1991;1088(1):131-134. doi:10.1016/0167-4781(91)90162-F
- Tekle E, Astumian RD, Chock PB. Electroporation by using bipolar oscillating electric field: An improved method for DNA transfection of NIH 3T3 cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1991;88(10):4230-4234. doi:10.1073/pnas.88.10.4230
- Kotnik T, Miklavčič D, Mir LM. Cell membrane electropermeabilization by symmetrical bipolar rectangular pulses. *Bioelectrochemistry*. 2001;54(1):91-95. doi:10.1016/s1567-5394(01)00115-3

- Pakhomov AG, Semenov I, Xiao S, et al. Cancellation of cellular responses to nanoelectroporation by reversing the stimulus polarity. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2014;71(22):4431-4441. doi:10.1007/s00018-014-1626-z
- 34. Gehl J, Sersa G, Garbay J, et al. Results of the ESOPE (European Standard Operating Procedures on Electrochemotherapy) study: Efficient, highly tolerable and simple palliative treatment of cutaneous and subcutaneous metastases from cancers of any histology. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(18). doi: 10.1200/jco.2006.24.18_suppl.8047
- 35. Mir LM, Gehl J, Sersa G, et al. Standard operating procedures of the electrochemotherapy: Instructions for the use of bleomycin or cisplatin administered either systemically or locally and electric pulses delivered by the CliniporatorTM by means of invasive or non-invasive electrodes. *Eur J Cancer, Suppl.* 2006;4(11):14-25. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcsup.2006.08.003
- Mali B, Jarm T, Snoj M, Sersa G, Miklavcic D. Antitumor effectiveness of electrochemotherapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 2013;39(1):4-16. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2012.08.016
- Novickij V, Malyško V, Želvys A, et al. Electrochemotherapy using doxorubicin and nanosecond electric field pulses: A pilot in vivo study. *Molecules*. 2020;25(20). doi:10.3390/molecules25204601
- Gothelf A, Mir LM, Gehl J. Electrochemotherapy: Results of cancer treatment using enhanced delivery of bleomycin by electroporation. *Cancer Treat Rev.* 2003;29(5):371-387. doi:10.1016/S0305-7372(03)00073-2
- Scuderi M, Dermol-Cern J, Scancar J, Markovic S, Rems L, Miklavcic D. The equivalence of different types of electric pulses for electrochemotherapy with cisplatin -An in vitro study. *Radiol Oncol.* 2024;58(1):51-66. doi:10.2478/raon-2024-0005
- Jaroszeski MJ, Dang V, Pottinger C, Hickey J, Gilbert R, Heller R. Toxicity of anticancer agents mediated by electroporation in vitro. *Anticancer Drugs*. 2000;11(3):201-208. doi:10.1097/00001813-200003000-00008
- Serša G, Štabuc B, Čemažar M, Miklavčič D, Rudolf Z. Electrochemotherapy with cisplatin: Clinical experience in malignant melanoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res*. 2000;6(3):863-867.

- Todorovic V, Sersa G, Flisar K, Cemazar M. Enhanced cytotoxicity of bleomycin and cisplatin after electroporation in murine colorectal carcinoma cells. *Radiol Oncol.* 2009;43(4):264-273. doi:10.2478/v10019-009-0037-5
- Frandsen SK, Gissel H, Hojman P, Tramm T, Eriksen J, Gehl J. Direct therapeutic applications of calcium electroporation to effectively induce tumor necrosis. *Cancer Res.* 2012;72(6):1336-1341. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3782
- 44. Navickaitė D, Ruzgys P, Maciulevičius M, Dijk G, O'Connor RP, Šatkauskas S. Ca2+ roles in electroporation-induced changes of cancer cell physiology: From membrane repair to cell death. *Bioelectrochemistry*. 2021;142. doi: 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2021.107927
- 45. Frandsen SK, Vissing M, Gehl J. A comprehensive review of calcium electroporation —
 A novel cancer treatment modality. *Cancers* (*Basel*). 2020;12(2):1-21. doi:10.3390/cancers12020290
- 46. Batista Napotnik T, Polajžer T, Miklavčič D. Cell death due to electroporation A review. *Bioelectrochemistry*. 2021;141. doi: 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2021.107871
- Frandsen SK, Gibot L, Madi M, Gehl J, Rols MP. Calcium electroporation: Evidence for differential effects in normal and malignant cell lines, evaluated in a 3D spheroid model. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(12):1-11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144028
- Szewczyk A, Gehl J, Daczewska M, Saczko J, Frandsen SK, Kulbacka J. Calcium electroporation for treatment of sarcoma in preclinical studies. *Oncotarget*. 2018;9(14):11604-11618. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.24352
- 49. Frandsen SK, Krüger MB, Mangalanathan UM, et al. Normal and malignant cells exhibit differential responses to calcium electroporation. *Cancer Res.* 2017;77(16):4389-4401. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1611
- 50. Vissing M, Ploen J, Pervan M, et al. Study protocol designed to investigate tumour response to calcium electroporation in cancers affecting the skin: A non-randomised phase II clinical trial. *BMJ Open.* 2021;11(6). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2020-046779
- Bar JK, Harlozinska A. Morphological and phenotypic characterization of a new established ovarian carcinoma cell line (OvBH-1). *Anticancer Res.* 2000;20(5A):2975-2980. Accessed February 6, 2022. https://europepmc.org/article/med/11062710

- Bar JK, Haroziska A, Kartarius S, et al. Temperature-sensitive ovarian carcinoma cell line (OvBH-1). *Japanese J Cancer Res.* 2002;93(9):976-985. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2002.tb02473.x
- 53. Marty M, Sersa G, Garbay JR, et al. Electrochemotherapy An easy, highly effective and safe treatment of cutaneous and subcutaneous metastases: Results of ESOPE (European Standard Operating Procedures of Electrochemotherapy) study. *Eur J Cancer*, *Suppl.* 2006;4(11):3-13. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcsup.2006.08.002
- Moon DO. Calcium's Role in Orchestrating Cancer Apoptosis: Mitochondrial-Centric Perspective. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2023;24(10). doi:10.3390/ijms24108982
- 55. Bairoch A. Cellosaurus MDAH 2774 (CVCL_0420). The Cellosaurus, a Cell-Line Knowledge Resource. doi:10.7171/jbt.18-2902-002
- Zhou L, Yao L, Dai L, et al. Ovarian endometrioid carcinoma and clear cell carcinoma: A 21-year retrospective study. *J Ovarian Res.* 2021;14(1):1-12. doi:10.1186/s13048-021-00804-1
- 57. Fadare O, Parkash V. Pathology of Endometrioid and Clear Cell Carcinoma of the Ovary. *Surg Pathol Clin.* 2019;12(2):529-564. doi: 10.1016/j.path.2019.01.009
- Romero I, Leskelä S, Mies BP, Velasco AP, Palacios J. Morphological and molecular heterogeneity of epithelial ovarian cancer: Therapeutic implications. *Eur J Cancer, Suppl.* 2020; 15:1-15. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcsup.2020.02.001
- Liu H, Xu Y, Ji J, Dong R, Qiu H, Dai X. Prognosis of ovarian clear cell cancer compared with other epithelial cancer types: A population-based analysis. *Oncol Lett.* 2020;19(3):1947-1957. doi:10.3892/ol.2020.11252
- Miao EA, Rajan J V., Aderem A. Caspase-1-induced pyroptotic cell death. *Immunol Rev.* 2011;243(1):206-214. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01044.x
- Pakhomov AG, Grigoryev S, Semenov I, Casciola M. The second phase of bipolar, nanosecond-range electric pulses determines the electroporation efficiency. *Bioelectrochemistry*. 2018; 122:123-133.
- Valdez CM, Barnes RA, Roth CC, Moen EK, Throckmorton GA, Ibey BL. Asymmetrical bipolar nanosecond electric pulse widths modify bipolar cancellation. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1):1-12. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-16142-6

63. Polajžer T, Dermol-Černe J, Reberšek M, O'Connor R, Miklavčič D. Cancellation effect is present in high-frequency reversible and irreversible electroporation. *Bioelectrochemistry*. 2020;132. doi: 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2019.107442

9. Spis załączonych w pracy figur

Figura 1. Graficzna prezentacja koncepcji pracy doktorskiej pt. "Wykorzystanie elektroporacji z jonami wapnia oraz estradiolem w leczeniu raka jajnika na modelu in vitro". Zastosowanie impulsywnego pola elektrycznego (1) skutkuje wzrostem stopnia permeabilizacji błony komórkowej (3). Zjawisko to nosi nazwę elektroporacji (EP). Pozwala na podniesienie ilości związków chemioterapeutycznych lub jonów wapnia (Ca^{2+}), jakie są dostarczane do wnętrza komórki (4). Ostatecznym skutkiem jest wzrost cytotoksyczności aplikowanych leków, przy jednoczesnym (w przypadku elektroporacji z jonami wapnia tj. elektroporacji wapniowej, CaEP) zmniejszeniu działań niepożądanych wobec komórek prawidłowych (6). Dodatkowo, ekspozycja komórek nowotworowych na działanie 17β-estradiolu (1a) pozwala uwrażliwić je na działanie stosowanych terapii (2)...... 15 Figura 2. Optymalizacja stężenia 17β-estradiolu dla komórek OvBH-1. Komórki inkubowano we wzrastających stężeniach 17 β -estradiolu przez 24 oraz 72 godziny; Uwagi: (średnia \pm SD) N = 3, *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001, **** p<0.0001 w przyrównaniu do kontroli (CTRL, 0 μM); # p< 0.05, ## p< 0.01, ### p< 0.001, #### p< 0.0001 w przyrównaniu wyników dla poszczególnych stężeń pomiędzy różnymi czasami inkubacji; dane nieopublikowane. 19 Figura 3. Przeżywalność linii komórkowej OvBH-1 podczas 24- oraz 72-godzinnej inkubacji na wzrastające stężenia cisplatyny. Eksperyment został przeprowadzony na dwóch grupach komórek, tj. nie- i preinkubowanych z 17β-estradiolem 24 godz. przed chemioterapią; Uwagi: (średnia \pm SD) N = 3, *p< 0.05, ** p< 0.01, *** p< 0.001, **** p< 0.001 w przyrównaniu do kontroli (CTRL, 0 µM); # p< 0.05, ## p< 0.01, ### p< 0.001, #### p< 0.0001 w przyrównaniu Figura 4. Analiza przeżywalności komórek CHO-K1 (a-c i g-i) oraz OvBH-1 (d-f i j-l) przeprowadzona za pomocą testu MTT (a-f) 24 godziny oraz (g-l) 72 godziny po ekspozycji na

różne protokoły elektroporacji. Eksperyment przeprowadzono na dwóch grupach komórek (nieinkubowanych i inkubowanych przez 24 godziny z 10 μ M E₂) z każdej linii komórkowej; Uwagi: (średnia \pm SD) N = 3, *p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001 w przyrównaniu do kontroli (CTRL); #p < 0,05, ## p < 0,01, ### p < 0,001, #### p < 0,001 w **Figura 5.** Wychwyt fluorescencyjnego barwnika Yo-Pro-1TM, reprezentujace poziom permeabilizacji błony komórkowej dla linii komórkowych (a) OvBH-1 i (b) CHO-K1, zmierzone za pomocą cytometru przepływowego; Uwagi: (średnia \pm SD) N = 3, *p < 0.05 w Figura 6. Organizacja F-aktyny w komórkach CHO-K1 (a, b) i OvBH-1 (c, d). Komórki po ekspozycji na terapie zostały nasadzone na szkiełka nakrywkowe, a po 6 (a, b) oraz 72 (c, d) godzinach po ekspozycji na różne lecznicze utrwalone za pomocą 4% formaldehydu. Komórki zostały oznakowane w celu wizualizacji jąder (niebieski) oraz F-aktyny (czerwony). Strzałki wskazują: zielone – lamellipodia, białe – włókna stresowe. Skala – 20 µm; dane Figura 7. (a) Detekcja metodą Western-Blot kaspazy-1/-3/-8/-12 w komórkach OvBH-1, 24 godziny po leczeniu CaEP; (b) względna ekspresja białek; β-aktyna została użyta jako kontrola Figura 8. Procentowy rozkład apoptozy i nekrozy w komórkach OvBH-1 analizowana za pomocą pomiaru fluorescencji barwników SYTOX™ Green i APC-Annexin V. Barwienie przeprowadzono 6 i 24 godziny po dostarczeniu impulsów elektrycznych (PEFs). (a, b) reprezentatywne histogramy ukazujące rozkład zdrowych, wczesnych apoptotycznych, późnych apoptotycznych oraz nekrotycznych komórek po leczeniu; fluorescencja SYTOXTM Green — wysokość rozproszenia w przód; fluorescencja APC—Annexin V — wysokość

10. Artykuły z cyklu publikacji w formie załączników

Praca 1

<u>Tytuł</u>

"Electrochemotherapy with calcium chloride and 17β-estradiol modulated viability and apoptosis pathway in human ovarian cancer"

Autorzy

Łapińska Zofia, Dębiński Michał, Szewczyk Anna, Choromańska Anna, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta

<u>Czasopismo</u>

Pharmaceutics (2021, vol. 13, nr 1, art.19 [17 s.], DOI:10.3390/pharmaceutics13010019)

<u>Punktacja</u>

Impact Factor: 6,525 MNiSW: 100





Article Electrochemotherapy with Calcium Chloride and 17β-Estradiol Modulated Viability and Apoptosis Pathway in Human Ovarian Cancer

Zofia Łapińska ^{1,*®}, Michał Dębiński ², Anna Szewczyk ^{1,3}, Anna Choromańska ¹®, Julita Kulbacka ¹® and Jolanta Saczko ¹®

- ¹ Department of Molecular and Cellular Biology, Wroclaw Medical University, 50-556 Wroclaw, Poland; anna.szewczyk@umed.wroc.pl (A.S.); anna.choromanska@umed.wroc.pl (A.C.);
- julita.kulbacka@umed.wroc.pl (J.K.); jolanta.saczko@umed.wroc.pl (J.S.) ² Faculty of Pharmacy, Wroclaw Medical University, 50-556 Wroclaw, Poland;
- michal.debinski@student.umed.wroc.pl
- ³ Department of Animal Developmental Biology, Institute of Experimental Biology, University of Wroclaw, 50-328 Wroclaw, Poland
- Correspondence: zofia.lapinska@student.umed.wroc.pl

Abstract: Estrogens (Es) play a significant role in the carcinogenesis and progression of ovarian malignancies. Depending on the concentration, Es may have a protective or toxic effect on cells. Moreover, they can directly or indirectly affect the activity of membrane ion channels. In the presented study, we investigated in vitro the effectiveness of the ovarian cancer cells (MDAH-2774) pre-incubation with 17 β -estradiol (E₂; 10 μ M) in the conventional chemotherapy (CT) and electrochemotherapy (ECT) with cisplatin or calcium chloride. We used three different protocols of electroporation including microseconds (μ sEP) and nanoseconds (nsEP) range. The cytotoxic effect of the applied treatment was examined by the MTT assay. We used fluorescent staining and holotomographic imaging to observe morphological changes. The immunocytochemical staining evaluated the expression of the caspase-12. The electroporation process's effectiveness was analyzed by a flow cytometer using the Yo-ProTM-1 dye absorption assay. We found that pre-incubation of ovarian cancer cells with 17 β estradiol may effectively enhance the chemo- and electrochemotherapy with cisplatin and calcium chloride. At the same time, estradiol reduced the effectiveness of electroporation, which may indicate that the mechanism of increasing the effectiveness of ECT by E₂ is not related to the change of cell membrane permeability.

Keywords: 17β-estradiol; chemotherapy; electrochemotherapy; calcium electroporation; ovarian cancer; MDAH-2774

1. Introduction

Ovarian cancer (OC) is the most common gynecological malignancies associated with the highest number of deaths [1]. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) prophesies that the number of women diagnosed with OC will increase by 47% before 2040 [2]. The poor prognosis and 5-year survival rates of <30% are mainly caused by the fact that nearly 3/4 of women are diagnosed when the disease is stage III or IV FIGO (Féderation Internationale de Gynécologie et d'Obstétrique) [3]. It is attributable to several factors, including vague symptoms, not effective preventative measures, and a lack of definitive screening tools [4,5]. The disease mostly affects women between 50 and 70 years of age, and is rare in young women under 30. The first-line treatment includes primary tumor debulking surgery and six cycles of subsequent chemotherapy (CT) with cisplatin or its derivatives [4]. Around 70% of patients relapse and then do not respond to the standard treatment method [6]. The reason is, cancer cells frequently acquire secondary drug resistance as a result of repeated chemotherapy [7]. The primary drug resistance of



Citation: Łapińska, Z.; Dębiński, M.; Szewczyk, A.; Choromańska, A.; Kulbacka, J.; Saczko, J. Electrochemotherapy with Calcium Chloride and 17β-Estradiol Modulated Viability and Apoptosis Pathway in Human Ovarian Cancer. *Pharmaceutics* 2021, *13*, 19. https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ pharmaceutics13010019

Received: 29 November 2020 Accepted: 22 December 2020 Published: 24 December 2020

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0/). cancer cells also continues to be a problem. Furthermore, because of the many side effects of conventional CT, there is an urgent need to search for new, more effective, and less toxic therapies.

OC belongs to estrogen-dependent malignancies because of hormones and reproductive factors' distinct influence on the disease's pathogenesis and progression [8]. Unfortunately, the exact molecular mechanism of this relationship remains unclear. Mungenast et al. describe that estrogens metabolism disorders may cause the formation of DNA adducts, which, together with free radicals from the metabolic activation to reactive catechol estrogens, are responsible for DNA damage [5].

The predominant intracellular estrogen is 17 β -estradiol (E₂), of which increased production is noted in many OC patients [9]. The biological activity of E₂ is based on binding and interaction with specific receptors, namely, estrogen receptor α (ER α , also known as ER1 or Esr1), estrogen receptor β (ER β , also known as ER2 or Esr2), and G protein-coupled estrogen receptor (GPER1, formerly known as GPR30) [10]. Most of the patients show increased expression of the ER α receptor, in contrast to ER β , decreasing during tumor development [11]. Moreover, compounds that are antagonists of this protein exhibit a strong inhibitory effect on ovarian cells' growth, both healthy and neoplastic cells.

The mechanism of the action of estradiol is divided into genomic and non-genomic. By a non-genomic mechanism, estrogen, through interaction with membrane ERs (mERs), may influence the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), tyrosine kinases, or G proteins, or may modulate the function of ion channels [12,13]. One of the wellknown non-genomic pathways of the estradiol activity is the activation of the G proteincoupled estrogen receptor [14]. Estradiol has the highest affinity for this receptor among all estrogens. After the E_2 binding to the receptor, the G protein is activated. That results in a signaling cascade, leading to the mobilization of calcium ions (Ca²⁺) from the endoplasmic reticulum and the generation of secondary messengers: Inositol triphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG) [12]. Activation of GPER-1 receptor could also, through the increase in the metalloproteinase production, lead to the Heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor (HB-EGF) release. HB-EGF binds to the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR, also known as ErbB-1 or HER1 in humans). This event results in the activation of nuclear receptors responsible for cell proliferation regulation [13–15]. A significant increase in the GPER-1 expression level was noted in ovarian cancer cells [12]. Unfortunately, its role has not been fully understood to date. Researchers point to increased proliferation and invasiveness of GPER-1 positive cells [14].

On the other hand, recent studies show the anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic effect of GPER-1 stimulation, resulting from the arrest in the G2/M-phase of the cell cycle. Estrogens can also directly or indirectly influence membrane ion channels' activity by integrating into the cell membrane [13]. This action may include increasing the frequency and length of time these channels will be open, or vice versa, completely disabling their function. Estrogens can regulate intracellular calcium ion concentration in endothelial and smooth muscle cells by inhibiting L-type calcium channels [16]. They also affect K⁺ ion concentration by opening Ca²⁺ channels and voltage-activated K⁺ channels through cGMP-dependent phosphorylation.

Estrogens (Es), depending on their concentration, can also be a useful therapeutic agent for some carcinomas. For example, its high doses were used for breast cancer treatment, while it is known that estrogens are responsible for stimulating the growth of breast cancer cells [17,18]. This situation has been named an 'estrogen paradox'.

Electroporation (EP) is a technique in which short, high-voltage pulses induce cell membrane permeabilization by creating hydrophilic pores and reorganizing membrane lipids [19]. Depending on the electric field's applied parameters, this process may be reversible in time or irreversible (IRE) [20,21]. Another range of pulses used in the electroporation technique are nanoseconds, where we use terms of a nanosecond pulsed electric field (nsPEF) or nanosecond electroporation (nsEP) [22]. It is based on the use of pulses with a duration below 1 μ s with very high intensity (even up to 100 kV/cm). It was observed that

nanosecond pulses can permeabilize and disrupt not only the outer cell membrane, but also inner membranes [23]. One of the essential features of nsEP is the fact that the death of cells electroporated in this way occurs through apoptosis [24].

The combination of electroporation with standard chemotherapy called electrochemotherapy (ECT) enables the effective delivery of low permeability chemotherapeutic agents to cells [25]. Electroporation facilitates their transmembrane transport and, as a result, increases cytotoxicity [21]. Research was carried out on many chemotherapeutic agents (i.e., paclitaxel, cisplatin, bleomycin, and carboplatin), but only two of these drugs have been identified as potential agents for use with electrochemotherapy and are currently used in clinical practice: Cisplatin and bleomycin [26–29]. The main advantage of ECT is that the doses of drugs needed to achieve a local cytotoxic effect are significantly reduced [30]. The cisplatin toxicity increases almost 80 times in this method, and in the case of bleomycin, it rises to 1000 times. ECT introduces rare side effects; it is easy to perform (the procedure takes about 30 min) and relatively cheap [20,21]. Its development is currently focused on adapting it to the treatment of broader and deeper tumors (e.g., liver, prostate) [20,31]. Unfortunately, to date, little is known about its application in ovarian cancer. In our experiments, we used settings optimized for reversible EP of tumor cells following the European Standard Operating Procedures of ECT (ESOPE) protocol [32].

Calcium electroporation (CaEP) is a new, experimental modification of electrochemotherapy, in which the chemotherapeutic agent is replaced by calcium ions (Ca²⁺) [33,34]. Calcium is a second-order messenger involved in transcription regulation, metabolism, proliferation, and cell death [35]. The concentration of free calcium in the eukaryotic cell is tightly controlled and extremely low (10^{-7} mol/L), in contrast to its concentration in the plasma (10^{-3} mol/L). Even small changes in the permeability of the membrane can significantly increase the concentration of intracellular calcium. To balance the calcium concentration, the cell shows increased Ca²⁺-ATPase activity. High intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration also causes disturbances in the permeability of mitochondrial membranes, loss of electrochemical gradient, and Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase activation. Intensive use of ATP combined with its synthesis inhibition results in a rapid depletion of its reserves and ultimately introduced the cell to the necrosis pathway. Moreover, overloading the cell with Ca²⁺ may induce the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the activation of lipases and proteases.

Apoptosis, also called programmed cell death, is a process by which a cell undergoes genetically regulated suicide death [36]. This process affects damaged or unnecessary cells, and its primary goal is to maintain homeostasis. It can be initiated by several extra- and intracellular factors. Depending on the type of factor, its amount and duration of action, as well as the type of cell, the process of apoptotic or necrotic cell death can be initiated [37]. At low concentrations, cytotoxic compounds may induce apoptosis, while at high concentrations, they will lead to necrosis. Several apoptosis pathways can be distinguished depending on the inducer, including the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress-induced pathway [38]. Inducing factors include disruption of ER homeostasis resulting from an accumulation of misfolded proteins, disturbances in calcium ion (Ca^{2+}) balance, or the activity of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The process is associated with the caspase-12 and c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK1) activity. Procaspase-12, located in the ER membrane, is transformed to caspase-12 in response to stress factors. Then, caspase-3 (activated by caspase-12) initiates the execution phase of apoptosis [37,39].

The available information allows hypothesizing that electroporation may be an effective method against ovarian cancer. Additionally, the controlled concentration of 17β -estradiol may have a protective or toxic effect on the MDAH-2774 ovarian cancer cell line, which expresses estrogen receptors (ERs) [40,41]. The presented research aimed to evaluate the modulating effect of 17β -estradiol on the effectiveness of chemotherapy and electrochemotherapy with the use of cisplatin and calcium chloride in human ovarian cancer.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Cell Culture

The research was carried out on human ovarian endometrioid adenocarcinoma cell line MDAH-2774, purchased from ATCC[®] (Manassas, VA, USA) originating from a patient who did not receive chemotherapy or radiation prior to the collection of cancer cells [42]. Cell culture was maintained at 37 °C, 5% CO₂, 95% air humidity in RPMI-1640 medium (GlutaMAXTM GIBCO; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc., Waltham, MA, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). Cell passages were carried out 2–3 times a week when confluency was about 80–90%. Cells were then removed from the flasks by trypsinization (trypsin 0.25% and EDTA 0.02%; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and washed with DPBS buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, USA).

2.2. Examined Substances

Stock solutions of 17β -estradiol (10 mM) in 96% ethanol and calcium chloride (CaCl₂; 100 mM) in distilled water were performed. The stock solutions were stored at 2–8 °C temperature. The stock solution of cisplatin (1 mM) in distilled water was freshly prepared each time before the experiment due to the low stability of the solution. Subsequently, the proper amount of stock was mixed with RPMI-1640 to achieve the required concentration.

2.3. Cell Viability Assay

The MTT assay determines the viability of the cells following treatment. It evaluates the mitochondrial activity, which functions as a marker of cell viability. Briefly, MDAH-2774 cells were seeded into 96-well microculture plates at 1×10^4 cells/well and incubated with 17 β -estradiol, cisplatin, and CaCl₂ at indicated concentrations and periods. Then, 100 µL/well of the MTT [3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-Diphenyltetrazolium Bromide] reagent (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was added, and cells were incubated 2 h at 37 °C. Formazan crystals were dissolved by adding 100 µL of acidic isopropanol (38% HCl in 99.7% isopropanol). The absorbance value was measured at 570 nm using GloMax[®] Discover multimode microplate reader (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). The experiments were performed in three replicates. The results were expressed as the percentage of viable cells relative to untreated control cells.

2.4. Pulsed Electric Fields (PEF) Treatment

For electroporation, cells were trypsinized, counted, and distributed at 5×10^5 cells/falcon tube (15 mL), then centrifuged (5 min, 1000 rpm, Centrifuge 5430 R, Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany) and resuspended in calcium-depleted medium—SMEM (Spinner's minimum essential medium, Sigma Merck M8167, a highly conductive medium where conductivity = 1.53 S/m) with the addition of selected concentrations of cisplatin (25 μ M) and CaCl₂ (2.5 mM). The experiment was performed in sterile polycarbonate cuvettes with a 4 mm gap between electrodes (BioRad[®], Hercules, CA, USA) by using three pulsing protocols: (1) 1.3 kV/cm × 100 µs × 100 Hz × 8 pulses (ESOPE); (2) 37.5 kV/cm × 10 ns × 1 Hz × 200 pulses; and (3) 50 kV/cm × 10 ns × 1 Hz × 200 pulses. BTX ECM 820 (Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, MA, USA) electric pulse generator delivered microsecond pulses, and PPG-20 generator (FID Technology, Burbach, Germany) 10 ns pulses with time rise of 2 ns. After the pulse delivery, cells were incubated 10 min at 37 °C and then centrifuged (5 min, 1000 rpm). The pellet of cells was suspended in the culture medium. Then, the MTT assay, microscopic, and cytometric analysis were performed.

2.5. Flow Cytometry Study

The efficiency of the electroporation protocols was by assessing the amount of the Yo-ProTM-1 Iodide fluorescent dye absorbed by the cell. Initially, cells were trypsinized and suspended in calcium-depleted electroporation buffer—SMEM (5×10^4 cells/400 µL), and Yo-ProTM-1 Iodide (YP-1, $\lambda_{exc}491/\lambda_{em}509$, Thermo ScientificTM, Warszawa, Poland) was added. Cell suspensions were then transferred to cuvettes and electroporated. Then cells

were washed by DPBS to remove the content of the free dye, gently centrifuged 2 min \times 100 \times g, and suspended in 500 µL of DPBS for measurements in polystyrene FACS tubes, 10⁴ events/sample were measured in triplicate. Flow cytometric analysis was performed by using the CyFlow CUBE-6 flow cytometer (Sysmex, Warszawa, Poland). Data was analyzed using CyView Sofware (Sysmex, Warszawa, Polska).

2.6. Immunocytochemical (ICC) Staining

Immunocytochemical staining semi-quantitatively assessed the expression of caspase-12. Caspase-12 evaluates the induction of apoptosis. Cells were trypsinized and suspended in a culture medium with the addition of $10 \,\mu\text{M} \, 17\beta$ -estradiol so that the number of cells in suspension is equal to 5×10^4 cells/mL RPMI-1640. Cultures were harvested on 12-well PTFE microscopic diagnostic slides (Thermo ScientificTM, Portsmouth, NH, USA) and incubated for 24 h, then exposed to cisplatin and CaCl2 for 24 h at 37 °C and fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min. EXPOSE Mouse and Rabbit Specific HRP/DAB Detection IHC kit (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) was used to execute immunocytochemical staining. After rinsing in PBS (Bishop) (2×10 min), any remnant peroxidase activity was removed by incubation with Hydrogen Peroxide Block for 10 min. Samples were permeabilized by incubation with 1% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) in PBS (Bishop). The overnight exposure to a primary antibody: Rabbit polyclonal IgG (dilution rate: 1:100; SC-5627; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) at 4 °C visualized the expression of caspase-12. Then the secondary antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) was added to samples. The next step was incubation with diaminobenzidine-H2O2 mixture to visualize the HRP label and hematoxylin (Alchem, Toruń, Poland) for 1 min to stain cell nuclei. Slides were dehydrated using ethanol (Chempur, Piekary Śląskie, Poland) gradient (6×5 min) and xylene (Chempur, Poland) (3×5 min) and covered using DPX gel (Aqua-Med Zpam-Kolasa, Łódź, Poland). The upright microscope (Olympus BCX43, Warszawa, Poland) was used to examine the immunocytochemical reaction. The intensity of immunohistochemical staining was evaluated as (-) negative, (+) weak, (++) moderate, or (+++) strong.

2.7. Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (CLSM) Study

Cytoskeleton confocal microscope evaluated modifications in the structure of MDAH-2774 cells. Cells were suspended (5×10^4 cells/mL) in a culture medium, seeded into coverslips placed on a 6-well plate, and incubated for 24 h, 37 °C. Next, selected concentrations of cisplatin and CaCl₂ were added and incubated for 24 h, 37 °C. Then, cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min, raised in PBS (3×5 min), blocked with 1% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) in PBS for 1 h, and permeabilized using 1% Triton X-100 in PBS (3×5 min). After 1 h incubation with a solution of the Alexa FluorTM 546 phalloidin (Life Technologies-Thermo Fisher Scientifi, Waltham, MA, USA) in PBS (dilution rate: 1:300), cells were raised in PBS (3×5 min), then were mounted in a fluorescence mounting medium (FluoromountTM Aqueous Mounting Medium, Sigma-Aldrich, USA). The assessment of changes in the cytoskeleton structure was made based on images taken with Olympus FluoView FV1000 confocal laser scanning microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan).

2.8. Living Cell Tomographic Microscopy

The experiment aimed to evaluate the morphological changes in MDAH-2774 cells after 24 h incubation with cisplatin and CaCl₂, depending on whether or not cells have been incubated with 10 μ M 17 β -estradiol. Firstly, cells were trypsinized and suspended in a culture medium (5 × 10⁴ cells/mL). Suspensions of cells were then seeded into ibidi μ -Dish^{35mm} Quad imaging dishes and incubated 24 h, 37 °C. The next day, cisplatin and CaCl₂ were added, and the 24 h incubation was repeated. Visualization of the 3D live cell morphology of MDAH-2774 cells was performed using a live cell tomographic holographic 3D microscope Nanolive (3D Cell Explorer, Lausanne, Switzerland).

2.9. Statistical Analysis

The experiments were performed in 3 replicates. The statistical analysis was performed using the GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software Inc, San Diego, CA, USA). Data are expressed as mean \pm SD (standard deviation) of the mean and were analyzed by two-way ANOVA (analysis of variance), with *p* < 0.05 being considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. Cytotoxicity of the Examined Substances and IC₅₀ Determination

MTT assay assessed the cytotoxicity of the 17 β -estradiol (E₂), cisplatin, and calcium chloride (CaCl₂). Figure 1 shows the response of MDAH-2774 cells to the 24 h and 72 h incubation with E₂. After 24 h incubation, E₂ intensified cytotoxic activity in concentration 25–200 μ M. However, extended incubation time (72 h) further decreased cells' viability. Estradiol in concentrations 0.01–0.1 μ M did not significantly change the cells' mitochondrial activity compared to the untreated control. Based on the results presented above, the low-toxic concentration of 10 μ M was selected for further experiments.



Figure 1. MDAH-2774 cells viability measured by the MTT assay after 24 h and 72 h incubation in different 17 β -estradiol concentrations. Notes: (mean \pm SD) N = 3, * p < 0.05 compared to control, # p < 0.05 compared between different incubation times.

Figure 2 shows the viability of MDAH-2774 cells after 24 h and 72 h exposure to increasing concentrations of cisplatin and CaCl₂. The experiment was carried out on two groups of cells. One of them was prior pre-incubated for 24 h with 10 μ M 17 β -estradiol (E₂). Control represents the viability of untreated cells.

After 24 h exposure, MDAH-2774 cells were resistant to the cytotoxic effects of cisplatin in the full range of concentrations (Figure 2a). Cells pre-incubated with 17 β -estradiol had an increased sensitivity to both compounds. However, the decrease in the mitochondrial activity of pre-incubated cells at the two highest levels of cisplatin (50 μ M and 75 μ M) administered was a maximum of ~26%. In contrast, the viability of pre-incubated cells after the exposure to 10 mM and 25 mM of CaCl₂ was \leq 20%. Extending the incubation time resulted in a more substantial cytotoxic effect of cisplatin (Figure 2b). In concentrations of 10–25 μ M, it had a stronger than CaCl₂ cytotoxic effect on both groups of cells. Table 1 presents the IC₅₀ values calculated for cisplatin and CaCl₂. The IC₅₀ values calculated using Quest GraphTM IC₅₀ Calculator (AAT Bioquest, Inc, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). IC₅₀ was determined with a non-linear model.



Figure 2. MDAH-2774 cells viability measured by the MTT assay after 24 h (**a**,**b**) and 72 h (**c**,**d**) incubation in increasing cisplatin (**a**,**c**) and CaCl₂ (**b**,**d**) concentrations. Notes: (mean \pm SD) N = 3, * p < 0.05 compared to control, # p < 0.05 compared between different pre-incubation conditions.

Table 1. IC₅₀ values for cisplatin and calcium chloride (CaCl₂).

	Cisplatin [µM]	CaCl ₂ [mM]
IC ₅₀ for 24 h		
Not pre-incubated with E ₂	727.47	20.03
Pre-incubated with E ₂	129.53	13.29
IC ₅₀ for 72 h		
Not pre-incubated with E ₂	9.567	16.637
Pre-incubated with E_2	6.072	8.503

Based on the obtained results, the highest non-toxic concentrations of cisplatin and $CaCl_2$ were selected for subsequent experiments, amounting to 25 μ M and 2.5 mM, respectively.

3.2. Effect of Pulsed Electric Fields (PEF) on Cancer Viability

The viability of ovarian cancer cells after μ EP and nsEP was evaluated for 25 μ M cisplatin and 2.5 mM calcium concentrations. The experiment was performed on the two groups of cells (pre-incubated and not pre-incubated with 10 μ M of 17 β -estradiol). Figure 3 shows the viability of MDAH-2774 cells after exposure to μ EP and nsEP with calcium ions or cisplatin relative to control. Control included non-electroporated cells. For both compounds, pre-incubation with E₂ improved the cytotoxic effect of electroporation in all electric field strengths. The highest values of mitochondrial activity for both compounds occurred by electroporated cells according to the nanosecond protocol with an electric field strength of 37.5 kV/cm. The lowest viability was achieved for the microsecond electroporation protocol. The use of 2.5 mM calcium ions instead of a cytostatic gave a more significant cytotoxic effect (Figure 3c).



Figure 3. MDAH-2774 cells viability measured by the MTT assay after (**a**) μ EP and nsEP with (**b**) 25 μ M cisplatin and (**c**) 2.5 mM CaCl₂. Notes: (mean \pm SD) N = 3, * p < 0.05 compared to control, # p < 0.05 compared between different pre-incubation conditions; ps—pulses.

3.3. Caspase-12 Expression

Immunocytochemical staining studies (Figure 4) revealed the expression of caspase-12 in MDAH-2774 cells after 24 h incubation with cisplatin (5 μ M and 25 μ M) and CaCl₂ (1 mM and 2.5 mM). The study was performed on two groups of cells, not pre-incubated and pre-incubated with 10 μ M of 17 β -estradiol (E₂) for 24 h. Controls included untreated cells. The majority of not pre-incubated cells exposed to both cisplatin concentrations remained almost unaffected. The highest level of enzyme expression was observed in cells incubated with 2.5 mM CaCl₂. Pre-incubation of cells with E₂ increased the expression of caspase-12 by an average of 10% in all variants of the used compounds. Cells exposed to calcium chloride showed the highest level of expression. Its significant increase was noted for the CaCl₂ concentration equal to 1 mM. Table 2 presents the % ratio of stained cells to the whole number of cells in the sample.

Table 2. The caspase-12 expression after exposure to cisplatin (5 μ M and 25 μ M) and CaCl₂ (1 mM and 2.5 mM) in the MDAH-2774 cell line.

	Not Pre-Incubated with E2		Pre-Incubated with E ₂	
	Percentage of Stained Cells	The Intensity of Staining	Percentage of Stained Cells	The Intensity of Staining
cisplatin				
5 µM	74%	+	81.5%	++
25 μΜ	80%	+	90%	++
CaCl ₂				
1 mM	44.5%	+/-	90.5%	++
1.5 mM	95%	++	92%	++/+++

(-) negative, (+) weak, (++) moderate, or (+++) strong.



Figure 4. Caspase-12 immunocytochemical staining after exposure to cisplatin (5 μ M and 25 μ M) and CaCl₂ (1 mM and 2.5 mM) in the MDAH-2774 cell line.

3.4. Fluorescence Staining of Actin

Figures 5 and 6 present fluorescence staining of the intracellular actin in MDAH-2774 cells. The studies were obtained for two groups of cells, not pre-incubated and pre-incubated with 10 μ M of 17 β -estradiol (E₂) for 24 h. Cells were electroporated using μ EP and nsEP protocols (Figure 6). Controls included non-electroporated and untreated samples.



Figure 5. Immunofluorescence staining of MDAH-2774 cells ($60 \times$) after 24 h incubation with cisplatin and CaCl₂. Alexa FluorTM 546 phalloidin used for actin filaments labeled. Scale bars correspond to 100 μ m.

CONTROL



CISPLATIN 25µM

Figure 6. Immunofluorescence staining of MDAH-2774 cells ($60 \times$) after μ EP and nsEP with the addition of cisplatin and CaCl₂. Alexa FluorTM 546 phalloidin used for actin filaments labeled. Scale bars represent 100 μ m; ps—pulses.

Control cells formed elongated-shape, well-organized F-actin filaments structure, creating a stable net with stress fibers. Both concentrations of cisplatin did not result in significant changes in the morphology of the neoplastic cells (Figure 5). The most significant changes are seen in cells pre-incubated with E_2 and then exposed to 25 μ M cisplatin. The cells changed shape to oval. The actin filaments accumulated near the nucleus and on the edge of the cell in lamellipodia and filopodia. Exposure to calcium chloride-induced more substantial changes in cell morphology and the cytoskeleton. Significant shrinkage appears at a concentration of 1 mM, while at 2.5 mM CaCl₂, cells have an abnormal structure and probable damage to the actin cytoskeleton (pre-incubated cells).

Electroporation without the addition of any compound caused severe morphological changes (Figure 6). They are manifested in most attempts by significant cell shrinkage. The most potent effect was observed after microsecond (μ EP) and nanosecond (nsEP) electroporation in particular for an electric field strength of 50 kV/cm, where cells revealed inferior assembly of actin filaments. Reorganization of actin cytoskeleton to both pre-incubated and not pre-incubated cells is visible in all these sample. Nanosecond electroporation with the intensity of 37.5 kV/cm resulted in changes in the cytoskeleton structure such as extending lamellipodia-like protrusions, which provided cell–cell contact and migration ability. However, no cell shrinkage was noted. The differences between not pre-incubated and pre-incubated cells are particularly visible in non-electroporated samples. Cells pre-incubated with E₂ are smaller, more oval, or damaged (2.5 mM CaCl₂).

3.5. Efficiency of Microsecond Electroporation (µEP) and Nanosecond Electroporation (nsEP)

The uptake of the Yo-Pro-1TM fluorescent dye shows the efficiency of the electroporation process (Figure 7). The dye fluorescence intensities were measured with a flow cytometer. The study included two groups of cells (not pre-incubated and pre-incubated with 10 μ M 17 β -estradiol for 24 h). Non-electroporated controls with and without the addition of the dye were included.



Figure 7. Yo-Pro-1TM fluorescent dye absorption in MDAH-2774 cells after μ EP and nsEP; ps—pulses.

The highest absorption values of the Yo-Pro-1TM dye were found in cells subjected to microsecond electroporation with an electric field strength of 1.3 kV/cm. The efficiency of nsEP was much lower. At an electric field strength of 37.5 kV/cm, the mean value of fluorescence was similar to the non-electroporated control. After electroporation with the nsEP 50 kV/cm protocol, the dye absorption reached intermediate values. Pre-incubation of cells with 17 β -estradiol reduced the uptake of the dye in all the tests performed. Table 3 shows the mean values of fluorescence intensity obtained during the study.

Table 3. Yo-Pro-1TM fluorescence intensity in MDAH-2774 cells in arbitrary units; ps—pulses.

	Not Pre-Incubated with E_2	Pre-Incubated with E ₂
Control	1.52	1.56
Control + Yo-Pro-1 TM	5.32	4.97
EP 1.3 kV/cm (ESOPE)	677.19	403.98
nsEP 37.5 kV/cm (10 ns, 200 ps)	23.07	6.24
nsEP 50 kV/cm (10 ns, 200 ps)	256.7	171.46

3.6. Digital Holographic Microscopy (DGM) Study

Digital Holographic Microscopy (DGM) study showed the morphological changes in the MDAH-2774 cell line after 24 h incubation with examined compounds. The experiment included two groups of cells (not pre-incubated and pre-incubated with 10 μ M of 17 β -estradiol for 24 h). Controls incorporated untreated samples. Figure 8 presents the obtained results. The control cells are in good condition and have a normal structure. There are no significant differences between pre-incubated and not pre-incubated controls. The most remarkable changes in cell structure are noticeable after exposure to calcium chloride at a concentration of 2.5 mM. In this case, both series of cells are visibly shrunken and take a more oval shape. Incubation with cisplatin did not provoke significant morphological changes. However, a difference can be observed between the series of cells exposed to this compound.



Figure 8. Holotomographic microscopy studies after 24 h with cisplatin and CaCl₂. Scale bars represent 20 µM.

4. Discussion

Neoplastic diseases are currently one of the most common causes of death in the world. Ovarian cancer (OC) is associated with the highest death rate out of any gynecological malignancies. The disease in the early stages of development gives no or vague symptoms. It is estimated that ~75% of women are diagnosed in stage III or IV FIGO. Apart from late diagnosis, treatment failure is caused by frequent relapses and the phenomenon of patient resistance to the drugs used. High hopes in the fight against neoplasms resistant to the currently used therapeutic strategies are given by electrochemotherapy (ECT). This method allows for an extreme increase in the absorption of cytostatics by cancer cells and, as a result, intensification of their action. ECT has already been used successfully in patients who do not respond to conventional chemotherapy [43,44].

Moreover, it is characterized by a safety profile and a lower frequency of oppressive contingent effects because of its local activity. Hitherto, ECT has been approved in the treatment of skin cancers and head and neck cancers. Additionally, it is expected that it may find application in treating deep cancers in the future. Even greater expectations are associated with calcium electroporation (CaEP), where calcium ions (Ca²⁺) replace conventional cytostatic. Considering the low efficacy of current treatments for OC, studies on the effectiveness of different types of electrochemotherapy and their impact on the biology of ovarian cancer cells are fully justified.

The molecular mechanisms associated with ovarian cancer are closely related to the action of estrogen hormones. Their direct action on ovarian cells may affect tumor development and its progression. This is reflected in the wide range of risk factors associated with estrogens' effects (e.g., hormone replacement therapy). Estrogens, by enhancing proliferation, can cause the consolidation and accumulation of DNA damage. Apart from participation in neoplastic transformation, estrogens may have a protective effect on ovarian malignancy cells, inhibiting the apoptosis process. However, according to the studies conducted so far, estrogens' impact may differ depending on their concentration, the type of target cells, and the expression of particular estrogen receptor (ER) types. Considering the potential use of electrochemotherapy in the treatment of ovarian cancer, the above study posed the question of whether 17β -estradiol (E₂; the most active of estrogens) has a protective effect on electroporated ovarian cancer cells or, on the contrary, will intensify the toxic effects of cisplatin and calcium chloride (CaCl₂).

The first stage of our research was to estimate the cytotoxicity of equal concentrations of estradiol and its influence on the compounds' effectiveness in the subsequent phases during ECT. We analyzed cisplatin, a drug commonly used in OC therapy, and CaCl₂, a

calcium ion source for the experimental calcium electrochemotherapy. The cytotoxicity profile of the mentioned compounds was determined for 24 and 72 h of incubation.

Estradiol reduced the mitochondrial activity of MDAH-2774 cells in the concentration range of 25–200 μ M. These are concentrations exceeding the physiological values. This effect was particularly visible after 72 h of incubation. No cytotoxic effect was observed at concentrations of 0.01–10 μ M. Zhenga et al. pointed out that 6-day incubation of OVCAR-3 cells with 0.01–100 nM E₂ intensifies their proliferation [45]. Additionally, Langdon et al. showed analogous tendencies in PEO1 and PEO4 cell lines, and it was associated with the Er α receptor activity [46]. On the other hand, Bonavida and Bechtel demonstrated the anti-proliferative effect of estradiol at concentrations of >1 μ M in HOC-7 and OVCAR-3 cells [47]. Based on the performed MTT assay, the concentration of 17 β -estradiol used for the pre-incubation of cells in subsequent experiments (10 μ M) was selected. This is the concentration that was not cytotoxic after 24 h of expansion and is the closest to the physiological E₂ concentration in the follicles of the ovaries [48].

To assess the influence of estradiol on the studied phenomena, all experiments were performed on two groups of cells, namely non- and pre-incubated, for 24 h with the selected concentration of E_2 . Assessment of cisplatin's effect on MDAH-2774 cells was performed using a concentration range of 5–75 μ M. After 24 h of incubation, cells showed no decreased mitochondrial activity over the entire range of drug concentrations. The prolongation of the exposure time caused that the cytotoxic effect was noticeable at concentrations > 5 μ M. In turn, calcium chloride's action was assessed for concentrations in the range of 0.5–25 mM. 24 h incubation with CaCl₂ < 5 mM did not reduce cell viability. At concentrations of 10 and 25 mM, a distinct cytotoxic effect was noted. After 72 h of exposure, 5 mM cisplatin was also toxic. Pre-incubation with E_2 increased the susceptibility of cells to the action of both compounds.

Fluorescent staining of the actin cytoskeleton visualized the effects of cisplatin and $CaCl_2$ (depending on the cells' prior exposure to estradiol). It allowed evaluating changes in cell morphology caused by the action of the analyzed compounds probably. Two cisplatin concentrations (5 and 25 μ M) and calcium chloride (1 and 2.5 mM) were selected for the study. Concentrations that were not toxic during the 24 h incubation were used to fix the cells to the microscope slides. Cells exposed to 5 and 25 μ M of cisplatin showed slight changes in cell morphology and cytoskeleton. However, they were most prominent in cells pre-incubated and then exposed to cisplatin at a concentration of 25 μ M. In turn, the action of CaCl₂ caused a marked shrinking of cells. Pre-incubated cells enhanced this effect.

The mechanism of 17β -estradiol action on OC cells is mostly related to the estrogen receptors (ERs). ER α and Er β act differently, and the level of their expression depends on the type of cells. Both types are present in the ovaries' normal and cancer cells, but their quantitative ratio is changed during carcinogenesis. Chan et al. showed that the majority of patients with OC show increased expression of ER α and ER β 5 nuclear receptors and decreased expression of ER β 1 and cytoplasmic ER α receptors [49]. The activity of the ER α is associated with the phenomenon of cisplatin resistance, as shown in the studies conducted by Matrumur et al. [50].

Moreover, the ER β may exert anti-tumor activity in response to or independently of E₂ stimulation, as reported by Treeck et al. [51]. The action of sex hormones may influence the number of ERs. Taube et al. showed that estradiol in nanomolar concentrations (nM) could lower the total amount of estrogen receptors presented by ovarian cancer cells [52]. The synergistic effect of E₂ and the compounds tested by us may be associated with a disturbance in the quantitative ratio of individual types of ERs. To confirm this hypothesis, additional experiments are required.

Another mechanism that may participate in estradiol's observed effect may be the mechanism related to the excessive production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Moghadasi et al. have shown that estradiol in concentrations of 0.1–1000 nM increases ROS synthesis in OVCAR-3 human ovarian carcinoma cells [53].

Caspase-12 expression was assessed to determine if decreased survival of MDAH-2774 cells pre-incubated with estradiol is associated with increased ROS synthesis. Caspase-12 is involved in the process of reticular apoptosis and is activated in response to stress factors such as, for example, reactive oxygen species or high levels of calcium ions. Immunocytochemical staining showed increased caspase-12 expression in cells pre-incubated with estradiol. However, this effect differed depending on the compound used. In cisplatin (5 and 25 μ M), the number of stained cells increased by ~10%. For slides with 1 mM CaCl₂, this value increased by 45%. Cells treated with 2.5 mM CaCl₂ were ~95% stained regardless of pre-incubation with estradiol. Sapkal showed that 20 and 40 nM of E₂ decreased the expression of caspase-12 in human retinal epithelial cells (ARPE-19) [54]. This effect has been linked to the antioxidant activity of 17β -estradiol. Similar results were obtained by Guo et al., studying the impact of nanomolar estradiol concentrations on the course of stress-induced apoptosis in MC3T3-E1 mouse osteoblast cells [55]. They showed that E_2 at these concentrations inhibited reticular apoptosis by increasing the expression of Grp78, which is a protein capable of binding procaspase-7 and procaspase-12. Unfortunately, there are no reports in the available literature concerning the effect of micromolar (μ M) concentrations of estradiol on ovarian cancer cell lines.

The next stage of the research was to assess the effect of 17β -estradiol on the electroporation (EP) process of MDAH-2774 cells. The study was divided into two parts. In the first one, changes in the mitochondrial activity and the structure of the cytoskeleton were examined. The second part assessed the effectiveness of electroporation by checking the absorption of the Yo-ProTM-1 fluorescent dye.

Three electroporation protocols were used, plus cisplatin (25 μ M) and CaCl₂ (2.5 mM). Calcium chloride induced a more significant decrease in cell viability than cisplatin, regardless of the used protocol. Microsecond electroporation (μ EP) without any compound achieved a robust cytotoxic effect (reducing cell viability by ~50%). The addition of cisplatin and CaCl₂ intensified this effect. The use of nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsEP) 37.5 kV/cm did not cause a significant decrease in survival in control without compounds and in combination with cisplatin.

In contrast, the combination with CaCl₂ caused a reduction in mitochondrial activity by ~30%. The nsEP 50 kV/cm protocol in control and combination with cisplatin caused a comparable decrease in the cell viability to a value ~55%. When combined with calcium chloride, the toxic effect was similar to that obtained with the μ EP.

All electroporated cells pre-incubated previously with 17β -estradiol showed reduced mitochondrial activity. Fluorescent staining of actin filaments displayed morphological changes in cells electroporated using μ EP and nsEP 50 kV/cm. The cells showed shrinkage and damage to the cytoskeleton. The nsEP 37.5 kV/cm did not cause such intense changes. The results obtained in this study for cells not pre-incubated with estrogen hormone are consistent with the literature data. Saczko et al. demonstrated that the combination of cisplatin with μ EP significantly increases the toxicity of cytostatics on ovarian cancer cells [56].

Chenguo et al. presented that the mobilization of intracellular Ca^{2+} causes cytotoxicity to OC cells after nsEP [57]. The high concentration of $CaCl_2$ activates apoptosis. In our study, nsEP, in combination with $CaCl_2$, caused the most substantial decrease in cell viability. Unfortunately, there are currently no publications available on the effects of E_2 on EP. For this reason, the last of the experiments carried out in this study was to determine the impact of pre-incubation with estradiol on the efficiency of electroporation.

MDAH-2774 cells were also electroporated with Yo-ProTM-1. The absorption was measured using a flow cytometer. The study showed that μ EP had the most substantial dye uptake. Cells pre-incubated with estradiol showed a lower dye absorption. Considering the results of MTT assay, it can be assumed that the mechanism behind the decrease in the mitochondrial activity of cells pre-incubated with E₂ is not related to changes in the permeability of the cell membrane.

5. Conclusions

The results presented in this work demonstrated that electrochemotherapy (ECT) might be a potentially effective treatment for human ovarian cancer in vitro. Pre-incubation of ovarian cancer cells with 17β -estradiol effectively enhanced the chemo- and electrochemotherapy with cisplatin and calcium chloride. Therefore, their impact should be considered when developing new schedules of treatment.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.D., J.K., and J.S.; methodology, M.D., J.K., and J.S.; software, M.D., A.S., J.K.; validation, M.D., A.S., J.K.; formal analysis, Z.Ł., M.D., J.K. and J.S.; investigation, Z.Ł., M.D., and A.S.; resources, J.K. and J.S.; data curation, Z.Ł., M.D., A.S.; writing—original draft preparation, Z.Ł., A.C. and J.S.; writing—review and editing Z.Ł., A.C., and J.S.; visualization, Z.Ł., A.C., and J.S.; supervision, A.C. and J.S.; project administration, A.C. and J.S.; funding acquisition, J.K. and J.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: The research was supported by the National Science Centre (Poland) within a framework of SONATA BIS 6 2016/22/E/NZ5/00671 (PI: J. Kulbacka).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to the consent provided by participants on the use of confidential data.

Acknowledgments: Graphical abstract (GA) supplemented by BioRender.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest concerning this article.

References

- Coburn, S.B.; Bray, F.; Sherman, M.E.; Trabert, B. International patterns and trends in ovarian cancer incidence, overall and by histologic subtype. Int. J. Cancer 2017, 140, 2451–2460. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bray, F.; Ferlay, J.; Soerjomataram, I.; Siegel, R.L.; Torre, L.A.; Jemal, A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J. Clin.* 2018, 68, 394–424. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Huang, Z.; Yan, H.; Chavan, D.; Yuan, Z.; Yang, X.; Zhang, Y.; Song, K.; Kong, B. Effective treatment of a patient with stage IV ovarian cancer: A case report. Oncol. Lett. 2018, 15, 588–591. [PubMed]
- 4. Stewart, C.; Ralyea, C.; Lockwood, S. Ovarian Cancer: An Integrated Review. *Semin. Oncol. Nurs.* 2019, 35, 151–156. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mungenast, F.; Thalhammer, T. Estrogen Biosynthesis and Action in Ovarian Cancer. Front. Endocrinol. 2014, 5, 1–12. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Spiliotis, J.D.; Iavazzo, C.; Kopanakis, N.D.; Christopoulou, A. Secondary debulking for ovarian carcinoma relapse: The R-R dilemma—Is the prognosis different for residual or recurrent disease? J. Turk. Ger. Gynecol. Assoc. 2019, 20, 213–217. [CrossRef]
- Kusakari, T.; Kariya, M.; Mandai, M.; Tsuruta, Y.; Hamid, A.A.; Fukuhara, K.; Nanbu, K.; Takakura, K.; Fujii, S. C-erbB-2 or mutant Ha-ras induced malignant transformation of immortalized human ovarian surface epithelial cells in vitro. *Br. J. Cancer* 2003, *89*, 2293–2298. [CrossRef]
- 8. Webb, P.M.; Jordan, S.J. Epidemiology of epithelial ovarian cancer. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol. 2017, 41, 3–14. [CrossRef]
- Park, S.-H.; Cheung, L.W.T.; Wong, A.S.T.; Leung, P.C.K. Estrogen Regulates Snail and Slug in the Down-Regulation of E-Cadherin and Induces Metastatic Potential of Ovarian Cancer Cells through Estrogen Receptor α. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 2008, 22, 2085–2098. [CrossRef]
- 10. Vrtačnik, P.; Ostanek, B.; Mencej-Bedrač, S.; Marc, J. The many faces of estrogen signaling. Biochem. Med. 2014, 24, 329–342. [CrossRef]
- Jia, M.; Dahlman-Wright, K.; Gustafsson, J.Å. Estrogen receptor alpha and beta in health and disease. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2015, 29, 557–568. [CrossRef]
- 12. Zielniok, K.; Małgorzta, G.; Motyl, T. Molekularne aspekty działania 17β-estradiolu i progesteronu w komórkowych szlakach sygnałowych. *Postepy Hig. Med. Dosw.* **2014**, *68*, 777–792. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Saczko, J.; Michel, O.; Chwiłkowska, A.; Sawicka, E.; Mączyńska, J.; Kulbacka, J. Estrogen Receptors in Cell Membranes: Regulation and Signaling; Springer International Publisher: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2017; pp. 73–92.
- 14. Qian, H.; Xuan, J.; Liu, Y.; Shi, G. Function of G-Protein-Coupled Estrogen Receptor-1 in Reproductive System Tumors. J. Immunol. Res. 2016, 2016, 128702. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Varghese, E.; Samuel, S.M.; Sadiq, Z.; Kubatka, P.; Liskova, A.; Benacka, J.; Pazinka, P.; Kruzliak, P.; Büsselberg, D. Anti-Cancer Agents in Proliferation and Cell Death: The Calcium Connection. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2019**, *20*, 3017. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Switalska, M.; Strzadała, L. Non-genomic action of estrogens. Postpy Hig. Med. Doświadczalnej 2007, 61, 541–547.
- 17. Santen, R.J. The oestrogen paradox: A hypothesis. Breast Cancer Res. 2007, 9, 1–5. [CrossRef]

- Coelingh Bennink, H.J.T.; Verhoeven, C.; Dutman, A.E.; Thijssen, J. The use of high-dose estrogens for the treatment of breast cancer. *Maturitas* 2017, 95, 11–23. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Plaschke, C.C.; Gehl, J.; Johannesen, H.; Fischer, B.M.; Kjaer, A.; Lomholt, A.F.; Wessel, I. Calcium electroporation for recurrent head and neck cancer: A clinical phase I study. *Laryngoscope* 2019, *4*, 49–56. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 20. Kiełbik, A.; Szlasa, W.; Saczko, J.; Kulbacka, J. Electroporation-Based Treatments in Urology. Cancers 2020, 12, 2208. [CrossRef]
- 21. Esmaeili, N.; Friebe, M. Electrochemotherapy: A Review of Current Status, Alternative IGP Approaches, and Future Perspectives. J. Healthc. Eng. 2019, 2019, 2784516. [CrossRef]
- 22. Kulbacka, J. Nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsPEFs) impact and enhanced Photofrin II[®] delivery in photodynamic reaction in cancer and normal cells. *Photodiagn. Photodyn. Ther.* 2015, *12*, 621–629. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hanna, H.; Denzi, A.; Liberti, M.; Andre, F.M.; Mir, L.M. Electropermeabilization of Inner and Outer Cell Membranes with Microsecond Pulsed Electric Fields: Quantitative Study with Calcium Ions. Sci. Rep. 2017, 7, 1–14. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Weaver, J.C.; Smith, K.C.; Esser, A.T.; Son, R.S.; Gowrishankar, T.R. A brief overview of electroporation pulse strength-duration space: A region where additional intracellular effects are expected. *Bioelectrochemistry* 2012, 87, 236–243. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Yarmush, M.L.; Golberg, A.; Serša, G.; Kotnik, T.; Miklavčič, D. Electroporation-Based Technologies for Medicine: Principles, Applications, and Challenges. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2014, 16, 295–320. [CrossRef]
- 26. Jaroszeski, M.J.; Dang, V.; Pottinger, C.; Hickey, J.; Gilbert, R.; Heller, R. Toxicity of anticancer agents mediated by electroporation in vitro. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 2000, *11*, 201–208. [CrossRef]
- 27. Mir, L.M. Therapeutic perspectives of in vivo cell electropermeabilization. Bioelectrochemistry 2001, 53, 1–10. [CrossRef]
- Sersa, G.; Stabuc, B.; Cemazar, M.; Miklavcic, D.; Rudolf, Z. Electrochemotherapy with cisplatin: Clinical experience in malignant melanoma patients. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2000, 6, 863–867.
- 29. Sersa, G.; Miklavcic, D.; Cemazar, M.; Rudolf, Z.; Pucihar, G.; Snoj, M. Electrochemotherapy in treatment of tumours. *Eur. J. Surg.* Oncol. 2008, 34, 232–240. [CrossRef]
- Probst, U.; Fuhrmann, I.; Beyer, L.; Wiggermann, P. Electrochemotherapy as a New Modality in Interventional Oncology: A Review. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* 2018, 17, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- Partridge, B.R.; O'Brien, T.J.; Lorenzo, M.F.; Coutermarsh-Ott, S.L.; Barry, S.L.; Stadler, K.; Muro, N.; Meyerhoeffer, M.; Allen, I.C.; Davalos, R.V.; et al. High-Frequency Irreversible Electroporation for Treatment of Primary Liver Cancer: A Proof-of-Principle Study in Canine Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J. Vasc. Interv. Radiol. 2020, 31, 482–491.e4. [CrossRef]
- 32. Marty, M.; Sersa, G.; Garbay, J.R.; Gehl, J.; Collins, C.G.; Snoj, M.; Billard, V.; Geertsen, P.F.; Larkin, J.O.; Miklavcic, D.; et al. Electrochemotherapy—An easy, highly effective and safe treatment of cutaneous and subcutaneous metastases: Results of ESOPE (European Standard Operating Procedures of Electrochemotherapy) study. *Eur. J. Cancer Suppl.* 2006, 4, 3–13. [CrossRef]
- 33. Frandsen, S.K.; Gehl, J. A Review on Differences in Effects on Normal and Malignant Cells and Tissues to Electroporation-Based Therapies: A Focus on Calcium Electroporation. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* **2018**, *17*, 1–6. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kiełbik, A.; Szlasa, W.; Michel, O.; Szewczyk, A.; Tarek, M.; Saczko, J.; Kulbacka, J. In Vitro Study of Calcium Microsecond Electroporation of Prostate Adenocarcinoma Cells. *Molecules* 2020, 25, 5406. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Frandsen, S.K.; Gissel, H.; Hojman, P.; Tramm, T.; Eriksen, J.; Gehl, J. Direct Therapeutic Applications of Calcium Electroporation to Effectively Induce Tumor Necrosis. *Cancer Res.* 2012, 72, 1336–1341. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 36. D'Arcy, M.S. Cell death: A review of the major forms of apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy. *Cell Biol. Int.* **2019**, *43*, 582–592. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 37. Elmore, S. Apoptosis: A Review of Programmed Cell Death. Toxicol. Pathol. 2007, 35, 495–516. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 38. Paduch, R.; Klatka, M.; Klatka, J. Types of cell death. Pomeranian J. Life Sci. 2015, 61, 411–418.
- Zhang, Q.; Liu, J.; Chen, S.; Liu, J.; Liu, L.; Liu, G.; Wang, F.; Jiang, W.; Zhang, C.; Wang, S.; et al. Caspase-12 is involved in stretch-induced apoptosis mediated endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Apoptosis* 2016, 21, 432–442. [CrossRef]
- Almasi, S.; El Hiani, Y. Exploring the therapeutic potential of membrane transport proteins: Focus on cancer and chemoresistance. *Cancers* 2020, 12, 1624. [CrossRef]
- 41. Dai, L.; Li, C.; Shedden, K.A.; Misek, D.E.; Lubman, D.M. Comparative proteomic study of two closely related ovarian endometrioid adenocarcinoma cell lines using cIEF fractionation and pathway analysis. *Electrophoresis* **2009**, *30*, 1119–1131. [CrossRef]
- Gilloteaux, J.; Lau, H.L.; Gourari, I.; Neal, D.; Jamison, J.M.; Summers, J.L. Apatone[®] induces endometrioid ovarian carcinoma (MDAH 2774) cells to undergo karyolysis and cell death by autoschizis: A potent and safe anticancer treatment. *Transl. Res. Anat.* 2015, *1*, 25–39. [CrossRef]
- Falk, H.; Lambaa, S.; Johannesen, H.H.; Wooler, G.; Venzo, A.; Gehl, J. Electrochemotherapy and calcium electroporation inducing a systemic immune response with local and distant remission of tumors in a patient with malignant melanoma—A case report. *Acta Oncol.* 2017, 56, 1126–1131. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Perrone, A.M.; Galuppi, A.; Pirovano, C.; Borghese, G.; Covarelli, P.; De Terlizzi, F.; Ferioli, M.; Cara, S.; Morganti, A.G.; De Iaco, P. Palliative Electrochemotherapy in Vulvar Carcinoma: Preliminary Results of the ELECHTRA (Electrochemotherapy Vulvar Cancer) Multicenter Study. *Cancers* 2019, *11*, 657. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Li, H.H.; Zhao, Y.J.; Li, Y.; Dai, C.F.; Jobe, S.O.; Yang, X.S.; Li, X.F.; Patankar, M.S.; Magness, R.R.; Zheng, J. Estradiol 17β and Its Metabolites Stimulate Cell Proliferation and Antagonize Ascorbic Acid-Suppressed Cell Proliferation in Human Ovarian Cancer Cells. *Reprod. Sci.* 2014, 21, 102–111. [CrossRef]

- 46. O'Donnell, A.J.M.; Macleod, K.G.; Burns, D.J.; Smyth, J.F.; Langdon, S.P. Estrogen receptor-α mediates gene expression changes and growth response in ovarian cancer cells exposed to estrogen. *Endocr. Relat. Cancer* 2005, *12*, 851–866. [CrossRef]
- Keith Bechtel, M.; Bonavida, B. Inhibitory Effects of 17β-Estradiol and Progesterone on Ovarian Carcinoma Cell Proliferation: A Potential Role for Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase. *Gynecol. Oncol.* 2001, 82, 127–138. [CrossRef]
- 48. Baird, D.T.; Fraser, I.A.N.S.; Baird, D.T.; Fraser, I.S. Concentration of oestrone and oestradiol in follicular fluid and ovarian venous blood of women. *Clin. Endocrinol.* **1974**, *4*, 259–266. [CrossRef]
- 49. Chan, K.K.L.; Siu, M.K.Y.; Jiang, Y.X.; Wang, J.J.; Wang, Y.; Leung, T.H.Y.; Liu, S.S.; Cheung, A.N.Y.; Ngan, H.Y.S. Differential expression of estrogen receptor subtypes and variants in ovarian cancer: Effects on cell invasion, proliferation and prognosis. *BMC Cancer* **2017**, *17*, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- 50. Matsumura, S.; Ohta, T.; Yamanouchi, K.; Liu, Z.; Sudo, T.; Kojimahara, T.; Seino, M.; Narumi, M.; Tsutsumi, S.; Takahashi, T.; et al. Activation of estrogen receptor α by estradiol and cisplatin induces platinum-resistance in ovarian cancer cells. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* **2017**, *18*, 730–739. [CrossRef]
- Treeck, O.; Pfeiler, G.; Mitter, D.; Lattrich, C.; Piendl, G.; Ortmann, O. Estrogen receptor β1 exerts antitumoral effects on SK-OV-3 ovarian cancer cells. J. Endocrinol. 2007, 193, 421–433. [CrossRef]
- 52. Taube, M.; Höckenström, T.; Isaksson, M.; Lindgren, P.R.; Bäckström, T. Effects of sex steroids on survival and receptor expression in ovarian epithelial tumour cells. *Int. J. Oncol.* 2003, 22, 1257–1262. [CrossRef]
- Maleki, J.; Nourbakhsh, M.; Shabani, M.; Korani, M.; Nourazarian, S.M.; Dahaghi, M.R.O.; Moghadasi, M.H. 17β-Estradiol Stimulates Generation of Reactive Species Oxygen and Nitric Oxide in Ovarian Adenocarcinoma Cells (OVCAR 3). *Iran. J. Cancer Prev.* 2015, 8, e2332. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Sapkal, A.U.; Nashine, S.; Mansoor, S.; Sharma, V.R. Original Article Protective Effects of 17 β-Estradiol on Benzo (e) pyrene [B (e) P]-induced Toxicity in ARPE-19 cells. J. Ophthalmic Vis. Res. 2018, 13, 13–20.
- 55. Guo, Y.S.; Sun, Z.; Ma, J.; Cui, W.; Gao, B.; Zhang, H.Y.; Han, Y.H.; Hu, H.M.; Wang, L.; Fan, J.; et al. 17β-Estradiol inhibits ER stress-induced apoptosis through promotion of TFII-I-dependent Grp78 induction in osteoblasts. *Lab. Investig.* 2014, 94, 906–916. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Saczko, J.; Kamińska, I.; Kotulska, M.; Bar, J.; Choromańska, A.; Rembiałkowska, N.; Biezuńska-Kusiak, K.; Rossowska, J.; Nowakowska, D.; Kulbacka, J. Combination of therapy with 5-fluorouracil and cisplatin with electroporation in human ovarian carcinoma model in vitro. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2014, 68, 573–580. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Yao, C.; Mi, Y.; Hu, X.; Li, C.; Sun, C.; Tang, J.; Wu, X. Experiment and mechanism research of SKOV3 cancer cell apoptosis induced by nanosecond pulsed electric field. In Proceedings of the 2008 30th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, Vancouver, BC, Canada, 20–25 August 2008; pp. 1044–1047.

<u>Tytuł</u>

"The influence of asymmetrical bipolar pulses and interphase intervals on the bipolar cancellation phenomenon in the ovarian cancer cell line"

<u>Autorzy</u>

Lapińska Zofia, Novickij Vitalij, Rembiałkowska Nina, Szewczyk Anna, Dubińska-Magiera Magdalena, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta

Czasopismo

Bioelectrochemistry (2023, vol. 153, art.108483 [10 s.], DOI: 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2023.108483)

<u>Punktacja</u>

Impact Factor: 4,8 MNiSW: 100

Bioelectrochemistry 153 (2023) 108483

ELSEVIER



Bioelectrochemistry

journal homepage: www.journals.elsevier.com/bioelectrochemistry



The influence of asymmetrical bipolar pulses and interphase intervals on the bipolar cancellation phenomenon in the ovarian cancer cell line

Check for updates

Zofia Łapińska^{a,*}, Vitalij Novickij^{b,c}, Nina Rembiałkowska^a, Anna Szewczyk^a, Magdalena Dubińska-Magiera^d, Julita Kulbacka^{a,c,*}, Jolanta Saczko^a

^a Department of Molecular and Cellular Biology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Wroclaw Medical University, Borowska 211A, 50-556 Wroclaw, Poland

^b Institute of High Magnetic Fields, Vilnius Gediminas Technical University, LT-03227 Vilnius, Lithuania

^c Department of Immunology, State Research Institute Centre for Innovative Medicine, Santariškių 5, 08410 Vilnius, Lithuania

^d Department of Animal Developmental Biology, Faculty of Biological Science, University of Wroclaw, Sienkiewicza 21, 50-335 Wroclaw, Poland

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Electroporation Bipolar cancellation Pulsed electric fields

ABSTRACT

The application of negative polarity electrical pulse (\downarrow) following positive polarity pulses (\uparrow) may induce bipolar cancellation (BPC), a unique physiological response believed to be specific to nanosecond electroporation (nsEP). The literature lacks analysis of bipolar electroporation (BP EP) involving asymmetrical sequences composed of nanosecond and microsecond pulses. Moreover, the impact of interphase interval on BPC caused by such asymmetrical pulse needs consideration. In this study, the authors utilized the ovarian clear carcinoma cell line (OvBH-1) model to investigate the BPC with asymmetrical sequences. Cells were exposed to pulses delivered in 10-pulse bursts but as uni- or bipolar, symmetrical sequences. Cells were exposed to pulses delivered in and electric field strength equal to 7.0 or 1.8 kV/cm, respectively. It was shown that the asymmetry of pulses influences BPC. The obtained results have also been investigated in the context of calcium electrochemotherapy. The reduction of cell membrane poration, and cell survival have been observed following Ca²⁺ electrochemotherapy. The effects of interphase delays (1 and 10 μ s) on the BPC phenomenon were reported. Our findings show that the BPC phenomenon can be controlled using pulse asymmetry or delay between the positive and negative polarity of the pulse.

1. Introduction

Briefly exposing cells to external pulsed electric fields (PEFs) enables the temporary or permanent plasma membrane's (PM) lipid bilayer reorganization, which finally leads to aqueous pores formation [1]. This phenomenon, called electroporation (EP), improves the transport of the hydrophilic, otherwise non-permeable molecules into the cell's interior while there is no effect on intracellular organelles. Since the time of its first description by Mir et al. [2], the combination of EP with conventional chemotherapy (CT), is known as electrochemotherapy (ECT). ECT has been the subject of many studies and found clinical application in the treatment of head and neck carcinomas, but also skin, liver, and pancreatic cancers [3–9]. ECT is based on reversible electroporation (RE) when the cell, after exposure to PEFs, can rebuild its PM over time, close pores, reestablish metabolism, and survive. Clinical ECT procedures are often based on the European Standard Operative Procedure ECT (ESOPE) guidelines released in 2006 and involve the application of 100 $\mu s \times 8$ pulses with a frequency equal to 1 Hz [10]. Irreversible electroporation (IRE) occurs when the disturbance presented in PM after exposure to sufficient PEFs is more extensive, the cell cannot return to its original state and enters the death pathway. However, at some point, the exact mechanisms responsible for all events occurring in the cell as a result of exposure to PEFs remain elusive. Intensive research is being done to understand and improve treatment methods based on PEF application.

Nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsPEF) have been explored extensively in the last decade, revealing various unique bioeffects, both immediately after nsPEF exposure or days after [11]. nsPEF has been defined as high intensity (1.0–50 kV/cm) pulsed electric field with a duration limited in the sub-microsecond range [11,12]. In contrast to longer pulses, which predominantly permeabilize PM, nsPEF can affect extra- and intracellular membranes throughout the cellular volume [13], e.g., nucleus [14], mitochondria [15], and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) [16,17]. Among the effects following cell exposure to nsPEF, one

* Corresponding authors. E-mail addresses: zofia.lapinska@student.umw.edu.pl (Z. Łapińska), julita.kulbacka@umw.edu.pl (J. Kulbacka).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2023.108483

Received 29 June 2022; Received in revised form 24 May 2023; Accepted 29 May 2023

Available online 2 June 2023

1567-5394/© 2023 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

can distinguish an increased PM's permeability for exogenous molecules, mobilization of intracellular calcium ions (Ca²⁺) [18,19], activation or inhibition of voltage-gated channels (VGC) [20], cytoskeleton changes [21], cell swelling [22], cell death through apoptosis or necrosis [23,24] and autophagy [25]. Presently, the exact molecular influence of nsPEF on cells is heavily studied. The number and intensity of these effects may be regulated by changing the nsEP protocol parameters (e.g., pulse time duration, amplitude, or the number of pulses).

The role of the pulses shape and the effects on the polarization dynamics of cell membrane have been investigated intensively over the last decade [26]. Several studies revealed that bipolar pulses in the microsecond range (µsEP) alter cell membrane permeabilization more intensively while resulting in similar cell survival rates compared to equivalent unipolar pulse (UP) [27,28]. Kotnik et al. observed that the application of bipolar pulses allowed the achievement of permeabilization at lower pulse amplitudes than for unipolar pulses [27]. Simultaneously, they noted that the molecular uptake was higher, however, the pulse amplitude leading to cell death was practically unaltered. From a clinical point of view, it was interesting that the use of bipolar pulses reduced the electrolytic contamination from electrodes (i. e., metal ions or pH changes). Sano et al. explore intensively the role of bipolar pulses in IRE treatment. They revealed that asymmetric highfrequency IRE (H-FIRE) waveforms may create an ablation area equivalent to standard IRE treatments [28,29]. Moreover, Rolong et al. analyzed the use of H-FIRE to induce cell death of tumor-initiating cells using a mouse ovarian surface epithelial (MOSE) cancer model [29]. However, over the past decade, a nsPEFs-unique feature has been discovered called 'bipolar pulse cancellation' (BPC). Pakhomov et al. pointed out that bipolar pulse (BP), in principle, is a sequence of two unipolar pulses, which means that the influence of one unipolar pulse (cathodic pulse; ↑) on a targeted cell may be 'canceled' by following a reverse polarity pulse (anodic pulse; 1), even with the delivery of doubled energy and with twice the duration [20,30,31]. In the last years, studies revealed lower intracellular calcium and propidium iodide (PI) responses after exposure to bipolar nanosecond electric pulse (BP nsEP) compared to UP with the same total duration (\uparrow 300 ns + \downarrow 300 ns and ↑600 ns) and amplitude [32]. Overall, BP nsPEF application results in lower membrane permeabilization and improved cell survival compared to UP nsPEF. What is more interesting, it has been observed that pulse width symmetry is not necessary to generate the BPC effect [12]. This effect was still observed, even when the second pulse's amplitude was reduced to 35 % compared to the PEF amplitude of the first pulse. These observations were assessed for pulses with a duration time ranging from 60 [30,32] to 900 ns [33]. The authors indicated that the analysis of the impact of asymmetrical BP EP protocol composed of nanosecond pulse and consequent microsecond pulse had not been provided.

Pakhomov et al. also indicated that interphase delay lasting $<10~\mu s$, gradually diminished BPC as its duration increased, however, when it reached 10 μs , the effect caused by BP nsPEF ($\uparrow 300~ns + \downarrow 300~ns$) was the same as after UP nsPEF ($\uparrow 300~ns$) application [30]. Following studies by Gianulis et al. discovered that BPC was still present with interphase intervals lasting up to 50 μs [31].

Calcium ions (Ca^{2+}) are second-order messengers involved in a wide range of cellular processes (e.g., regulation of transcription, cell proliferation, and cell death) [34]. Under physiological conditions, Ca^{2+} concentrations significantly differ between the outside (10^{-3} - 10^{-2} M) and intracellular (10^{-8} - 10^{-7} M) space. The calcium homeostasis is maintained by the system of ATP-dependent pumps (e.g., NCKX, NCX, PMCA). However, the rapid influx of supraphysiological Ca^{2+} concentrations into the cell interior and its intracellular overload initiates necrotic or apoptotic cell death [35]. Recently, calcium ions are also used in moderated ECT treatment methods, called calcium electroporation (CaEP), where conventional cytostatics have been replaced by calcium chloride (CaCl₂) solutions, which are commonly available. Simultaneously, calcium is involved in several ways of injured PMs' resealing [36]. The PM's integrity maintenance is a crucial process in terms of EP- based treatment methods. Therefore, in the presented study, the authors decided to examine the impact of extracellular Ca²⁺ on the effectiveness of calcium electrochemotherapy in the presence of the BPC effect. We have used 600 ns and 10 μ s pulses with 1 and 10 μ s interphase delays to study the BPC effect in the context of asymmetric pulses (both in terms of amplitude and duration). Moreover, two ESOPE-based protocols (ESOPE-1 and -2) with PEF strengths equal to 1.2 and 1.5 kV/cm, respectively, have been used for comparison.

In this study, the Authors presented new data on the interplay of positive and negative polarity pulses from different pulse duration ranges, which may be used to optimize electrochemotherapy protocols in the future.

2. Results

2.1. Calcium chloride (CaCl₂) concentration optimization

Fig. 1 presents the dependence of ovarian cancer cells' viability (MTT assay) on the concentration of extracellular Ca^{2+} . Cells' metabolic activity was assessed after 24 and 72 h of incubation of the cells in a growth medium including various concentrations of $CaCl_2$ (range 0.0 – 25 mM). The cells were not exposed to electric pulses.

According to the results obtained 24- and 72-hours post-incubation, the CaCl₂ concentration of 2.5 mM was defined as nontoxic and used for further experiments, which is in agreement with available literature reports [37,38].

2.2. Asymmetrical bipolar pulses reduce membrane permeabilization

Ovarian cancer (OvBH-1) cells' permeabilization with various PEF parameters was investigated by examination of the intracellular diffusion of the fluorescent membrane integrity marker (Yo-Pro-1TM) with and without added calcium (2.5 mM). The number of fluorescent cells (Yo-Pro-1TM positive) was scaling with the electric pulse parameters and expressed as '% of permeabilized cells' in Fig. 2. The controls included OvBH-1 cells, which were not exposed to electrical pulses and additional extracellular calcium ions (CTRL black) and cells not treated with electrical pulses but with the addition of 2.5 mM CaCl₂ (CTRL yellow). For comparison purposes and better knowledge consolidation,



Fig. 1. The OvBH-1 cell viability was measured by the MTT assay after 24 h and 72 h incubation in increasing CaCl₂ concentrations. Notes: (mean \pm SD) N = 3, **p* < 0.05, ** *p* < 0.01, *** *p* < 0.001, **** *p* < 0.0001 compared to control, # *p* < 0.05, ## *p* < 0.01, #### *p* < 0.001 compared between different incubation times.

Z. Łapińska et al.

Bioelectrochemistry 153 (2023) 108483



Fig. 2. Yo-Pro-1TM dye uptake following exposure to different unipolar and bipolar protocols. Two ESOPE protocols ($\uparrow 100 \ \mu$ s, 1.2 or 1.5 kV/cm) were used for comparison. ESOPE-1 and -2 pulses were delivered in a burst of 8 (1 Hz), while other protocols were delivered in a burst of 10 with predefined delays (1 or 10 μ s, marked in **red**); the delay 1 μ s marked by **green** color were used between consequent waveforms of short symmetrical or asymmetrical pulses. Notes: (mean \pm SD) N = 3, **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001, ****p* < 0.001 compared to control, #*p* < 0.05, ##*p* < 0.01, ###*p* < 0.001, ####*p* < 0.0001 compared between different electroporation conditions (with or w/o CaCl₂); **CTRL** – control.



Fig. 3. Yo-Pro-1TM dye uptake was measured by flow cytometer 5 min after OvBH-1 cells' exposure to bipolar protocol \uparrow 600 ns + \downarrow 10 µs including 0, 1, and 10 µs intervals between opposite polarity pulses. The results have been compared to the unipolar (UP) protocol (\uparrow 600 ns, 7.0 kV/cm); (**blue**) cells w/o CaCl₂ and the same protocol but with additional CaCl₂ [2.5 mM] (**red**). Notes: (mean \pm SD) N = 3, # *p* < 0.05, ## *p* < 0.01, ### *p* < 0.001, #### *p* < 0.0001 compared between different protocols. Yo-Pro-1TM uptake indicates the % of fluorescent cells (Yo-Pro-1TM positive).

Z. Łapińska et al.

conventional ESOPE-1 and -2 protocols with PEF intensity of 1.2 and 1.5 kV/cm, respectively, have been introduced.

The exposure of cells to symmetrical BP nsPEF resulted in a significant reduction of Yo-Pro-1TM fluorescence, indicating decreased membrane permeabilization. This effect was not detected for symmetrical BP µsPEF. Nevertheless, the application of the asymmetrical BP protocol ($\uparrow 600 \text{ ns} + \downarrow 10 \mu \text{s}$) still resulted in detectable cancellation effects (i.e., reduced membrane permeabilization).

The addition of a $1-10 \,\mu$ s delay between two pulses with an opposite polarity did not affect the cancellation phenomenon dramatically. In all cases, the BPC phenomenon was detectable, resulting in statistically significant differences when compared to the unipolar (UP) sequence. A detailed comparison is shown in Fig. 3.

It can be seen (Fig. 2 and Fig. 3) that extracellular calcium results in weaker permeabilization (at the same pulsing conditions) of ovarian cancer cells for all protocols except the symmetrical $\mu sPEF$ ($\uparrow 10 \ \mu s + \downarrow 10 \ \mu s$) and nsPEF ($\uparrow 600 \ ns + \downarrow 600 \ ns$). In these two instances, the effects of extracellular calcium on the permeabilization rate were not profound.

2.3. Cytotoxicity analysis of EP protocols

Then, the examination of the cytotoxicity of analyzed EP protocols was done. The results of the MTT assay 24- and 72 h post-electroporation are shown in Fig. 4.

Firstly, it should be noted that all reversible EP protocols w/o added CaCl2 did not trigger a high cell death rate. The group exposed to EP protocols with the addition of MiliQ water corresponding to the amount of added CaCl2 was included in the analysis as a control. The differences between w/o CaCl2 and MiliQ groups of cells are statistically nonsignificant. With an increase of amplitude (i.e., 1.5 kV/cm) electroporation is partly irreversible and the ESOPE-2 protocol resulted in < 20 % cell death (24 h post-treatment) and < 50 % 72 h post-treatment. In other parametric instances, electroporation was predominantly reversible (i.e., >75 % of cells survived after 72 h). Both nsEP protocols (SEO5: $\uparrow 600$ ns and 6: $\uparrow 600$ ns + $\downarrow 600$ ns) triggered similar toxicity, while significantly different Yo-Pro-1TM uptake rates (Fig. 2). The use of asymmetrical BP EP (SEQ1: \uparrow 600 ns + \downarrow 10 μ s) did not result in explicit differences when compared with other protocols. Similarly, the viability after non-ESOPE protocols is comparable with the ESOPE-1 sequence, while the differences in Yo-Pro-1TM uptake were significantly different. The BPC phenomenon did not result in a statistically significant increase in viability when bipolar pulses (both symmetrical or asymmetrical) were introduced or the differences were lost in the standard deviation of data.

The introduction of Ca²⁺ ions into the cells' environment significantly enhanced the cytotoxic activity of applied EP protocols indicating successful calcium electroporation. The BPC phenomenon was detectable for $\uparrow 600 \text{ ns} + \downarrow 600 \text{ ns}$ nsPEF, however, it's not the case for all other protocols. Even though the YP-uptake revealed significant differences in permeabilization rates due to BPC for asymmetrical protocols (nsPEF + μ sPEF), the cells still died after the treatment.

2.4. Nuclei and β -tubulin cytoskeleton staining

The fluorescent staining was performed 24 h after treatment to examine the morphological changes in OvBH-1 cells exposed to external electrical pulses and analyze the origin of the cells' viability loss. Fluorescence microscopy staining is presented in Figs. 5 and 6. The analysis has been performed for two groups of cells electroporated with or without the addition of 2.5 mM CaCl₂ using various EP protocols (refer to Fig. 7).

The cells in control samples formed elongated shapes and maintained a stable β -tubulin cytoskeleton. When electroporated using the ESOPE-1 ($\uparrow 100 \ \mu s$; 1.2 kV/cm) protocol, no changes in the cells' structure were observed. However, obtained results revealed shrinkage of cells exposed

to ESOPE-2, which may be observed as a concentration of β -tubulin (white arrows) at one point. The CaCl₂ addition resulted in the enhancement of this effect. Moreover, due to the high toxicity of CaCl₂ in combination with PEFs, the number of cells reduced dramatically in each probe after its addition. The exception was noted for protocol involving 100 µs, 1.2 kV/cm pulses. Interestingly, the structure of cells differs strongly between SEQ6 and 7. However, differences in the effects of these protocols were also observed during previous experiments (i.e. MTT assay).

Microtubules (MTs) are made up of pairs of α - and β -tubulin molecules arranged in 13 linear chains known as protofilaments, which come together to form a tubular structure with an approximate diameter of 25 nm [39]. This cylindrical structure forms a hollow tube that serves as a vital component of the cytoskeleton of eukaryotic cells. MTs originate from the centrosome, a structure located in proximity to the nucleus within animal cells, and subsequently extend outwardly toward the cellular periphery in a radial fashion. MTs after PEF exposure have not been studied so extensively compared to actin. Considering that, the Authors decided to examine the structure of the β -tubulin cytoskeleton in OvBH-1 after exposure to uni- and bipolar PEF protocols.

The results obtained as a result of the cells' staining 24 h after PEFs exposure shows the different structure of β -tubulin and changes in plasma membranes. The amount of cells on observed on cover sleeps after incubation time was relevant to cells' viability result (Fig. 4a). Control (CTRL; Fig. 5) presents the proper outward radiation (polymerization) of tubulin. The addition of CaCl₂ does not disturb this structure. Analyzing the obtained results, for OvBH-1 cells exposed to ESOPE-1 w/o and with CaCl₂ (2.5 mM), the cells' shrinkage is visible. The plasma membranes are slightly fragmented, forming small aggregates.

Considering SEQ1-3, the addition of 1 and 10 μ s interpulse delay, does not result in morphological changes, however, the addition of Ca²⁺ ions caused the shrinkage of cell membranes and their concentration around the cell nucleus (Figs. 5 and 6), as well as destabilization of β -tubulin fibers and their central accumulation in both SEQ2 and SEQ3 (including 10 and 1 μ s interpulse delays, respectively).

Comparing the UP SEQ5 (\uparrow 600 ns) and BP SEQ6 (\uparrow 600 ns + \downarrow 600 ns), the application of BP PEF resulted in mitigating the subtle changes that were observed with UP SEQ5. However, this trend is largely evident when considering these sequences with the addition of Ca²⁺. In the case of SEQ6, the cells are more elongated and the membrane structure is intact compared to SEQ5. Interestingly, this effects has not been observed for SEQ4 and SEQ7. After exposure to both PEFs cells represent similar undamaged morphology.

3. Discussion

Bipolar cancellation (BPC) is a newly discovered phenomenon that needs to be analyzed more deeply. Our findings on cells' survival and Yo-Pro- 1^{TM} uptake demonstrate that the exposition of cells to opposite polarity pulses reduces the extent of plasma membrane permeabilization without affecting cells' viability. The results presented herein demonstrate that the damage to the cell membrane triggered by 1600 nsEP application may be reduced by a following second pulse with the same amplitude and duration time but opposite polarity e.g., $\uparrow 600 \text{ ns} + \downarrow 600$ ns. Results of Yo-Pro-1TM uptake clearly show a significant decrease in the dye molecules uptake entering the membrane after the introduction of the second phase of nsEP compared to UP nsEP (SEQ5 and SEQ6) (Fig. 3). High cell survival rate can be noted for both sequences when the cells are exposed to PEF only without additional calcium (Fig. 4). Confocal microscopy data show that both protocols caused morphological changes in cells, however, these changes are less profound after BP nsEP application (Fig. 6). This kind of response is typical for BPC.

The first time, BPC was observed by Pakhomov et al. [30] and confirmed by Valdez et al. [12]. The exact molecular mechanism of BPC remains unclear and lacks mechanistic explanation, however, a wide

Z. Łapińska et al.



72 hours



Bioelectrochemistry 153 (2023) 108483

Fig. 4. The OvBH-1 cell viability was measured by the MTT assay (a) 24, and (b) 72 h after exposure to different electroporation protocols. The experiment was performed using three groups of cells, electroporated in buffer with or without CaCl₂ (2.5 mM) addition. The third (control) group consisted of cells electroporated in a buffer with the addition of MiliQ water corresponding to the amount of added CaCl2.Two ESOPE protocols (†100 $\mu s,\,1.2$ or 1.5 kV/cm) have been used for comparison. ESOPE-1 and -2 pulses have been delivered in a burst of 8 (1 Hz), while other protocols were delivered in a burst of 10 with predefined delays (1 or 10 $\mu s,$ marked in red); the delay 1 µs marked by green color have been used between consequent waveforms of short symmetrical or asymmetrical pulses. Notes: (mean \pm SD) N = 3, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001 compared to control, # p< 0.0001 compared between w/o Ca²⁺ (black #) and MiliQ (blue #) to 'with Ca2+, electroporation conditions.



Fig. 5. β-tubulin organization in OvBH-1. After exposure to different uni- or bipolar electrical pulses cells were plated onto coverslips and fixed with 4% formaldehyde after 24 h of incubation. Cells were labeled to visualize nuclei (**blue**), β-tubulin (**green**), and plasma membrane (**red**). Merged images are shown on the lowest panel.



Fig. 6. β-tubulin organization in OvBH-1 cells. After exposure to different uni- or bipolar electrical pulses cells were plated onto coverslips and fixed with 4% formaldehyde after 24 h of incubation. Cells were labeled to visualize nuclei (**blue**), β-tubulin (**green**), and plasma membrane (**red**). Merged images are shown on the lowest panel.

range of studies try to explain this phenomenon e.g., using molecular modeling [40]. Our data indicate that μ sBP EP (SEQ7) is as effective in causing membrane damage as UP using microsecond EP protocols (Fig. 2). Additionally, μ sBP pulses resulted in significantly higher cell death (after 24 h) compared to μ sUP pulses (Fig. 4), which supports the hypothesis that the BPC phenomenon is unique for nanosecond bipolar EP.

Ibey et al. pointed out that the remaining pulse duration above the indicated τ_{crit} is the time during which the number of pores increases (so-called holding time or passband) [32]. In the case of bipolar 600-ns pulses, a quick phase switch, where the membrane rapidly transitions

from depolarization to repolarization, reduces the passband and, consequently membrane permeabilization intensity. Taken together, both μ sEP protocols are effective in PM poration, nevertheless, the second and opposite polarity 600-ns pulse reduces the time of pores expansion in SEQ6. Elongating pulse duration to 10 μ s enables long passbands to occur, which causes substantial undisturbed pores expansion [32]. However, it should be noted that according to the available knowledge, the cells start to depolarize once again with the phase switch.

Several studies describe the influence of asymmetric BP protocols on the maintenance or reduction of the BPC phenomenon [12,41].


Fig. 7. The patterns of applied unipolar (UP) and bipolar (BP) pulses. The red color represents analyzed interphase intervals equal to 10 and 1 µs, respectively.

Applying a negative pulse longer than a positive one results in the reduction or complete elimination of the BPC effect. However, both articles focused on pulse duration \leq 900 ns. Considering the dependencies described above, in this work, we examined the effectiveness of asymmetrical bipolar protocol conjugating nano- and microsecond duration pulses (SEQ1; $\uparrow 600 \text{ ns} + \downarrow 10 \mu \text{s}$) on the BPC development. Obtained results indicated similar cell survival as for BP nsEP (Fig. 4). Of note, the asymmetrical SEQ1 caused statistically significant (p < 0.005) Yo-Pro-1TM uptake reduction compared to UP EP (SEQ4 and 5) (Fig. 2). The authors assume that the delivery of a longer 10 µs pulse with opposite polarity concededly reduced the passband of the first, shorter pulse, however, the duration time of the second pulse enables the pores' expansion, manifesting in higher (compared to SEO6) membrane poration. In conclusion, the addition of negative polarity, µs pulse may reduce the bioeffects triggered by the first positive polarity ns pulse. However, the emerging BPC phenomenon is weaker compared to those present after symmetrical BP nsEP.

During the design of the study, we speculated that the delay between the two asymmetrical pulses might have an impact on the cancellation process. Pakhomov et al. observed gradually diminishing the cancellation effects in CHO-K1 cells as the delay between pulses increased [30]. In their work, the interval between pulses were 0, 0.4, 1, and 10 μ s, which allowed them to grasp the reduction of the BPC effect. As the delay duration reached 10 µs between the opposite polarity pulses (6.4 kV/cm), the PM permeabilization became about the same as in the case of a unipolar pulse. When the applied electric field increased to 7.5 kV/ cm, the intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration was beyond the value obtained for the UP pulse. A similar tendency has been observed by Gianulis et al. using the same cell model, however, the authors used the 12 or 32 kV/ cm electric field and observed the reduction of BPC as the interpulse interval increased up to 50 µs [31]. Moreover, Orlacchio indicated that cancellation of the Yo-Pro-1TM uptake in the U87-MG cell line was observed only after bipolar pulses with no or very short delay < 30 ns (PEF up to 115 kV/cm) [42]. However, it should be noted that the studies described above have been focused on symmetrical bipolar pulses. In order to evaluate if the reversal of the effect is due to symmetry among the BP nsPEFs, we have exposed the OvBH-1 cell line to asymmetrical SEQ2 and 3, including 10 and 1 µs intervals, respectively. Obtained results indicated that BPC is present for asymmetrical electrical pulses involving both nsPEF and μ sPEF. Moreover, the introduction of 1 or 10 μ s delays between pulses with opposite polarity did not significantly affect this phenomenon. The same tendency has been observed for the cells electroporated with CaCl₂ (2.5 mM). Considering those findings, we may speculate that the duration time of applied interval between bipolar pulses may have a different impact on the BPC phenomenon occurrence depending on the type of the analyzed cells. Nevertheless, the results for symmetrical bipolar nsPEF obtained in this work show no controversy with already established knowledge about BPC [31].

As the last aspect of the presented research, we have examined the impact of the Ca^{2+} addition on the BPC effect. The intracellular transport of Ca^{2+} via electropores that occurred as a result of the application of the electrical pulse has been analyzed as an alternative for electrochemotherapy with cytotoxic drugs [34]. The addition of Ca^{2+} to EP buffer impeded the cell membrane permeabilization, except for the cells exposed to high-intensity bipolar symmetrical sequences (SEQ6 and 7). Reduced permeabilization in the presence of Ca^{2+} has been reported by Navickaite et al. [43,44] and thus agrees with established knowledge.

In the context of cell viability, a less toxic effect of BP nsPEF (SEQ6; \uparrow 600 ns + \downarrow 600 ns) has been detected due to BPC when compared to UP nsPEF (SEQ 5; \uparrow 600 ns), in both analyzed groups of cells. It should be noted, that while achieving the same level of membrane permeabilization as in SEQ4 (\uparrow 10 µs; Fig. 2), SEQ5 (\uparrow 600 ns) resulted in a significantly higher rate of cell survival (Fig. 4.) We speculate that it may be caused by the different sizes of the pores occurring after the application of µsPEF and nsPEF. In the case of the µsPEF, the bigger size of the pores and a more significant electrophoretic component enables higher diffusion of Ca²⁺, resulting in a lower survival rate.

Interestingly, in the case of SEQ1-4 and SEQ7 even though the measurements of the cells' membrane permeabilization have not been saturated, the MTT data revealed significantly lower survival rates (Fig. 4). The authors assume that the reason is the size of calcium chloride, which is considerably lower in comparison to the Yo-Pro-1 (630 Da) molecule. The main bioeffect of nsPEFs application is the nanometer-sized hydrophilic pores formation, which may be too small for detection by the uptake of conventional fluorescent dyes [45]. The results obtained in the presented study confirm this theory. In order to improve the sensitivity of cell membrane permeabilization detection,

Z. Łapińska et al.

 Ca^{2+} and Ba^{2+} ions can be used in future works, as it was proposed by Bo et al. [45].

4. Materials and methods

4.1. Ovarian cancer cells culturing and preparation

The experiments were performed in vitro on a human ovarian clear carcinoma cell line (OvBH-1). It was established at the Department of Clinical Immunology, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland, from ascitic fluid cells of a 54-year-old patient histopathologically diagnosed with ovarian clear cell adenocarcinoma. Morphological and phenotypic characterization, as well as OvBH-1's temperature sensitivity, has already been described by Bar et al. [46,47]. Cell culture in 25 or 75 cm² plastic flasks (Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark) was maintained at 37°C, 5 % CO2, and 95 % air humidity in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MI, USA) supplemented with 10 % Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MI, USA) 100 I.U./ mL penicillin, and 100 I.U./mL streptomycins (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MI, USA). Cells passages were carried out once a week when confluency was about 70-80 %, washing with Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline (DPBS; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MI, USA) and TrypLETM Express Enzyme (GIBCO; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). The culture medium was replaced 2-3 times a week.

4.2. Electric pulse exposure and PEF protocols

For electroporation, cells were trypsinized and centrifuged (5 min. \times 1500 rpm; Centrifuge 5430 R, Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany). Then the cells in the density of 2×10^6 cells/mL were suspended in HEPES EP buffer (10 mM HEPES (Lonza) \times 250 mM sucrose \times 1 mM MgCl₂ in sterile (MiliQ) water) or calcium chloride (CaCl₂) solution in HEPES EP buffer to 2.5 mM. The cells were placed in cuvettes with a 1 mm gap between electrodes (BTX, SyngenBiotech, Poland). BTX ECM 820 (Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, MA, USA) electric pulse generator was used to deliver ESOPE protocols, and a High-Frequency Bipolar Electroporator [48] for SEQ 1-7 was used to deliver symmetrical and asymmetrical shorter pulse sequences. ESOPE-1 and -2 protocols with an electric field equal to 1.2 and 1.5 kV/cm were used. The pulses were delivered in a burst of 8 with a repetition frequency of 1 Hz. Shorter microsecond and sub-microsecond pulses were delivered in a burst of 10 with a delay between separate waveforms of 1 µs. In the case of symmetrical and asymmetrical sequences, the delay between the positive and negative polarity of pulses was 0, 1, and 10 µs. The delays have been selected to account for the typical depolarization dynamics of cells in a low conductivity buffer, i.e., 0 µs to be in the supra-electroporation range, 1 µs to be on the edge of the typical cell depolarization time (partial depolarization), and 10 µs to grasp the BPC phenomenon when the cell had enough time to fully depolarize between the positive and negative phases of the pulse. The patterns of the applied UP and BP sequences are shown in Fig. 7.

4.3. Analysis of optimal CaCl₂ for OvBH-1 cell line

The cells were seeded on a 96-well plate with density 5×105 /mL and left overnight to attach. Calcium chloride (CaCl₂) stock solution (100 mM) was prepared in pure Mili-Q water. The work solutions (0.5–25 mM) were prepared using a cell growth medium (DMEM). After overnight incubation, the culture medium was replaced by those including analyzed amounts of CaCl2. Cells were then incubated with the compound for 24 and 72 h, 37°C, 5 % CO₂. Then, the MTT assay was performed to examine the activity of mitochondria as an amount of MTT dye converted to formazan crystals. Subsequently, after incubation, the culture medium was replaced by 100 μ L of 0.5 mg/mL MTT (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MI, USA) reagent at 37°C, 5 % CO₂ for 2 h. Then, formazan crystals were dissolved by adding 100 μ L of acidified

isopropanol (38 % HCl in 99.7 % isopropanol). Finally, the absorbance was measured at a wavelength equal to 570 nm using the multiplate reader (GloMax® Discover Microplate Reader, Promega, Walldorf, Germany).

4.4. Cells permeability quantification

The efficiency of electroporation protocols was assessed by the amount of the green-fluorescent dye Yo-ProTM-1 ($\lambda_{exc}491/\lambda_{em}509$, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Warsaw, Poland) absorbed by the cell. Prior to the electric pulse application, cells were trypsinized and suspended in HEPES \pm CaCl₂ EP buffer, and 100 µL/L Yo-ProTM-1 was added to the cells' suspension. After EP, cells were incubated for 5 min., room temperature (RT), then centrifuged and suspended in 400 µL 0.9 % NaCl saline solution for measurements in polystyrene FACS tubes, 300 µL/sample were measured in triplicates. The samples were excited using the 488 nm line of the blue laser, and the fluorescence of the dye was measured with an FL-1 detector. The control samples without treatment were used as a negative control for gate definition. After permeabilization, depending on the applied protocol, a fluorescent spectrum shift due to dye uptake was observed. Flow cytometric analysis was performed using CyFlow CUBE-6 flow cytometer (Sysmex, Poland).

4.5. Analysis of cells viability after PEFs protocols application

PEFs protocols were performed according to the procedure described in paragraph 4.2. After pulsing, the cells were seeded on 96-well plates with a density of 5×10^5 /mL, incubated at room temperature (RT) for 10 min. Then, the growth medium (DMEM) was added to all analyzed groups of cells and cells were incubated at 37°C, 5 % CO₂, and 95 % air humidity for 24 and 72 h. After incubation, the culture medium was removed, and the MTT reagent was at 37°C, 5 % CO₂ for 2 h. The MTT assay was performed accordingly to the procedure described in section 4.3. The results have been expressed as a percentage of viable cells relative to cells untreated with electric pulses.

4.6. β -Tubulin staining

The cells were electroporated as it was described in paragraph 4.2. Subsequently, the cells were seeded on glass coverslips $(2 \times 10^6/mL)$ placed in 6 well plates (in density analyzed on the basis of cell viability results), and incubated for 10 min., RT. Then, the growth medium (DMEM) was added to all analyzed group of cells and the incubation for 24 h at 37 oC, 5 % CO2 took place. After that time, the growth medium was removed and cells attached to slides were fixed using 4 % paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS (BioShop, dist. Lab Empire, Rzeszow, Poland) for 10 min., RT. Cells permeabilization was performed by 1 % Triton X-100 in PBS (v/v) for 10 min., RT, and blocked with 1 % Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) in PBS for 1 h, 37 °C, 5 % CO₂. Then cells were incubated for 1 h, 37 °C, 5 % CO_2 with primary antibody, anti- β -tubulin (1:300, Cat. #ab108342, Abcam, UK) diluted in PBS. Subsequently, samples were washed with PBS three times and incubated with Goat anti-Rabbit IgG coupled to Atto 488 (1:200, Cat. #18772, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MI, USA) for 1 h at 37 °C, 5 % CO2 followed by further three washes in PBS. For the nuclei visualization and cell mounting FluorshieldTM (Cat. #F6057, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MI, USA) with DAPI (4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole) was applied. The samples were observed using Olympus FluoView FV1000 confocal laser scanning microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan). Eight images (n = 8) for each slide (i.e. each parameter) were taken to cover the entire microscope slide area for analysis. Figs. 5 and 6 show representative images that capture the structure of 70-80 % of the cells present on each slide.

4.7. Statistical analysis

The experiments were performed in 3 replicates. The statistical

Z. Łapińska et al.

analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software Inc, San Diego, CA, USA). Data are expressed as mean \pm SD (standard deviation) of the mean and were analyzed by two-way ANOVA (analysis of variance), with p < 0.05 being considered statistically significant. Sidak's multiple comparison test for the evaluation of the difference was used when ANOVA indicated a statistically significant result and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

5. Conclusions

In the presented study, the authors show the BPC effect presence after exposure of ovarian clear carcinoma cell line to asymmetrical ($\uparrow 600 \text{ ns} + \downarrow 10 \mu \text{s}$) PEF protocols. The obtained results enable us to confirm the presence of BPC even for pulses from different duration ranges. It implies that in the case of asymmetrical sequences, the cancellation phenomenon is not limited to nsPEF protocols. Also, it was shown that the BPC effect is present even when the cells had enough time (10 μs) to depolarize between the positive and negative phases of the symmetrical and asymmetrical pulses.

Funding

Funding was provided by the Polish National Science Centre of DAINA 2 (2020/38/L/NZ7/00342; PI: J. Kulbacka), and the Research Council of Lithuania grant (Nr. S-LL-21-4, PI: V. Novickij).

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests: 'Julita Kulbacka reports financial support was provided by National Science Centre Poland. Vitalij Novickij reports financial support was provided by Research Council of Lithuania.'

Data availability

No data was used for the research described in the article.

References

- [1] C. Yao, Y. Mi, X. Hu, C. Li, C. Sun, J. Tang, X. Wu, Experiment and mechanism research of SKOV3 cancer cell apoptosis induced by nanosecond pulsed electric field, in: Proc. 30th Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc. EMBS'08 -"Personalized Healthc. through Technol., 2008, pp. 1044–1047, doi:10.1109/ iembs.2008.4649338.
- [2] L.M. Mir, S. Orlowski, J. Belehradek, C. Paoletti, Electrochemotherapy potentiation of antitumour effect of bleomycin by local electric pulses, Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol. 27 (1991) 68–72, https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-5379(91)90064-K.
- [3] F. Landström, S. Kristiansson, J. Reizenstein, The role of electrochemotherapy in curative treatment of head and neck cancer and advanced skin cancer: a need for new treatment protocols? Anticancer Res. 41 (2021) 3977–3982, https://doi.org/ 10.21873/anticanres.15194.
- [4] P. Strojan, A. Grošelj, G. Serša, C.C. Plaschke, J.B. Vermorken, S. Nuyts, R. de Bree, A. Eisbruch, W.M. Mendenhall, R. Smee, et al., Electrochemotherapy in mucosal cancer of the head and neck: a systematic review, Cancers (Basel) 13 (2021) 1–15, https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13061254.
- [5] L.G. Campana, B. Peric, M. Mascherini, R. Spina, C. Kunte, E. Kis, P. Rozsa, P. Quaglino, R.P. Jones, A.J.P. Clover, et al., Combination of pembrolizumab with electrochemotherapy in cutaneous metastases from melanoma: a comparative retrospective study from the inspect and slovenian cancer registry, Cancers (Basel) 13 (2021) 1–13, https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13174289.
- [6] H. Spallek, P. Bischoff, W. Zhou, F. De Terlizzi, F. Jakob, Percutaneous electrochemotherapy in primary and secondary liver malignancies – local tumor control and impact on overall survival, Radiol. Oncol. 56 (2022) 102–110, https:// doi.org/10.2478/raon-2022-0003.
- [7] B. Trotovšek, M. Djokić, M. Čemažar, G. Serša, New era of electrochemotherapy in treatment of liver tumors in conjunction with immunotherapies, World J. Gastroenterol. 27 (2021) 8216–8226, https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v27.i48.8216.
- [8] O. Kozak, S. Hać, J. Pieńkowska, M. Studniarek, Benefitial role of electrochemotherapy in locally advanced pancreatic cancer – radiological perspective, Polish J. Radiol. 87 (2022) 30–42.
- [9] F. Izzo, V. Granata, R. Fusco, V. D'alessio, A. Petrillo, S. Lastoria, M. Piccirillo, V. Albino, A. Belli, G. Nasti, et al., A multicenter randomized controlled prospective study to assess efficacy of laparoscopic electrochemotherapy in the

Bioelectrochemistry 153 (2023) 108483

treatment of locally advanced pancreatic cancer, J Clin. Med. 10 (2021), https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10174011.

- [10] R. Cadossi, M. Ronchetti, M. Cadossi, Locally enhanced chemotherapy by electroporation: clinical experiences and perspective of use of electrochemotherapy, Futur. Oncol. 10 (2014) 877–890, https://doi.org/10.2217/ fon.13.235.
- [11] T. Batista Napotnik, M. Reberšek, P.T. Vernier, B. Mali, D. Miklavčić, Effects of high voltage nanosecond electric pulses on eucaryotic cells (in vitro): a systematic review, Bioelectrochemistry 110 (2016) 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bioelechem.2016.02.011.
- [12] C.M. Valdez, R.A. Barnes, C.C. Roth, E.K. Moen, G.A. Throckmorton, B.L. Ibey, Asymmetrical bipolar nanosecond electric pulse widths modify bipolar cancellation, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-16142-6.
- [13] G.L. Thompson, C.C. Roth, D.R. Dalzell, M.A. Kuipers, B.L. Ibey, Calcium influx affects intracellular transport and membrane repair following nanosecond pulsed electric field exposure, J. Biomed. Opt. 19 (2014) 1, https://doi.org/10.1117/1. jbo.19.5.055005.
- [14] G.L. Thompson, C.C. Roth, M.A. Kuipers, G.P. Tolstykh, H.T. Beier, B.L. Ibey, Permeabilization of the nuclear envelope following nanosecond pulsed electric field exposure, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 470 (2016) 35–40, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.12.092.
- [15] T.B. Napotnik, Y.H. Wu, M.A. Gundersen, D. Miklavčić, P.T. Vernier, Nanosecond electric pulses cause mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in Jurkat cells, Bioelectromagnetics 33 (2012) 257–264, https://doi.org/10.1002/bem.20707.
- [16] I. Semenov, S. Xiao, O.N. Pakhomova, A.G. Pakhomov, Recruitment of the intracellular Ca2+ by ultrashort electric stimuli: the impact of pulse duration, Cell Calcium 54 (2013) 145–150, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2013.05.008.
- [17] I. Semenov, S. Xiao, A.G. Pakhomov, Primary pathways of intracellular Ca2 + mobilization by nanosecond pulsed electric field, Biochim. Biophys. Acta -Biomembr. 1828 (2013) 981–989, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamem.2012.11.032.
- [18] G.L. Craviso, S. Choe, P. Chatterjee, I. Chatterjee, P.T. Vernier, Nanosecond electric pulses: a novel stimulus for triggering Ca2+ influx into chromaffin cells via voltage-gated Ca2+ channels, Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 30 (2010) 1259–1265, https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10571-010-9573-1.
- [19] P.T. Vernier, Y. Sun, M.T. Chen, M.A. Gundersen, G.L. Craviso, Nanosecond electric pulse-induced calcium entry into chromaffin cells, Bioelectrochemistry 73 (2008) 1–4, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2008.02.003.
- [20] A.G. Pakhomov, E. Gudvangen, S. Xiao, I. Semenov, Interference targeting of bipolar nanosecond electric pulses for spatially focused electroporation, electrostimulation, and tissue ablation, Bioelectrochemistry 141 (2021), 107876, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2021.107876.
- [21] A.G. Pakhomov, S. Xiao, O.N. Pakhomova, I. Semenov, M.A. Kuipers, B.L. Ibey, Disassembly of actin structures by nanosecond pulsed electric field is a downstream effect of cell swelling, Bioelectrochemistry 100 (2014) 88–95, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2014.01.004.
- [22] M.A. Rassokhin, A.G. Pakhomov, Electric field exposure triggers and guides formation of pseudopod-like blebs in U937 monocytes, J. Membr. Biol. 245 (2012) 521–529, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-012-9433-7.
- [23] S.J. Beebe, P.M. Fox, L.J. Rec, E.L.K. Willis, K.H. Schoenbach, Nanosecond, highintensity pulsed electric fields induce apoptosis in human cells, FASEB J. 17 (2003) 1493–1495, https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.02-0859fje.
- [24] O.N. Pakhomova, B.W. Gregory, I. Semenov, A.G. Pakhomov, Two modes of cell death caused by exposure to nanosecond pulsed electric field, PLoS One 8 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070278.
- [25] J.C. Ullery, M. Tarango, C.C. Roth, B.L. Ibey, Activation of autophagy in response to nanosecond pulsed electric field exposure, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 458 (2015) 411–417, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.01.131.
- [26] T. Kotnik, G. Pucihar, M. Reberšek, D. Miklavčič, L.M. Mir, Role of pulse shape in cell membrane electropermeabilization, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 1614 (2003) 193–200, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-2736(03)00173-1.
- [27] E. Tekle, R.D. Astumian, P.B. Chock, Electroporation by using bipolar oscillating electric field: an improved method for DNA transfection of NIH 3T3 cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 88 (1991) 4230–4234, https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.88.10.4230.
- [28] T. Kotnik, D. Miklavčič, L.M. Mir, Cell membrane electropermeabilization by symmetrical bipolar rectangular pulses, Bioelectrochemistry 54 (2001) 91–95, https://doi.org/10.1016/s1567-5394(01)00115-3.
- [29] A. Rolong, E.M. Schmelz, R.V. Davalos, High-frequency irreversible electroporation targets resilient tumor-initiating cells in ovarian cancer, Integr. Biol. (United Kingdom) 9 (2017) 979–987, https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ib00116a.
- [30] A.G. Pakhomov, I. Semenov, S. Xiao, O.N. Pakhomova, B. Gregory, K. H. Schoenbach, J.C. Ullery, H.T. Beier, S.R. Rajulapati, B.L. Ibey, Cancellation of cellular responses to nanoelectroporation by reversing the stimulus polarity, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 71 (2014) 4431–4441, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-014-1626-z.
- Mol. Life Sci. 71 (2014) 4431–4441, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-014-1626-z.
 [31] E.C. Gianulis, M. Casciola, S. Xiao, O.N. Pakhomova, A.G. Pakhomov, Electropermeabilization by uni- or bipolar nanosecond electric pulses: The impact of extracellular conductivity, Bioelectrochemistry 119 (2018) 10–19, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2017.08.005.
- [32] B.L. Ibey, J.C. Ullery, O.N. Pakhomova, C.C. Roth, I. Semenov, H.T. Beier, M. Tarango, S. Xiao, K.H. Schoenbach, A.G. Pakhomov, Bipolar nanosecond electric pulses are less efficient at electropermeabilization and killing cells than monopolar pulses, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 443 (2014) 568–573, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.12.004.

Z. Łapińska et al.

- [33] C.M. Valdez, R. Barnes, C.C. Roth, E. Moen, B. Ibey, The interphase interval within a bipolar nanosecond electric pulse modulates bipolar cancellation, Bioelectromagnetics 39 (2018) 441–450, https://doi.org/10.1002/bem.22134.
- [34] S.K. Frandsen, H. Gissel, P. Hojman, T. Tramm, J. Eriksen, J. Gehl, Direct therapeutic applications of calcium electroporation to effectively induce tumor necrosis, Cancer Res. 72 (2012) 1336–1341, https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-11-3782.
- [35] S.K. Frandsen, M. Vissing, J. Gehl, A comprehensive review of calcium electroporation —a novel cancer treatment modality, Cancers (Basel). 12 (2020) 1–21.
- [36] P.E. Bunney, A.N. Zink, A.A. Holm, C.J. Billington, C.M. Kotz, Orexin activation counteracts decreases in nonexercise activity thermogenesis (NEAT) caused by high-fat diet, Physiol. Behav. 176 (2017) 139–148, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. physheb 2017 03 040
- [37] L.F. Tremble, C.C.B.B. Heffron, P.F. Forde, The effect of calcium electroporation on viability, phenotype and function of melanoma conditioned macrophages, Sci. Rep. 10 (2020) 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-77743-2.
- [38] Z. Łapińska, M. Dębiński, A. Szewczyk, A. Choromańska, J. Kulbacka, J. Saczko, Electrochemotherapy with calcium chloride and 17β-estradiol modulated viability and apoptosis pathway in human ovarian cancer, Pharmaceutics 13 (2021) 1–17, https://doi.org/10.3390/PHARMACEUTICS13010019.
- [39] G.J. Brouhard, L.M. Rice, Microtubule dynamics: an interplay of biochemistry and mechanics, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 19 (2018) 451–463, https://doi.org/10.1038/ S41580-018-0009-Y.
- [40] T.R. Gowrishankar, J.V. Stern, K.C. Smith, J.C. Weaver, Nanopore occlusion: a biophysical mechanism for bipolar cancellation in cell membranes, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 503 (2018) 1194–1199, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbrc.2018.07.024.
- [41] A.G. Pakhomov, S. Grigoryev, I. Semenov, M. Casciola, C. Jiang, S. Xiao, The second phase of bipolar, nanosecond-range electric pulses determines the

Bioelectrochemistry 153 (2023) 108483

electroporation efficiency, Bioelectrochemistry 122 (2018) 123-133, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2018.03.014.

- [42] R. Orlacchio, L. Carr, C. Palego, D. Arnaud-Cormos, P. Leveque, High-voltage 10 ns delayed paired or bipolar pulses for in vitro bioelectric experiments, Bioelectrochemistry 137 (2021), 107648, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bioelechem.2020.107648.
- [43] D. Navickaite, P. Ruzgys, V. Novickij, M. Jakutaviciute, M. Maciulevicius, R. Sinceviciute, S. Satkauskas, Molecule electrotransfer efficiency: comparison between microsecond and nanosecond electric pulses, Pharmaceutics 12 (2020) 1–18.
- [44] D. Navickaitė, P. Ruzgys, M. Maciulevičius, G. Dijk, R.P. O'Connor, S. Šatkauskas, Ca2+ roles in electroporation-induced changes of cancer cell physiology: from membrane repair to cell death, Bioelectrochemistry 142 (2021), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2021.107927.
- [45] W. Bo, M. Silkunas, U. Mangalanathan, V. Novickij, M. Casciola, I. Semenov, S. Xiao, O.N. Pakhomova, A.G. Pakhomov, Probing nanoelectroporation and resealing of the cell membrane by the entry of Ca2+ and Ba2+ Ions, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21 (2020), https://doi.org/10.3390/jims21093386.
 [46] J.K. Bar, A. Harlozinska, Morphological and phenotypic characterization of a new
- [46] J.K. Bar, A. Harlozinska, Morphological and phenotypic characterization of a new established ovarian carcinoma cell line (OvBH-1), Anticancer Res. 20 (2000) 2975–2980.
- [47] J.K. Bar, A. Haroziska, S. Kartarius, M. Montenarh, E. Wyrodek, J.M.R. Parkitna, M. Kochman, A. Ozyhar, Temperature-sensitive ovarian carcinoma cell line (OvBH-1), Jpn. J. Cancer Res. 93 (2002) 976–985, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2002.tb02473.x.
- [48] V. Novickij, G. Staigvila, A. Murauskas, N. Rembialkowska, J. Kulbacka, J. Novickij, High frequency bipolar electroporator with double-crowbar circuit for load-independent forming of nanosecond pulses, Appl. Sci. 12 (2022), https://doi. org/10.3390/app12031370.

<u>Tytuł</u>

"Electroporation and electrochemotherapy in gynecological and breast cancer treatment"

<u>Autorzy</u>

Łapińska Zofia, Szwedowicz Urszula, Choromańska Anna, Saczko Jolanta

Czasopismo

Molecules (2022, vol. 27, nr 8, art.2476 [32 s.], DOI:10.3390/molecules27082476)

<u>Punktacja</u>

Impact Factor: 4,6 MNiSW: 140





Electroporation and Electrochemotherapy in Gynecological and Breast Cancer Treatment

Zofia Łapińska *0, Urszula Szwedowicz, Anna Choromańska 💿 and Jolanta Saczko

Department of Molecular and Cellular Biology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Wroclaw Medical University, Borowska 211A, 50-556 Wroclaw, Poland; urszula.szwedowicz@student.umw.edu.pl (U.S.); anna.choromanska@umw.edu.pl (A.C.); jolanta.saczko@umw.edu.pl (J.S.) * Correspondence: zofia.lapinska@student.umw.edu.pl

Abstract: Gynecological carcinomas affect an increasing number of women and are associated with poor prognosis. The gold standard treatment plan is mainly based on surgical resection and subsequent chemotherapy with cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil, anthracyclines, or taxanes. Unfortunately, this treatment is becoming less effective and is associated with many side effects that negatively affect patients' physical and mental well-being. Electroporation based on tumor exposure to electric pulses enables reduction in cytotoxic drugs dose while increasing their effectiveness. EP-based treatment methods have received more and more interest in recent years and are the subject of a large number of scientific studies. Some of them show promising therapeutic potential without using any cytotoxic drugs or molecules already present in the human body (e.g., calcium electroporation). This literature review aims to present the fundamental mechanisms responsible for the course of EP-based therapies and the current state of knowledge in the field of their application in the treatment of gynecological neoplasms.

Keywords: gynecological cancer; breast cancer; electrochemotherapy; electroporation; calcium electroporation

1. Introduction

Despite growing awareness, screening, and intensive research into developing new therapeutic strategies, cancer remains one of the leading causes of death globally, and the number of diagnosed cases is increasing every year [1–4].

Gynecological cancers (GCs) are defined as those that originate in women's various reproductive organs and affect women mainly in the age range of 30–75 years [5,6]. The most aggressive GCs encompass cervical, ovarian, and endometrial neoplasms [6]. Each of them is characterized by individual risk factors, epidemiology, molecular pathways, symptoms, and treatment strategies. According to the significant heterogeneity of this group of malignancies, the use of different diagnostic and treatment combinations is necessary [7]. The first-line treatment for a major group of GCs includes chemotherapy (CT) which is associated with significant side effects. The fact that a wide range of patients are diagnosed when the disease is in an advanced stage of development, and the treatment methods for progressive GCs remain limited, means that gynecological neoplasms are associated with a high mortality rate (Figure 1).

It was decided to also consider therapeutic strategies for breast cancer (BC) in the presented review. This is because, despite BC not being categorized in the GC group, it has a considerable impact on women's lives. According to WHO (World Health Organization) statistical data, in 2020, BC had a worldwide incidence of ~2.3 million new cases and a mortality rate of nearly 700,000 deaths [1].



Citation: Łapińska, Z.; Szwedowicz, U.; Choromańska, A.; Saczko, J. Electroporation and Electrochemotherapy in Gynecological and Breast Cancer Treatment. *Molecules* **2022**, *27*, 2476. https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules27082476

Academic Editors: David Barker and Iola F. Duarte Ciceco

Received: 5 February 2022 Accepted: 10 April 2022 Published: 12 April 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).



total: 9 227 484





b.



Figure 1. Graphs present reported Globocan 2020 data. (a) the number of new cases and (b) deaths in 2020 for women aged 0-85+ [8].

Forecasts for 2040 almost double these numbers. Therefore, considering all the issues referred to above, there is an urgent need to look for new and more effective solutions that will help eliminate, among others, the issue of multi-drug resistance of neoplasms and to reduce the number of side-effects affecting patients [4]. Hope has been provided by treatment methods based on the phenomenon of EP, which has been developing rapidly in recent years. EP-based therapies are already used to treat cutaneous and subcutaneous

tumors and deep-seated tumors [9–13]. Their application to gynecological and breast carcinomas is still under development and requires further investigation. However, in the presented review, we have sought to summarize current knowledge and progress made.

2. Electroporation and Electroporation-Based Treatments in Oncology

2.1. The Brief Theory of Electroporation

Electroporation (EP) is a biophysical phenomenon based on the use of pulsed electric fields (PEFs) resulting in increased plasma membrane (PM) permeability. Kotnik et al. have rightly pointed out that the narrower term 'electroporation' and the more general 'electropermeabilization' are often misused as synonyms [14]. For a detailed explanation of this issue, please refer to the mentioned review. EP has found application in a wide range of disciplines, including the food industry [15], biotechnology [16,17], and medicine [12,18–20]. In 1982, Neumann et al. demonstrated that the use of EP to temporarily increase plasma membrane permeability enabled the transport of DNA or ordinarily non-permeable molecules, e.g., cytotoxic drugs, into the cell's interior [21]. This paper initiated the medical application and broader study of EP. In later years, both techniques gained popularity under the names gene electrotransfer (GET) and electrochemotherapy (ECT), respectively [22,23]. These and other treatment solutions based on EP are precisely described in the following sections of the review.

Even though the exact mechanism of EP has not yet been fully elucidated, several hypotheses describing the events underlying this phenomenon have been proposed, including conformational changes of the phospholipid bilayer [24–28], its phase transition [29], denaturation of membrane proteins [30], and lipid oxidation affecting a wide range of PM properties [24,25,31]. However, scientists have come to a consensus that cell exposure to high-amplitude electric fields of sufficient duration results in the spontaneous formation of aqueous nanopores in PMs [14,18,32–34]. Furthermore, there is growing evidence that exposure to electrical impulses leads to chemical changes in lipids and membrane protein functions, resulting in increased membrane permeability [14].

Physiologically, every cell maintains a resting transmembrane voltage (TMV) ranging from -70 to -40 mV [14]. This term describes an electric potential difference between the inner and outer spaces of the PM, resulting from the action of the ion pumps and channels located in the PM, e.g., Na⁺ and K⁺ active and passive transport. When the cell is exposed to an external electric field, an induced transmembrane voltage (iTMV), denoted by $\Delta \Psi_m$, occurs that is proportional to the strength of the external electric field and exists as long as the field is present [35].

The iTMV value for regularly shaped cells (spheroids, cylinders, etc.) with a nonconductive membrane, and which are sufficiently distant from each other, can be expressed by an explicit formula, referred to as Schwan's equation [18]:

$\Delta \Psi_{\rm m} = f E R \cos\theta \left(1 - e^{-t/\tau}\right)$

where $\Delta \Psi_{\rm m}$ is the induced transmembrane voltage, *f* is a dimensionless factor, *E* is the homogeneous electric field strength, *R* is the cell radius, θ is the angle measured from the center of the cell concerning the direction of the field, *t* is the time elapsed since the onset of the field, and τ is the time constant of membrane charging.

The application of a series of fields of adequate strength causes the occurrence of transmembrane voltages far exceeding the cell's physiological range [14,36,37]. The effects of this event are rearrangements in the phospholipid bilayer and the formation of nanopores, as mentioned above. Ordinarily, a series of rectangular electrical pulses are applied to permeabilize the cell membrane [38]. The general scheme of the EP process is shown graphically in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Conceptual scheme of electroporation/electrochemotherapy mechanism [14,39,40].

There are two types of EP, depending on pulse duration, electric field intensity, and cell features (e.g., size, membrane curvature) [25]. Aguilar et al. refer to a "two-threshold existence". The former is the iTMV, beyond which the phenomenon of reversible electroporation (RE) occurs. Cells can repair and close the formatted pores, reestablish metabolism over time and survive [41]. RE enables the enhanced transport of medications, gene material, small exogenous proteins, etc., without significantly affecting cell viability. The second critical iTMV is the transmembrane potential value beyond which RE becomes irreversible (IRE) [25]. It should be noted that the critical iTMV value is cell-specific. Disturbances occurring in the PM are irreversible for the cell, affecting its homeostasis and ultimately resulting in cell death. Both methods are used in clinical practice and are described more fully in the following subsections.

Depending on the duration of the pulses, three main types of EP protocol may be distinguished: nanosecond, microsecond, and millisecond [42]. The main principle is identical for all of them and is based on the PEFs used to increase the CM permeability. However, the protocols differ in their electric field parameters, influence on targeted cells or tissues, and their range of applications in clinical settings.

Nanosecond pulsed electric field (nsPEF), also known as nanopulse stimulation, is an intensely analyzed anticancer technology [42]. This technique is based on the use of external, ultrashort (nanosecond duration), and high-voltage (kV/cm) pulses [43,44], and is characterized by low energy and non-thermal effects [45]. The primary mechanism is similar to the other PEF methods mentioned above. However, the chain of events linking the initial events occurring after nsPEF application, e.g., membrane permeabilization, with the final effects, is still not fully understood [46]. nsPEFs lead to non-stable nanoscale pores forming in the plasma membrane [47]; however, unlike other PEF methods, nanopulse stimulation can induce extra- and intracellular membrane penetration [42]. This is caused by the fact that the pulse rise time reaches full amplitude before intracellular or intraorganellar charges can redistribute it to cancel the applied field [42]. In other words, the pulse duration is shorter than the cellular membrane charging time constant [44]. The effects of this phenomenon include the following, among others: activation of signaling pathways [48,49], calcium release from the affected endoplasmic reticulum [50], dissipation of mitochondria membrane potential [51,52], cytoskeleton destruction [46,53], cell swelling and blebbing [54], and induction of cell apoptosis or necrosis [55–58]. Some articles have reported that nsPEFs induce platelet aggregation [59], and bacterial cells exposed to nsPEFs show lethal and sublethal effects [60].

For cells characterized by irregular shape and which are closely grouped, iTMV cannot be determined analytically, and numerical solutions must be applied [18,36,61]. An alternative involves the use of potentiometric dye [62,63]. During the application of EP-based technologies to biological tissues, their passive electric properties, such as permittivity and conductivity, should be considered [64]. Both depend on the attached electric field frequency. However, tissue permittivity is inversely proportional to the frequency value, not conductivity. Moreover, when CM reaches a state of permeabilization, its conductivity increases, due to deeper structures being electroporated by pulses of lower strength [65].

Tissues are significantly heterogeneous structures, and cells characterized by different sizes, shapes, and functions may be suspended in a more minor (e.g., epithelial tissue), or larger (e.g., bones), the volume of the extracellular matrix [64]. Moreover, tissue is surrounded by elaborate blood vessels and nerves; hence, it is difficult to anticipate their EP effects. Miklavčič et al. point out that some tissues (e.g., bone or skeletal muscle) are distinctly anisotropic; therefore, during the analysis of conductivity and permittivity values, the orientation of the electrodes relative to the tissue axis (e.g., longitudinal, transverse, or their combination) needs to be checked [64]. In fiber-organized tissues (e.g., muscles), longitudinal conductivity is significantly higher than transverse conductivity. This is because in transverse electrode orientation, the charge must overcome the extracellular matrix, which has a lower conductivity compared to cells. Moreover, tissue anisotropy is frequency-dependent, and, above a certain threshold, the anisotropic properties disappear (for muscles, in the MHz frequency range). This process, and the mechanism of tissue electrical property changes depending on illness and physiological deprivations, have been thoroughly described by Miklavčič et al. [64].

Given the circumstances described above, each aspect should be considered individually for every patient during treatment planning. Clinicians use computer simulation tools to select the appropriate electrodes, plan their placement in the targeted tissue, calculate the electric field temperature distribution, and develop the optimal protocol [66–68].

Technologies that enable the observation of electroporated tissue include electrical impedance tomography (EIT) [69,70] and magnetic resonance electrical impedance tomography (MREIT) [71]. Changes occurring after EP-based therapy can also be observed by computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [72].

2.2. Irreversible Electroporation (IRE)

Irreversible electroporation (IRE) is a physical, non-thermal cancer therapy that leads to cell death via permanent membrane permeability [73] and was first proposed as a novel ablation method by Davalos et al. in 2005 [74]. As described above, the primary mechanism of IRE is based on irreversible PEF use characterized by the strength significantly exceeding a permeabilization critical threshold value [25,74]. Cells exposed to this kind of PEF are not able to restore the original plasma membrane conformation and enter the path of cell death.

Ablation areas created by IRE are characterized by clear, well-defined boundaries, which allow precise control of the ablation zone and non-ablated tissue [75]. One of the significant advantages of IRE is that it does not require the presence of chemotherapeutic drugs [74]. This is important given the current need to reduce the number of undesirable side effects and to limit the off-target toxicity associated with conventional cancer therapies. Weaver et al. point out that IRE maintains high efficiency in tumor areas conveniently located in blood vessels that provide cooling and are not limited by the heat sink effect [38,76]. As a result, IRE is a method that effectively destroys neoplastic cells that could otherwise survive treatment with other thermal ablation methods used. Moreover, literature reports suggest that, unlike other thermal ablation technologies, IRE does not lead to the destruction of connective tissue or denaturation of collagenous and other protein and/or lipid-based structures and may

be applied to the treatment of tumors localized closely to essential structures, such as bile ducts [32,77–80].

Zhang et al. have thoroughly summarized the local and systemic immune response mechanisms induced by IRE [81]. It has been shown that IRE causes the significant release of intracellular tumor antigens, becoming an "in situ tumor vaccine." This observation may be used to generate an anti-tumor immune response that destroys tumor cells after ablation. This could reduce local recurrence and would also eliminate distant metastases. In light of this, Zhang et al. suggest that IRE may be regarded as a potential immunomodulatory therapy and that its combination with immunotherapy may result in synergistic effects, potentially widening the field of application of the IRE method in the clinic [81].

It has been suggested that the mechanism underlying the ability of IRE to affect only metastatic cells membranes is related to transmembrane voltage [82–84]. The iTMV of cancer and non-cancer cells depolarizes during proliferation, reaching a value of -15 mV. The non-cancer cell TMV value returns to -70 mV after mitotic division, in contrast to cancer cells, where the value reaches -25 mV, so the TMV is required to reach iTMV, and the critical threshold of permeabilization, is lower compared to non-cancer cells. It may be caused by the disruption of PM lipids and sterol construction and the consequential influx of sodium ions (Na⁺) into the interior of the cell with negative charge accumulation [84]. Almost a year later, Blackiston reported that modifications in chloride, sodium, potassium, and calcium channel activity also impact depolarized cancer cell TMV [85].

In recent years, the use of IRE in the clinic has increased significantly, which is reflected in the high number of clinical trials conducted using this technology (almost 53 studies with active status registered in the clinicaltrials.gov database). Moreover, the combination of IRE and immunotherapy has also been evaluated (#NCT04212026; #NCT04612530).

2.3. Electrochemotherapy (ECT)

The phenomenon of electrochemotherapy (ECT) was first defined by Mir et al. in 1991 [86]. ECT constitutes the intravenous or intratumoral administration of chemotherapeutic agents and the exposure of cell membranes to high-intensity, well-dosed electric pulses leading to RE [41]. The increased CM permeability enables the diffusion of low- or non-permeable drugs into the cell cytosol. Initially, ECT was intended to treat small superficial neoplastic lesions that were not amenable to surgery or radiotherapy [12,86,87]. In 2006, European guidelines for the use of ECT termed the European Standard Operating Procedures of ECT (ESOPE), and standard operating procedures (SOP), were published [88,89]. Since then, electric pulses have been delivered in a sequence of eight pulses, each 100 µs-long [90].

As a general rule, patients receiving ECT treatment first receive an intravenous or intratumoral administration of an anticancer drug to distribute over the targeted tissue, and then the application of the electric pulses takes place [41].

The main advantage of ECT is the significant reduction in chemotherapeutic dose due to the locally potentiated cytotoxic effect [41,91]. Researchers have analyzed a wide range of cytostatics, but the most satisfying results were obtained for bleomycin (BLM) and cisplatin (CSP), with toxicity increases on average of 1000- and 80-fold, respectively [86,90,92–94]. However, some articles have also reported the promising use of the natural compounds, doxorubicin, and 5-fluorouracil [95–98].

It has been shown that cells damaged after ECT release substances involving intact tumor antigen secretion [41]. Consequently, the patient's immune system activates a tumor antigen-directed immune response, and a so-called 'abscopal effect' occurs, while, as a result of ECT, a systemic immune response will be triggered against distant metastases [41,99]. Other ECT effects observed include vascular disruption, hypoperfusion, decreased blood flow, and increased drug retention time due to decreased blood flow [41]. Several studies have shown that malignant cells were much more sensitive to ECT using BLM than normal cells [88,100,101]. Notably, Frandsen et al. demonstrated that ECT did not affect the size of normal fibroblast spheroids [102].

Due to the satisfying tolerance, promising results, and technological evolution of EP tools, ECT is an increasingly widely used method in oncological treatment, with new modifications being developed (e.g., calcium electroporation) [12].

2.4. Calcium Electroporation (CaEP)

Calcium electroporation (CaEP) is a novel modification of conventional ECT, in which chemotherapeutic treatment has been replaced by supraphysiological doses of calcium ions (Ca²⁺), as reported for the first time by Frandsen et al. in 2012 [103]. The applied EP parameters are similar to those used for ECT [104]. Solutions based on the use of non-toxic molecules are significant for clinical application, considering the side effects caused by most cytotoxic drugs (e.g., bleomycin) [102]. Moreover, EP with prior Ca²⁺ application is characterized by a long durability and lower costs [105]. CaEP's effectiveness for the treatment of different carcinomas has already been demonstrated in in vitro and in vivo studies [102,104–111]. In combination with ECT, CaEP is currently used in more than 140 clinics in Europe as an anticancer treatment modality [112].

Calcium is a ubiquitous second messenger involved in many cellular processes, from transcription regulation and proliferation to cell death [102]. Under physiological conditions, there is a 10–20,000-fold Ca²⁺ concentration gradient between the extra- $(10^{-3}-10^{-2} \text{ M})$ and intracellular $(10^{-8}-10^{-7} \text{ M})$ spaces, which is strictly regulated [109,112]. Monteith et al. have precisely described aspects of the Ca²⁺-cancer signaling nexus and its role as a therapeutic target [113]. In 2012, Frandsen et al. proposed the CaEP mechanism of action [103]. In subsequent years, it has been intensively investigated, supported, and precisely described by Frandsen et al. in 2020 [112].

The primary mechanism of action is based on the sudden and massive influx of Ca^{2+} following EP, resulting in intracellular calcium homeostasis disturbances, as illustrated in Figure 3 [112]. Seeking to re-establish the balance, the cell activates the ATP-dependent: Na⁺/Ca²⁺-exchanger (NCX), Na⁺/Ca²⁺/K⁺-exchanger (NCKX), and plasma membrane calcium ATPase (PMCA) to remove calcium excess from the cell (Figure 3). Simultaneously, the electrochemical gradient essential for ATP production is disturbed due to calcium overload, resulting in ATP production inhibition and ATP loss through pores created in the cell membrane [114]. Together, these events are the main cause of cell death in the wake of absolute ATP depletion, as reported in preclinical investigations [103,105,115]. Additional effects, such as lipase and protease activation and reactive oxygen species production (ROS), have also been reported [114].

Gibot et al. showed that, unlike ECT using BLM or CSP, CaEP does not induce genotoxicity, and its cytotoxicity is associated with ATP depletion and significant narrowing of the membrane potential [111]. Available literature sources report different types of cell death caused by CaEP therapy, depending on factors such as the cell type and morphology, time of exposure to EP, calcium concentration, etc. [112], including apoptosis, [116,117] though, necrosis is the predominant mechanism [110,115].

CaEP, as for ECT, did not affect the size of the regular spheroids and induced cell death in cancer cells more effectively [102]. Simultaneously, CaEP triggered a dramatic decrease in intracellular ATP levels in normal and malignant spheroids. Therefore, the effect of CaEP on the intracellular ATP level cannot explain the difference in cell sensitivity. However, Frandsen et al. pointed out that normal cells seem to survive this ATP depletion, whereas metabolically active malignant cells do not [103]. The differences in the vulnerability of cancer and normal cells to CaEP in other in vitro models were also previously investigated [116,117]. Notably, Frandsen et al. also indicated that normal cells could extrude the extra calcium concentration and restore it to a similar level of untreated controls approximately 4 h after treatment [110].



Figure 3. The general mechanism of calcium electroporation (CaEP). The concentration of calcium on both sides of the cell membrane (CM) is tightly controlled. The CaEP mechanism of action involves (**A**) application of Ca^{2+} supraphysiological concentration. (**B**) Subsequent application of electrical pulses which increases the permeability of the CM, which allows calcium introduction into the interior of the cell. (**C**) Ca^{2+} transportation to the mitochondria and the endoplasmic reticulum by sarco-endoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase (SERCA). (**D**) Disruption of calcium homeostasis triggers the enhanced activity of the sodium-calcium potassium exchanger (NCXX), the sodium-calcium exchanger (NCX), and ATP-dependent plasma membrane calcium ATPase (PMCA) to extrude the extra Ca^{2+} from the cell. (**E**) At the same time, an increase in the Ca^{2+} concentration inhibits the process of ATP synthesis, leading ultimately to the complete use of its resources and cell death (**F**) [112,114].

In 2018, Falk et al. performed the first clinical trial using CaEP to examine its effectiveness in small cutaneous metastases therapy [106]. Currently, six trials (according to the clinicaltrials.gov database, searching for "calcium electroporation") are registered or are ongoing using CaEP, including for cutaneous and subcutaneous malignant tumors (#NCT04259658; #NCT04225767) and basal cell carcinoma (#NCT05046262). Interestingly, the use of calcium gluconate as a source of Ca²⁺ is being analyzed in a pilot study involving patients with non-curable esophageal cancer (#NCT04958044). Clinical trials involving CaEP as a therapeutical option for gynecological and breast cancer are presented in Tables 1 and 2, respectively.

2.5. Gene Electrotransfer (GET)

In recent decades, a significant evolution of gene therapies (GT) has occurred, as a result of which the treatment of hitherto non-curable diseases has become possible. GT aims at DNA or RNA transport to the targeted cell interior to genetically modify the cell by producing a protein or silencing defective or overexpressing genes [118]. This requires the genetic material to overcome several barriers, including cell membranes, nucleic barriers,

etc. Therefore, the search for vectors that would facilitate this transport was initiated. The vectors which are most widely evaluated are viral vectors, employing their ability to infect and introduce gene material into the host cell [119]. Although viral vectors show satisfactory clinical efficacy, their use is associated with several drawbacks, including pre-existing immunity and the possible risk of immunotoxicity resulting from immune response activation following viral vector injection [118,120]. This situation has forced the abandonment of specific viral vectors in some countries and limits the method's universality in using the same vector for each patient.

An alternative solution is the application of pulsed electric fields (PEFs) following naked DNA administration, termed gene electrotransfer (GET) or electrogenetherapy (EGT) [95]. Previous studies have indicated that the use of PEFs significantly enhanced gene expression compared to results obtained after naked DNA administration alone [121,122]. The GET mechanism is an elaborated and multistage process. Subsequent to PEF application, negatively charged DNA interacts with the cell membrane opposite to cathode areas [118]. PEFs, in addition to causing increased permeability of PMs, also electrophoretically push DNA towards the cell membrane. According to the available literature, the PEF strength required for DNA entrance into the cells needs to be equal to, or higher than, that required for PM electroporation [118,123,124]. In 2010, Faurie et al. indicated that DNA diffusion across the PM could take from a couple of minutes to several hours [125]. Sachdev et al., in a review, described two possible DNA entry pathways [118]. The most supported, and scientifically accepted, pathway involves the formation of DNA aggregates enclosed in the cell membrane's vesicles. In this form, the DNA is introduced into the cell via endocytosis.

However, several defects have been highlighted for the existing method. Frequently, high voltage pulses with long duration times (millisecond pulses) are required to achieve efficient genetic material delivery [121,122,126]. However, tissue damage may occur; on the other hand, reduction in voltage inhibits transfection efficiency. The conjunction of lower voltage electrotransfer with exogenously applied heat has been reported as a solution; however, it should be noted that this method requires more specialized devices (e.g., IRE laser heating).

In 2008, the first clinical trial using GET to enhance IL-12 (interleukin 12) administration in metastatic melanoma patients was conducted by Daud et al. [22]. Almost 25 clinical trials (according to the clinicaltrials.gov database, searching "electroporation" "vaccine") are currently being enrolled or are ongoing to evaluate the effectiveness of PEFmediated delivery of DNA vaccines, including an HPV DNA vaccine for HPV16-positive cervical neoplasia (#NCT04131413), an HPV DNA vaccine (VGX-3100) for patients with HIV-positive high-grade anal lesions (#NCT03603808), a DNA vaccine against Puumala virus (PUUV) and Hantann virus (HTNV) (#NCT03718130), etc. Interestingly, three GETbased SARS-CoV-2 DNA vaccines are under investigation (#NCT05102643; #NCT04788459; #NCT04447781). Moreover, almost 11 active or recruiting studies were found in this database using the search terms "electroporation" or "immunotherapy". The analyzed immunotherapies mainly concern neoplasms, including pancreatic cancer (#NCT04835402), melanoma (#NCT04526730), hepatocellular carcinoma (#NCT03630640), acute myeloid leukemia (#NCT03083054), glioblastoma (#NCT03491683), etc.

Based on ample evidence, EP-based technologies have shown that tumors can be successfully eliminated without recurrence and with significantly lower side effects [127–129]. Table 1 presents the summarized merits and demerits of EP-based therapy methods described above. In the following subsections of this review, we summarize the most recent reports on the use of therapeutic methods based on the phenomenon of EP in the treatment of gynecological and breast cancer.

EP-Based Method	Merits	Demerits	Ref.
Electrochemotherapy (ECT)	 applied at all stages of the cell cycle enhanced cytotoxic drug transport into the cell interior lower cytotoxic drug doses introduced into an organism involving intact tumor antigen secretion 	 muscle contractions acute pain vascular disruption hypoperfusion decreased blood flow increased drug-retention time 	[18,41,130,131]
Irreversible electroporation (IRE)	 non-thermal tissue ablation applied at all stages of the cell cycle well-defined ablation area does not require chemotherapeutic drugs destroys structures not sensitive to other thermal ablation methods does not damage connective tissue, collagenous, protein, and lipid-based structures potential immunomodulatory therapy 	• muscle contraction and acute pain	[32,74,75,77,79,132]
Calcium electroporation (CaEP)	 applied at all stages of the cell cycle does not involve cytotoxic drugs improvement of patient's quality of life does not involve genotoxicity decreased toxic effects on normal cells 	muscle contraction and acute pain	[102,111,112,130]
Gene electrotransfer (GET)	 does not involve viral vectors allowing DNA macromolecule transfer 	 possible to apply only on a small area, surgical intervention is needed when transferring to internal organs high voltage pulses with long duration times (ms pulses) required possible tissue damage non-target specific causing some vehicle damage e.g., quantum dot aggregation 	[122,124,133,134]

Table 1. Summarized merits and demerits of electroporation-based treatment methods.

3. The Use of EP-Based Strategies in Gynecological Malignancies

3.1. Ovarian Cancer

Ovarian cancer (OC) is the most fatal of all female reproductive cancers, with 313, 959 new cases and 207,252 deaths reported in 2020, and a 5-year survival rate of ~48% [1,135,136]. OC rarely affects women under 30, and the risk increases with age [135]. The risk increases significantly over the age of 50. In 2019, Momenimovahed et al. reviewing studies, including age at diagnosis, observed that the median age was 50–70 years old, depending on the population [137]. OC is determined as a "silent killer" because it is diagnosed when the first symptoms appear; these symptoms can be vague (often being confused by patients for gastrointestinal complaints), and, in a large number of cases (nearly 70%), appear at advanced stages III or IV of the disease [135]. Moreover, OC, together with endometrial cancer, is characterized by poor accessibility to specimen collection, which significantly hinders the early diagnosis of these diseases [7]. Therefore, as Holcakova et al. rightly pointed out, there is an urgent need to look for new biomarkers since population screening does not exist [7].

Conventional treatment of OC involves a combination of tumor debulking surgery with the surgical staging of the affected tissue and subsequent CT [138]. The overall survival of OC patients has not improved significantly despite numerous studies focusing on this disease, progress in surgical intervention, and the development of platinum-based CT and advanced molecular-targeted therapies, such as bevacizumab and olaparib [139]. For years the medical community has had to deal with patient relapses after CT, numerous side effects, and the phenomenon of multi-drug resistance [138]. Therefore, it is necessary to constantly investigate the molecular mechanisms responsible for the development of the disease and to look for new therapeutic solutions.

The effective improvement of conventional CT (with BLM) by EP on ovarian cancer CSP-resistant cell lines (OvBH-1 and SKOV-3) was observed by Saczko et al. [138]. The authors used EP protocols ranging from 0.8 to 1.0 kV/cm \times 100 µs \times 1 Hz \times 8 pulses preceded by suspending the cells in BLM solution prepared in EP buffer. Interestingly, Saczko et al. also compared the effectiveness of ECT with CSP to ECT using 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) on the same OC cell lines [96]. The obtained results revealed significant enhancement in the transport of both drugs after EP application. This observation is all the more intriguing as both lines are resistant to standard CSP-based CT. Resistance is the main problem in CSP-based CT and it is desirable to develop new solutions.

Our previous article demonstrated the enhanced cytotoxic effects of CaEP (2.5 mM) against the MDAH-2774 OC cell line compared to ECT with CSP (25 μ M) [140]. Three different EP protocols were used: (1) 1.3 kV/cm × 100 μ s × 100 Hz × 8 pulses (ESOPE); (2) 37.5 kV/cm × 10 ns × 1 Hz × 200 pulses; and (3) 50 kV/cm × 10 ns × 1 Hz × 200 pulses. The introduction of PEFs improved the conventional CT therapeutic effect of OC cells. Moreover, the experimental results indicated lower cell viability after the μ sPEF than for nsPEF. Yo-Pro-1TM dye uptake analysis supported this result.

As mentioned in the previous subsection, IRE allows for the preservation of connective tissue surrounding the tumor. This was supported by Rolong et al. who explored the use of IRE and high-frequency irreversible electroporation (H-FIRE) to induce the death of tumor-initiating cells (TICs) [141]. The paper focused on TICs, which may play a crucial role in cancer treatment failures, including ovarian cancer (OC). It has been shown that higher frequency pulses may penetrate the epithelial layer more effectively without intensive Joule heating, causing an EP effect deeper in the target tissue. Additionally, H-FIRE reduces the intensity of muscles contractions. In the presented study, scientists using mouse ovarian surface epithelial (MOSE) cells supported the cytotoxic effect of IRE on treatment-resilient cells. The researchers applied 80 monopolar, rectangular-wave pulses with 100 μ s duration at a frequency of 1 Hz with 300, 375, and 450 volts. Of particular interest, was that the results obtained indicated enhanced sensitivity of MOSE tumor-initiating variants (MOSE-L_{TICv}) and malignant, late-stage (MOSE-L) cells to H-FIRE compared to non-tumorigenic

(MOSE-E) cells. Three different H-FIRE protocols were applied: (1) 25 cycles \times 2 µs pulses \times 5 µs inter-pulse delay; (2) 25 cycles \times 2 µs pulses \times 2 µs inter-pulse delay and (3) 50 cycles \times 1 µs pulses \times 2 µs inter-pulse delay. Unfortunately, it is the only published study that has focused on using H-FIRE as a potential treatment for OC. According to the authors of this review, these results are so promising that it is worth undertaking a deeper analysis of the use of H-FIRE in the treatment of ovarian cancer and other gynecological cancers. The exposure of the OC cell line (SKOV-3) to IRE was also investigated by Yao et al. [142]. Notably, the authors analyzed the effectiveness of the combination of short high-voltage (SHV: 1.6 kV \times 2 µs \times 1 Hz \times 20 pulses) pulses with long low-voltage (LLV: 0.24–0.48 kV \times 100 µs \times 1 Hz \times 60–80 pulses) pulses. The results showed an enhanced cytotoxic effect of SHV + LLV on SKOV-3 cells than when applied alone. The animal model's enhanced ablation area after SHV + LLV therapy was also noted. The presented results are promising, and an analysis of larger pre-clinical models needs to be conducted.

Interestingly, Kobayashi et al. have used EP to load tumor suppressor miRNA (miR-199a-3p) into exosomes derived from primary-cultured omental fibroblasts of OC patients and used these constructs for miRNA replacement therapy for OC patients [143]. Treatment with miR199a-3p-loaded exosomes (miR-199a-3p-Exo) suppressed c-Met expression in CaOV3, SKOV3, and OVCAR3 cell lines, thereby inhibiting cell proliferation and invasion. In experiments using xenografts, the application of miR-199a-3p-Exo significantly disturbed c-Met expression, ERK phosphorylation, and MMP2 expression in tumors. This study presents the other type of EP application in OC treatment.

Perales-Purchat et al. applied EP as an approach to deliver a designed synthetic DNA plasmid, optimized to permit high expression of an anti-HER2 (HER2—human epidermal growth factor receptor 2) antibody (HER2dMAb) and HER2 DNA-encoded bispecific T cell engagers (HER2DBiTE), into mouse anterior tibialis muscle [144]. It was reported that HER2dMAb blocked HER2 signaling, induced antibody-dependent cytotoxicity, and delayed tumor progression for HER2-expressing ovarian and breast cancer models. The HER2DBiTE was highly cytolytic and delayed cancer progression in mice. Interestingly, it was expressed in vivo for approximately four months after a single administration, allowing for frequent dose reduction, simplifying treatment techniques, and improving expression profiles.

Unfortunately, the number of clinical trials, including with patients diagnosed with OC, is very low. The only clinical trial registered in the databases clinicaltrials.gov, PubMed, and Web of Science concerned immunotherapy alone or in combination with II-12 DNA delivered by intramuscular EP (#NCT02960594). In 2021, Ahmed-Salim reported case series, including a patient presenting with a superficial, pre-sternal mass on a background of stage III mucinous ovarian cancer, treated with CaEP for palliation [145]. The woman underwent two debulking surgeries, radiotherapy, brachytherapy, and CT. The obtained results and CT imaging revealed resolution of the lesion and that CaEP was helpful for the reduction of distressing symptoms. Details of the CaEP used are presented in Table 2.

3.2. Vulvar Cancer

Vulvar cancer (VC) is a rare gynecological malignancy that affects women mainly after the menopause. However, the mean age of incidence has recently fallen due to the increase in human papillomavirus (HPV) infections [146,147]. It represents 5% of all malignant neoplastic gynecological lesions. The most common subtype of vulvar malignancy is squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). Other less-common histological types of VC are melanoma, Bartholin gland adenocarcinoma, extra-mammary Paget disease, basal cell carcinoma, and verrucous carcinoma, or sarcoma [148]. There is no specific screening, and the most effective strategy to reduce VC incidence is the opportune treatment of predisposing and preneoplastic lesions associated with its development. With VC progression, most women noticed vulvar pruritus pain with a lump or ulcer. Therefore, any suspicious vulvar lesion should be biopsied to exclude a malignant lesion [146]. Two primary pathological pathways lead to vulvar SCC [149]. The first pathway is associated with keratinizing changes, which usually occur in older women and are often connected with lichen sclerosis and/or differentiated vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia. The second pathway generally occurs in younger women and is caused by infection with oncogenic strains of HPV [150,151]. Currently, lesions arising from the vulva are classified into three sub-types: low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (LSILs), high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (HSILs), and differentiated vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia (dVIN) [152]. There is no determined treatment for conditions such as lichen sclerosus. Basic measures include avoiding exposure to precipitating factors, such as local irritants, moist environments, and the use of potent topical corticosteroids [153]. dVINs represent less than 5% of preneoplastic lesions of the vulvar, but these changes show a high probability of progression to squamous vulvar carcinoma and a higher recurrence rate than HSIL. Treatment of this type of lesion of the vulva is based primarily on surgical excision with 0.5–1 cm margins [154].

Treatment of VC depends mainly on histology staging. It is predominantly surgical; however, concurrent chemoradiation is commonly used, particularly for advanced tumors. Chemoradiation is a standard procedure in locally advanced VC. It allows reducing of the lesion area and performed surgical resection in 63–92% of initially inoperable tumors [155]. Surgical management should be carried out as the most conservative operation that will cure the disease and minimize treatment-related morbidity [156,157] and negative impact on the psycho-sexual condition of patients [158,159]. A combination of radio and CT is used in women with advanced VC, in whom primary surgical resection would damage central structures (anus, urethra) [159]. It has been shown that using a combination of CSP and 5-fluorouracil is effective for preserving the anal sphincter and urethra in inoperable VC treatment [160]. Effective and safe methods for reducing vulva tumors are needed to reduce the area excised during resection of the primary lesion and in palliative cases to ensure the patient's optimal comfort of living. Perrone et al. assessed the effectiveness of ECT in patients with primary vulvar neoplastic lesions in clinical trials. The main purpose of these studies was to determine whether ECT with BLM could effectively shrink the lesion before surgery and whether the resection area would be reduced with pre-operative ECT [161]. In studies carried out on nine patients, it was observed that there was a significant reduction in the tumor surface in eight cases, which made it possible to reduce the resection area. Consequently, four patients avoided a urethra resection, and two others a vaginal resection.

Furthermore, in six patients, the lesion shrinkage allowed excellent cosmetic repair after surgical resection, so the negative impact on the quality of the patient's life was reduced [161]. It has also been suggested that the inflammatory infiltrate and the immune response induced by ECT improve wound healing after resection of the lesion. At the same time, chemoradiotherapy causes tissue fibrosis, which may increase the likelihood of postoperative scar necrosis and wound dehiscence. ECT was performed only once before tumor recession in the present study. Perrone et al. suggest that because neoplastic tissue is heterogeneous, not all cells are electroporated simultaneously, which results in a suboptimal therapeutic effect. Therefore, several exposures to ECT before recession may achieve a better therapeutic effect recession than after one procedure [161].

VC recurs in about 33% of cases with an approximately 70% five-year survival rate [162]. Therapeutic options are limited in cases of relapse of VC, and quality of life is poor. In 2013, Perrone et al. published the first report on palliative ECT for patients with VC who relapsed after multimodality treatments, and for whom standard therapies were unsuitable. The results were encouraging. A complete response (CR) was observed in 62.5% of cases. Relevant symptoms, such as pain, bleeding, bad smell, and urinary discomfort subsided [132]. Based on these promising results, ECT was investigated further for the palliative treatment of VC. In studies on a group of 25 patients, local control of VC was achieved in about 80% of cases, with a 48% CR rate. A total of 7 out of 25 patients underwent a second session of ECT for disease progression, achieving a 43% CR rate [131]. Similar results were observed in another clinical study [163]. Based on these findings, several clinical centers in Italy started to treat palliative patients with VC using the method.

14 of 32

All data from the different centers were collected in a national database called ELECTRA. The obtained results indicate that ECT is currently the best palliative treatment method for patients with VC who cannot undergo surgery, have lesions resistant to chemotherapeutic agents, or have severe comorbidities. ECT treatment for VC is easy and quick to perform and has a favorable cost-effectiveness ratio. The side effects are minor, and most patients require only small doses of pain medications to treat pain associated with ECT. Moreover, unlike radiation therapy, it is possible to repeat several ETC cycles. However, more research is needed to assess the risk of BLM-induced pulmonary complications with multiple ECT sessions and to identify the best candidates for this treatment [164].

Ahmed-Salim et al. conducted a study involving four patients with vulval intraepithelial neoplasia (VIN) III and recurrent vulval squamous cell carcinoma treated with CaEP [145]. Details of the study are provided in Table 2.

3.3. Cervical Cancer

Cervical carcinoma (CC) ranks second globally in terms of the highest number of female deaths over the age of 60 [165]. The highest incidence is observed in less developed countries, especially South Africa and South America, where two to four times more cases are indicated than for breast cancer [166]. CC rarely shows symptoms in the initial stages of development but can be detected during a routine gynecological examination or cytology [167]. The first sign is lesions on the cervix, the cause of which is assessed using the Bethesda system [168]. Neoplastic changes do not always appear; the smear examination often indicates inflammation (up to 70%) and precancerous modifications. Fortunately, well-organized cytological screening and HPV triage, combined with vaccination programs in developed countries, have significantly reduced invasive cancer incidence and mortality [7].

The most common type of CC is squamous cell carcinoma, which accounts for almost 80% of all CC cases [167]. HPV is the most significant risk factor for developing cervical cancer. HPV DNA is present in over 90% of samples with a confirmed neoplastic lesion [169]. Due to the localization of the lesion during the initial stages of the disease, trachelectomy, pelvic lymphadenectomy, or radiotherapy are used as first-line treatment. Although they do not interfere with getting pregnant, all these methods significantly increase the risk of miscarriage. Therefore, other methods are sought that will not adversely affect a woman's fertility and will be safer for those for whom CT or radiation are contraindicated [167].

Several studies have examined the effectiveness of EP-based therapies on cervical cancer cell treatment, with IRE being the most studied. Research by Qin et al. demonstrated that IRE slows the growth of both examined cell lines (HeLa and SiHa). The survival rate estimated by the CCK-8 assay decreased from ~60% to 39.69% (HeLa) and 40.71% (SiHA). CFDA-SE assay used to assess cell proliferation showed that IRE-treated cells stop dividing. The 5th and 6th generation cells were ~7.38% for the HeLa line (control ~69.77%) and for the SiHa line ~21.72% (control 86.06%). The mechanism of cell proliferation inhibition in the G1 phase is known as cell cycle arrest, preventing cells from entering other phases and dividing. This was demonstrated by a study using propidium iodide (PI) staining involving the assessment of DNA content in cell cycle analysis. According to the study, almost 59.91% of cells in both lines were stopped in the G1 phase of the cell cycle compared to the control (44.63%) [170]. Tang et al. confirmed the inhibition of cell development in this phase and a decrease in the percentage of cells in the S phase. The theory proposed is that the regulation of cyclin D1 expression and the activity of cyclin D1-CDK4 are responsible for this. The decreased expression of cyclin D1 observed in the RT-PCR study resulted in an effect on the cell cycle and a slowdown in cell proliferation [171]. In addition to the impact on the growth of HeLa and SiHa cells, the effect of applied therapy on migration, invasiveness, and cell adhesion was confirmed, which is of great importance when assessing whether IRE can increase tumor metastasis. No significant differences were observed compared to the control, with the inference that IRE neither influenced migration nor the invasiveness or adhesiveness of HeLa and SiHa cells. This may be related to the observed excellent safety of its use in vivo [170].

Other studies have focused on the parameters of EP and its various effects. Cell survival was influenced by the electric field strength, the number of pulses used, and the time taken for the measurements, in experiments by Liu et al. Staining of cells with trypan blue was performed immediately after applying EP (0.5-2.5 kV/cm) and then after 6 and 12 h. The results showed that the higher the electric field strength, the lower the cell survival rate. Importantly, staining with trypan blue showed that the highest percentage of apoptotic cells occurred for an electric field above 1 kV/cm but less than 1.75 kV/cm. Giemsa staining and immunohistochemistry results were consistent with the flow cytometry test results. IRE significantly increased cell apoptosis and caspase-3 expression, especially at an intensity above 2 kV/cm and after 24 h from the applied therapy. Slides stained with Giemsa's reagent showed pyknosis, a characteristic of apoptosis [172].

Chai et al. investigated the effect of IRE on the whole organism using a rabbit animal model [173]. The experiment was conducted for 28 days using 90 pulses with a duration time of 70 µs and 1.5 kV/cm strength. Clinical course and histopathological examinations using hematoxylin-eosin staining first showed shedding of the mucosal epithelium and bleeding immediately after the procedure. The cervix was also swollen and painful. At the cellular level, the characteristic features of necrosis with disruption of cell membrane continuity were observed. TUNEL assay also showed significant cell apoptosis in the ablated area. In subsequent days, healing and the goal of regeneration were observed. MT staining showed increased collagen production and tissue fibrosis that increased to sizeable levels by day 28. The experiment demonstrated that the IRE treatment did not disturb the architecture of the cervix and blood vessels and nerves to such an extent that it would affect the patient's functions and fertility in the future [173].

The use of EP to improve the administration of drugs, particularly anticancer drugs, is already widely used throughout the world. In vitro studies have investigated whether ECT would be effective in the case of cervical cancer. Yabushita et al. examined bleomycin (BLM), adriamycin, cisplatin (CSP), mitomycin C and cyclophosphamide for their efficacy in treating cervical squamous cell carcinoma. The research used the CaSki cell line. It was confirmed that EP (with a strength of 25–100 V/mm) significantly enhanced the cytotoxic effect of all analyzed drugs, especially BLM. After applying ECT with BLM (the highest analyzed concentration), cell survival decreased by almost 20%. It was also observed that using the drug before EP application gave better cytotoxic results than those obtained for BLM added after EP [10]. Ramachandran et al. used the ME180 human-cervix-derived epithelial cell line (squamous cell carcinoma) and confirmed the positive results for BLM + EP treatment. When the drug was used alone, the cytotoxic rate was ~13.4%, compared to from 18.8 to 53% for ECT using different electric pulse strengths (V/cm) [174].

Clinical trials involving EP for various CC types have mainly included the administration of vaccines. Trimble et al. assessed whether VGX-3100 synthetic plasmids would positively affect the progression of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN). The goal of the nearly two-year-long experiment involving 167 patients was to eliminate HPV-16 and HPV-18, the leading causes of most cervical cancers. The study confirmed that the use of EP to facilitate the delivery of the vaccine significantly increased the level of antibodies in the human body, and the results of histopathological studies confirmed a partial regression of the disease [175]. A similar experiment is currently underway with the same vaccine in a group of women with histologically confirmed high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (HSIL) [176].

Gynecological Carcinoma	Trial Type	Phase	NCT Identifier (Status)	Number of Patients	Short Description	Protocol	Study Outcome	Ref.
1					Electrochemotherapy (ECT)			
V-SCC	Prospective	п	N/A	25	ECT in elderly (median age = 85 years) patients diagnosed with V-SCC	15,000 IU/m ² BLM i.v. +8 pulses; 100 μs; 5 kHz 8–28 min after BLM administration	1 month after ECT: CR = 52%; PR = 28%; SD = 12%; PD = 8% 6 months after ECT SFS = 40%	[131]
V-SCC	Prospective	Preliminary study	N/A	8	safety, local efficacy, acceptability and QoL of ECT with BLM in reducing the size of tumors in patients with V-SCC	15,000 IU/m ² BLM i.v. +8 pulses; 100 μs; 5 kHz 8–28 min after BLM administration	CR = 62.5%; PR = 12.5%; SD= 12.5%; PD = 12.5% 50% patients alive 9 months after ECT	[132]
VC	Prospective	N/A	NCT03142061 (Completed)	50	BLM + EP of cutaneous accessible tumor tissue in patients with advanced inoperable vulva carcinoma	N/A	N/A	N/A
					Calcium Electroporation (CaE	Р)		
VIN III; V-SCC; metastatic OV	Retrospective	e Case report	N/A	6	CaEP in VIN and vulvar cancer	i.t. 0.5 mL/1 cm ³ CaCl ₂ solution (10 mL of a stock 10 mmoL/10 mL solution of CaCl ₂ with 35 mL of 0.9% NaCl) +2 µs bipolar pulses; 1.3 kV/cm (520 V each polarity); 166 kHz 30 'trains' of pulses	CaEP applied 10 times CR = 50%; PR = 40% For 8 episodes, symptoms improved within 6 weeks Beyond 6 weeks, symptoms eventually recurred in all patients, and 4 patients required more than one CaEP procedure.	[145]
					Gene Eectrotransfer (GET)			
CC	Non- randomized	I, II	NCT02172911 (Completed)	10	safety and tolerability of a therapeutic DNA vaccination against HPV16 and HPV18 E6/E7 oncogenes after chemoradiation for cervical cancer	DNA-based vaccine against HPV-16/18 coinjected with an IL-12 plasmid	 8/10 patients had detectable cellular or humoral immune responses against HPV antigens after chemoradiation and vaccination; 6/10 patients generated anti-HPV antibody responses 6/10 patients generated IFNγ-producing T cell responses 	[177]

Table 2. Clinical trials, preliminary studies, and case reports focusing on the use of EP-based therapies in gynecological carcinomas treatment.

Table 2. Cont.

NCT Number of Gynecological **Trial Type** Phase Identifier Short Description Protocol Study Outcome Ref. Carcinoma Patients (Status) 7 mg IL-12/HPV DNA plasmid i.m. and via EP at W1, 3, 7, and 12 21 patients were evaluated for starting W 12, cycles repeat every toxicity and 19 for a response. ORR = 21%; DCR = 42%; MEDI0457 and durvalumab for patients VC CC Π N/A NCT03439085 21 8 weeks+1500 mg Durvaluma i.v. [178] with recurrent/metastatic HPV-associated CR = 5.3%; PR = 15.8%; cancers. at W 4, 8, and 12 SD = 21% starting W 12, cycles repeat every 4 weeks up to 13 doses i.m. injection of 3 doses 0.6/2/6 mg VGX-3100 +EP evaluate the safety and tolerability of a NCT00685412 Nontherapeutic CC N/A N/A randomized (Completed) DNA vaccination (VGX-3100) D 0, M 1 and 3 against HPV16 and HPV18 E6/E7 49.5% recipients and 30.6% placebo recipients (in the i.m. injection 1 mL per-protocol analysis) NCT01304524 VGX-3100 CC Randomized Π 48.2% recipients and 30% placebo 175,179 a.a (Completed) +EP recipients (in the modified D 0, W 4 and 12 intention-to-treat analysis) had histopathological regression evaluate the safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity of the fourth dose of i.m. injection of 6 mg Human papillomavirus (HPV) DNA NCT01188850 Increased immune reactivity after CC N/A [180] Ι 14 **ÝGX-3100** (Completed) plasmid (VGX-3100) + electroporation bosting vaccination +EP in D 0 (EP) in adult females previously immunized with VGX-3100 evaluate the safety and tolerability of Non-NCT01634503 DNA-based vaccine (GX-188E) i.m. administration of 1/2/4 mg GX-188E CC 9 N/A T N/A Randomized (Completed) administrated via EP in patients with via EP HPV-16 or HPV-18 associated CIN III 64 patients were included in the per-protocol analysis (V7) and 52 in extension analysis (V8) V7: 52% (33/64) V8: 67% (35/52) presented NCT02139267 i.m administration of 1 or 4 mg GX-188E CC Π 72 [181] Randomized a.a histopathologic regression after (Completed) via EP in W 0, 4 and 12 GX-188E injection 73% (V7) and 77% (V8) of the patients with histologic regression showed HPV clearance

		Table 2	. Cont.						
Gynecological Carcinoma	Trial Type	Phase	NCT Identifier (Status)	Number of Patients	Short Description	Protocol	Study Outcome	Ref.	
OC	Non- randomized	I	NCT02960594 (Completed)	93	Immunotherapy alone or in combination with Il-12 DNA delivered by IM EP in solid tumors therapy	hTERT (2/8 mg) + i.m. EP +/- IL-12 (0.5/2 mg) +/- SynCon [®] TERT (2/8 mg) D 0, W 4, 8 and 12	hTERT immunotherapy induced a de novo cellular immune response or enhanced pre-existing cellular responses to native hTERT in 96% (88/92) of patients	[182]	
Irreversible Electroporation (IRE)									
CC	Randomized	I, II	NCT02430610 (Completed)	30	safety and efficacy of IRE for unresectable uterine cervical neoplasms	N/A	N/A	N/A	

a.a—as above; N/A—not applicable; D—day; W—week; M—month; mg—milligram; mL—milliliter; ms -millisecond; µs—microsecond; kV—kilovolts; cm—centimeter; i.v.—intravenous; i.t.—intratumoral; i.m.—intramuscular; PI—pulse interval; EP—electroporation; OR—objective response; CR—complete response; SD—stable disease; PD—progressive disease; ORR—overall response rate; DCR—disease control rate; DFS—disease-free survival; SAE—serious adverse events; SFS—symptom-free survival; CC—cervical cancer; OC—ovarian cancer; VC—vulvar cancer; V-SCC—squamocellular vulvar cancer; CIN III—cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade III; IL12—interleukin 12; TIL—tumorinfiltrating lymphocyte; hTERT—human telomerase reverse transcriptase.

3.4. Breast Cancer

Breast cancer (BC) is the most commonly diagnosed cancer and the leading cause of death among women worldwide (Figure 1) [1]. According to data collected in the GLOBOCAN database, almost 2.3 million new cases of BC were estimated in 2020; thereby, BC has surpassed lung cancer. Forecasts show that this number is expected to increase to ~3.19 million by 2040 [183]. Current treatment includes a combination of surgical resection via mastectomy or lumpectomy, irradiation, and adjuvant CT [184]. Unfortunately, these surgical solutions remain associated with significant scarring and disfigurement, which may complicate monitoring for residual tumors and recurrence of malignancy [185]. CT is not satisfactorily effective according to patient relapses, and a wide range of side effects affect patients' quality of life [2].

Moreover, the multidrug resistance (MDR) phenomenon is a growing problem in most cases. Another difficulty associated with BC treatment is planning the appropriate therapy, taking into account histological variety, hormonal dependence, eventual overexpression of estrogen receptor α (ER α), estrogen receptor β (ER β), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), and resistance against conventional treatment [186]. Therefore, there is an urgent need to develop new approaches enabling earlier detection, which will be more effective, less toxic, and associated with fewer side effects.

Rembiałkowska et al. examined the ECT effectiveness of applying doxorubicin with EP in MCF-7/WT and MCF-7/DOX breast cancer cells sensitive and resistant to doxorubicin (DOX), respectively [95]. Interestingly, increased cytotoxicity of DOX was noted in MCF7/DOX when drug administration was combined with EP. The resistant cell line was shown to be more sensitive to electric pulses. It has been suggested that EP-based methods might be attractive for cancer treatment in human BC, especially those with developed resistance. EP enables a reduction in drug doses and exposure time in this type of cancer, diminishing the side effects of systemic therapy. Interesting changes were observed in analyzed cell lines using the electron microscope. In the case of electric pulses together with DOX, there were many differences in lysosomes. Secondary lysosomes and vacuoles with more irregular shapes were obtained from heterogeneous material. Analysis of the cellular ultrastructure showed that MCF-7/WT cells were more sensitive to electric fields and DOX than MCF-7/DOX cells.

Due to the lack of the three main receptors, estrogen ER, progesterone, PR, and HER2, triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is mainly resistant to standard CT [187]. ECT might be a promising alternative method to treat TNBC. The impact of EP without anticancer drugs on MDA-MB-231 TNBC and human colon cancer (SW-480 and HCT-116) in comparison to human fibroblast cell line (MRC-5), primary human aortic smooth muscle cells (hAoSMC), and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) has been evaluated. The inhibition of cell proliferation after EP in a dose-dependent manner was observed. Electric pulses of strength 375–437.5 V/cm induced the IRE of cancer cells and RE of normal human cells. The lower voltage induced apoptosis as the predominant type of cell death in contrast to higher voltages, which mainly led to necrosis in human cancer cell lines. Considering the results obtained, EP might be a promising method for use in TNBC human cell lines [188].

Mittal et al. considered the mechanism of ECT using electrical pulses and CSP on an MDA-MB-231 cell line by quantitative proteomic analysis which correlated well with cell viability, western blot (WB), and quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) data [189]. EP with CSP was found to be involved in regulating 14 essential glycolysis proteins. EP with CSP-induced pathways also led to oxidative imbalance, increased reactive oxygen species, and apoptotic cell death. These results indicated the potential role of EP + CSP against TNBC cells. The studies were confirmed by others [190,191].

Combining calcium with EP has been tested as a new, EP-based cancer treatment modality (CaEP). In vitro study showed that an increase in supraphysiological doses of calcium ions (Ca²⁺) into cells primarily caused necrotic cell death associated with acute and critical energy depletion [102,192]. CaEP had a similar effect to ECT with anticancer drugs on breast and ovarian cancer [140,193]. Kulbacka et al. demonstrated an enhanced

antiproliferative effect in MCF-7 and MCF-7/DX cells electroporated using nsPEF protocols in combination with Ca^{2+} [194]. Furthermore, it was observed that the combination of nsPEF with calcium may be used as a temporary MDR controlling tool to obtain better drug uptake. The results obtained showed that nsPEF + Ca^{2+} triggered decreased MDR1 activity, which, consequently, may disrupt cancer cells' MDR resistance mechanism.

IRE has also found applications in the treatment of breast cancer. Babikr et al. considered the combination of IRE alone or with Toll-like receptor (TLR)3/9 agonists (poly I:C/CpG) (IRE + pIC/CpG), PD-1 blockade (IRE +PD-1 blockade), and their combination (IRE + Combo) [195]. The results revealed effective therapeutic outcomes for IRE + Combo on two mouse breast cancer models (Tg1-1 and 4T1), suggesting that this method may represent a promising improvement for IRE ablation in cancer treatment. Zhang et al. evaluated the effects of combining IRE and photodynamic therapy (PDT) in BC cells in vitro (MCF-7 cell line) and in vivo (BALB/C mice) [196]. They reported that combining IRE and PDT enhanced anti-tumor effects in BC and that apoptosis was the primary mechanism responsible. Compared with controls, the IRE + PDT group exhibited lower levels of VEGF, CD31, TGF- β , and Ki67 indicators. Moreover, the in vivo tumor suppression rate for IRE (1200 V) + PDT (10 mg/kg) was 68.3%.

Bazzolo et al. investigated the response of breast cancer cell (HCC1954) culture on electrospun poly (e-caprolactone) (PCL) fibrous scaffolds to ECT therapy with bleomycin $(1.0 \text{ kV/cm} \pm 10 \text{ }\mu\text{M} \text{ bleomycin})$ to evaluate it as a potential tool for the study of EP and its applications [197]. The described three-dimensional (3D) additive manufactured PCL scaffolds revealed their potential in breast reconstruction improvement [198]. Moreover, the authors analyzed the extracellular matrix production in this kind of 3D culture. They rightly pointed out that most of the anticancer drugs selected with the traditionally used twodimensional (2D) cell cultures have been shown to be ineffective in in vivo models. This is because 2D cultures are not able to precisely mimic the cancer environment including, for example, cell-matrix interactions. The results revealed lower sensitivity of PCL-based cultures to doxorubicin and EP/bleomycin than adherent cell cultures. The authors argue that this effect may be caused by the increased level of cancer stem cells (CSCs) detected in the proposed 3D cultures. The use of electrospun PCL cultures has also been characterized by mucopolysaccharide production and enhanced CD44 expression. Of course, further studies are essential to better understand the proposed in vitro model; however, the results obtained to date are promising.

ECT has also been shown to effectively treat BC in clinical practice. The minor side effects of the therapy and the low intraoperative duration of cure make it possible to admit patients to the hospital for only a short time. Thus, the repeated use of ECT has enabled an increase in the rate of complete remissions. In 2013, this form of treatment, which consists of a low-dose cytostatic and EP, was also included in the Working Group for Gynaecological Oncology (AGO) mammary guidelines and the German Cancer Society (DKG). The favorable cost-benefit ratio makes this method of treatment interesting in clinical practice, and, as a result, it is already being used successfully in many German hospitals.

The first clinical trial using RE combined with a chemotherapeutic drug (ECT) was conducted in 1990–1991 [199]. Since then, numerous clinical trials applying EP-based technologies have been performed to treat small tumors, such as cutaneous and subcutaneous metastases, and larger tumors (e.g., chest wall breast cancer) [200,201]. The clinical observations using ECT with BLM in patients with BC are exciting. This study showed that small tumor BC in the absence of visceral metastasis, ER positivity, and low Ki67 index had produced a complete response to ECT with BLM. Thus, ECT was effective in BC patients. Larkin et al. noted 60% regression after ECT with BLM [202].

The first clinical trial on CaEP in breast cancer noted that CaEP could be an effective and safe treatment option [106]. Another clinical study has shown that CaEP is not inferior or less effective in comparison to BLM-based ECT, especially for cutaneous metastasis of breast cancer [108]. Details relevant to clinical trial reports the use of EP-based treatment methods in BC therapy has been shown in Table 3.

Type of Therapy	Trial Type	Phase	NCT Identifier (Status)	Number of Patients	Short Description	Protocol	Study Outcome	Ref.
ECT	Prospective	N/A	N/A	39	ECT for patients with cutaneous or subcutaneous metastases with palliative intent	i.v. BLM (15,000 IU/m ²) + EP 8 pulses; 1.0 kV/cm; PD: 100 μs; 5 kHz; needle electrodes	No SEAs were observed; ORR = 66.6%	[203]
GET	N/A	I	NCT02531425 OMS-I140 (Completed)	10	IL12 plasmid (Tavo) deliver by msEP in the TNBC treatment	Tavo (0.5 mg/mL); dose $\frac{1}{4}$ tumor volume; +i.t. EP 6 pulses; 1.5 kV/cm; pulse duration: 100 ms; PI: 300 ms 6 needle electrodes; 1.0/0.5 cm diameter	enhanced antigen presentation; enhancement of CD8+ T-cell infiltration	[204]
GET + ECT	Non- Randomized Multi-Cohort	П	NCT03567720 (Recruiting)	65	IL12 plasmid (Tavo) delivered by msEP in the TNBC treatment combined with immune- and CT therapy	Tavo + i.t. EP (every 6 W) +i.v. injected Pembrolizumab (3 weekly) +/- i.v. Abraxane [®] (4 weekly)	N/A	N/A
ECT	Randomized	N/A	N/A	38	ECT for breast cancer metastasis to the skin and subcutaneous tissue treatment	15,000 IU/m ² BLM i.v. +8 pulses; pulse duration: 0.1 ms; 1.0 kV/cm 5 hHz 8–28 min after BLM administration	CR = 42% and PR = 29% 12 weeks after	[205]
GET	Randomized	Ι	NCT03199040 (Active, not recruiting)	13	Neoantigen DNA vaccine delivered by EP in the TNBC treatment + Durvalumab (anti-PD-L1 antibody),	Vaccine 2 i.m. EP in 2 different sites, 3 M after the standard of care (D 1) and then D 29, 57, 85, 113 and 141 +/- Durvalumab 1.5 mg every 4 W, at D 85	minimal adverse events reported;	[206,207]
GET	N/A	Ι	NCT02348320 (Completed)	18	Polyepitope, neoantigen DNA vaccine, delivered by EP in the TNBC treatment +/- Durvalumab after completion of a standard of care therapy	Vaccine (4 mg) + i.m. EP at D 1, 29 and 57	N/A	[207,208]

Table 3. Clinical trials and case reports focusing on the use of EP-based therapies in breast carcinoma treatment.

Table 3. Cont.

Type of Therapy	Trial Type	Phase	NCT Identifier (Status)	Number of Patients	Short Description	Protocol	Study Outcome	Ref.
CaEP + ECT	Randomized	п	NCT01941901 (Completed)	7	The comparison between CaEP and ECT in BC treatment.	i.t. CaEP (CaCl ₂ ; 9 mg/mL; total dose: 0.5 mL/cm ³ tumor volume)or BLM (1000 IU/mL; total dose: 0.5 mL/cm ³ tumor volume) + i.t. EP 8 pulses; 0.4 kV/cm; pulse duration: 0.1 ms; 5 kHz	CaEP: OR = 72% (13/18); CR = 66% (12/18); ECT: OR = 84% (16/19) CR = 68% (13/19) no significant difference between the two treatments (p = 0.5) ulceration, itching and exudation reported after ECT	[106]
GET	Non- Randomized	I	NCT02960594 (Completed)	93	Immunotherapy alone or in combination with Il-12 DNA delivered by IM EP in solid tumors therapy	hTERT (2/8 mg) + i.m. EP +/- IL-12 (0.5/2 mg) +/- SynCon [®] TERT (2/8 mg) D 0, W 4, 8 and 12	hTERT immunotherapy induced a de novo cellular immune response or enhanced pre-existing cellular responses to native hTERT in 96% (88/92) of patients	[182]
GET	Non- Randomized	I	NCT02204098 (Recruiting)	56	Mammaglobin-A DNA vaccine delivered by EP for ER+, HER2-BC patients undergoing neoadjuvant endocrine therapy or CT	+/- Neoadjuvant endocrine therapy +/- mammaglobin-A DNA vaccine (4 mg) D 28, 56, and 84 +/- EP +/- Neoadjuvant CT	N/A	N/A

N/A—not applicable; D—day; W—week; M—month; mg—milligram; mL—milliliter; ms—millisecond; µs—microsecond; kV—kilovolts; cm—centimeter; i.v.—intravenous; i.t.—intratumoral; i.m.—intramuscular; CT—chemotherapy; EP—electroporation; ECT—electrochemotherapy; CaEP—Calcium electroporation; GET—gene electrotransfer; OR—objective response; CR—complete response; PR—partial response; ORR—overall response rate; DFS—disease-free survival; SAE—serious adverse events; BC—breast cancer; TNBC—triple-negative breast cancer; IL12—interleukin 12; TIL—tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte; hTERT—human telomerase reverse transcriptase; BLM—bleomycin. To conclude, the application of ECT and CaEP appears to be a more effective and safer treatment for breast carcinoma in vitro and in vivo. ECT has found application in the treatment of breast cancer and its metastases. Palliative effects of ECT have also been demonstrated, and pain reduction has been observed in patients.

4. Conclusions

Considering increasing gynecological and breast cancer incidence, there is an urgent need to look for new, more effective, and less toxic treatment modalities. Electroporation has been investigated for the last two decades. Understanding of the basic mechanisms responsible for this phenomenon has expanded the scope of its application. EP-based therapies offer opportunities for patients who would otherwise be deprived of any alternative cancer treatment. The discovery of the stimulating effect of electroporation on the effectiveness of conventional cytostatics, which was then called electrochemotherapy (ECT), has been significant for oncology. The addition of EP to CSP-based CT enabled a significant therapeutic effect even in CSP-resistant cell lines (e.g., OvBH-1 and SKOV-3) [138,140]. The results presented in our review have also indicated that ECT and CaEP could be used as palliative therapy, its use reducing the number of side effects and improving the comfort of patients' life [132,145]. Other EP-based methods have also shown promising results to date. As a non-thermal ablation therapy, IRE has recently found application as an alternative method of cervical and breast cancer treatment. The advantage of eP-based methods lies in the fact that they do not require the application of cytostatics and are based on naturally occurring molecules in the human body (e.g., CaEP).

Furthermore, it was indicated that most of these methods (e.g., CaEP or IRE) do not affect healthy tissue/cells at a significant level. The other important advantage is the low cost of these methods. The construction of the electroporator and electrodes does not require large financial outlays, which can significantly support oncological treatment in less affluent countries [112], especially considering that, as described above, expensive cytotoxic drugs can easily be omitted or replaced with calcium chloride (CaCl₂). According to in vitro and in vivo studies undertaken already, this will not reduce the effectiveness of the therapy. Moreover, the EP-based therapies' immunomodulatory properties should be more precisely investigated. Babikr et al. have rightly pointed out that tools which enable IRE-induced therapeutic immunity improvement are little known and require further investigation [195].

Each of the treatment options described above has shown promising results to date, although they still require careful evaluation. A significant breakthrough in in vitro research of EP-based therapies may be the wider use of 3D cell cultures, for example, on electrospun PCL [197]. The use of this type of synthetic polymer enables scientists to mimic the tumor microenvironment more accurately in the laboratory. This will help to more precisely predict how a tested drug or treatment will perform in vivo.

Despite a variety of advantages, EP-based therapies are still associated with some side effects. Namely, electric pulses used in IRE or ECT, for example, stimulate excitable tissues and nerves, causing pain and muscle contractions [130]. Preliminary studies have shown the potential of nanosecond-range electrical pulses to overcome this problem, but these need to be studied more precisely. Future research should focus on the search for EP protocols that will enable minimizing the doses of cytotoxic drugs or achieving similar therapeutic effects while completely eliminating them. The molecular mechanisms underlying CaEP in gynecological cancers should also be explored in more detail, and EP protocols designed to reduce or eliminate muscle contractions and acute pain that currently accompany these therapies. It should also be pointed out that the number of studies focusing on the use of EP in the treatment of gynecological and breast cancers and its effects is still negligible compared to other cancers. This is an area of oncology that deserves attention.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, Z.Ł. and J.S.; investigation, Z.Ł., U.S., A.C. and J.S.; resources, J.S.; writing—original draft preparation, Z.Ł., U.S., A.C. and J.S.; writing—review and editing, Z.Ł., A.C. and J.S.; supervision, J.S.; project administration, J.S.; funding acquisition, J.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This review was supported by funding from the Department of Molecular and Cellular Biology, Wroclaw Medical University grant no. SUBZ.D260.22.016.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Data sharing not applicable. No new data were created or analyzed in this study. Data sharing is not applicable to this article.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Sung, H.; Ferlay, J.; Siegel, R.L.; Laversanne, M.; Soerjomataram, I.; Jemal, A.; Bray, F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA Cancer J. Clin.* 2021, 71, 209–249. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 2. Bray, F.; Ferlay, J.; Soerjomataram, I.; Siegel, R.L.; Torre, L.A.; Jemal, A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J. Clin.* 2018, *68*, 394–424. [CrossRef]
- 3. Poorolajal, J. Neglected major causes of death much deadlier than COVID-19. J. Res. Health Sci. 2020, 20, 19–21. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. GLOBOCAN Cancer Tomorrow. Available online: https://gco.iarc.fr/tomorrow/en/about#how-to (accessed on 9 May 2021).
- 5. Garrido, M.P.; Torres, I.; Vega, M.; Romero, C. Angiogenesis in Gynecological Cancers: Role of Neurotrophins. *Front. Oncol.* 2019, 9, 913. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Malla, R.R.; Patnala, K.; Kumar, D.K.G.; Marni, R. Drug resistance in gynecologic cancers: Emphasis on noncoding RNAs and drug efflux mechanisms. In *Overcoming Drug Resistance in Gynecologic Cancers*; Basha, R., Ahmad, S., Eds.; Academic Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2021; pp. 155–168.
- Holcakova, J.; Bartosik, M.; Anton, M.; Minar, L.; Hausnerova, J.; Bednarikova, M.; Weinberger, V.; Hrstka, R. New trends in the detection of gynecological precancerous lesions and early-stage cancers. *Cancers* 2021, 13, 6339. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cancer Today. Available online: https://gco.iarc.fr/today/online-analysis-pie?v=2020&mode=cancer&mode_population= continents&population=900&populations=900&key=total&sex=2&cancer=39&type=0&statistic=5&prevalence=0&population_ group=0&ages_group%5B%5D=0&ages_group%5B%5D=17&nb_items=7&group_cancer=1&include_nmsc=1&include_nmsc_ other=1&half_pie=0&donut=1 (accessed on 30 January 2022).
- 9. Gothelf, A.; Mir, L.M.; Gehl, J. Electrochemotherapy: Results of cancer treatment using enhanced delivery of bleomycin by electroporation. *Cancer Treat. Rev.* 2003, 29, 371–387. [CrossRef]
- Mali, B.; Jarm, T.; Snoj, M.; Sersa, G.; Miklavcic, D. Antitumor effectiveness of electrochemotherapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* 2013, 39, 4–16. [CrossRef]
- 11. Edhemovic, I.; Gadzijev, E.M.; Brecelj, E.; Miklavcic, D.; Kos, B.; Zupanic, A.; Mali, B.; Jarm, T.; Pavliha, D.; Marcan, M.; et al. Electrochemotherapy: A new technological approach in treatment of metastases in the liver. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* **2011**, *10*, 475–485. [CrossRef]
- Campana, L.G.; Edhemovic, I.; Soden, D.; Perrone, A.M.; Scarpa, M.; Campanacci, L.; Cemazar, M.; Valpione, S.; Miklavčič, D.; Mocellin, S.; et al. Electrochemotherapy—Emerging applications technical advances, new indications, combined approaches, and multi-institutional collaboration. *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* 2019, 45, 92–102. [CrossRef]
- Miklavcic, D.; Snoj, M.; Zupanic, A.; Kos, B.; Cemazar, M.; Kropivnik, M.; Bracko, M.; Pecnik, T.; Gadzijev, E.; Sersa, G. Towards treatment planning and treatment of deep-seated solid tumors by electrochemotherapy. *Biomed. Eng. Online* 2010, 9, 10. [CrossRef]
- Kotnik, T.; Rems, L.; Tarek, M.; Miklavcic, D. Membrane Electroporation and Electropermeabilization: Mechanisms and Models. Annu. Rev. Biophys. 2019, 48, 63–91. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mahnič-Kalamiza, S.; Vorobiev, E.; Miklavčič, D. Electroporation in Food Processing and Biorefinery. J. Membr. Biol. 2014, 247, 1279–1304. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kotnik, T.; Frey, W.; Sack, M.; Haberl Meglič, S.; Peterka, M.; Miklavčič, D. Electroporation-based applications in biotechnology. *Trends Biotechnol.* 2015, 33, 480–488. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Raghav, A.; Jeong, G.-B. A systematic review on the modifications of extracellular vesicles: A revolutionized tool of nanobiotechnology. J. Nanobiotechnol. 2021, 19, 459. [CrossRef]
- Yarmush, M.L.; Golberg, A.; Serša, G.; Kotnik, T.; Miklavčič, D. Electroporation-based technologies for medicine: Principles, applications, and challenges. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2014, 16, 295–320. [CrossRef]

- Geboers, B.; Scheffer, H.J.; Graybill, P.M.; Ruarus, A.H.; Nieuwenhuizen, S.; Puijk, R.S.; Van Den Tol, P.M.; Davalos, R.V.; Rubinsky, B.; De Gruijl, T.D.; et al. High-voltage electrical pulses in oncology: Irreversible electroporation, electrochemotherapy, gene electrotransfer, electrofusion, and electroimmunotherapy. *Radiology* 2020, 295, 254–272. [CrossRef]
- 20. Reddy, V.Y.; Neuzil, P.; Koruth, J.S.; Petru, J.; Funosako, M.; Cochet, H.; Sediva, L.; Chovanec, M.; Dukkipati, S.R.; Jais, P. Pulsed Field Ablation for Pulmonary Vein Isolation in Atrial Fibrillation. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* **2019**, *74*, 315–326. [CrossRef]
- 21. Neumann, E.; Schaefer-Ridder, M.; Wang, Y.; Hofschneider, P.H. Gene transfer into electric fields. *EMBO J.* **1982**, *1*, 841–845. [CrossRef]
- 22. Daud, A.I.; DeConti, R.C.; Andrews, S.; Urbas, P.; Riker, A.I.; Sondak, V.K.; Munster, P.N.; Sullivan, D.M.; Ugen, K.E.; Messina, J.L.; et al. Phase I trial of interleukin-12 plasmid electroporation in patients with metastatic melanoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2008, 26, 5896–5903. [CrossRef]
- 23. Titomirov, A.V.; Sukharev, S.; Kistanova, E. In vivo electroporation and stable transformation of skin cells of newborn mice by plasmid DNA. *BBA Gene Struct. Expr.* **1991**, *1088*, 131–134. [CrossRef]
- 24. Hart, F.X.; Palisano, J.R. The Application of Electric Fields in Biology and Medicine. In *Electric Field*; IntechOpen: London, UK, 2018; pp. 161–186, ISBN 978-1-78923-187-8.
- Aguilar, A.A.; Ho, M.C.; Chang, E.; Carlson, K.W.; Natarajan, A.; Marciano, T.; Bomzon, Z.; Patel, C.B. Permeabilizing cell membranes with electric fields. *Cancers* 2021, *13*, 2283. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Steinchen, A.; Gallez, D.; Sanfeld, A. A viscoelastic approach to the hydrodynamic stability of membranes. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1982, 85, 5–15. [CrossRef]
- 27. Crowley, J.M. Electrical Breakdown of Bimolecular Lipid Membranes as an Electromechanical Instability. *Biophys. J.* **1973**, *13*, 711–724. [CrossRef]
- 28. Michael, D.H.; O'neill, M.E. Electrohydrodynamic instability in plane layers of fluid. J. Fluid Mech. 1970, 41, 571–580. [CrossRef]
- Sugár, I.P. A theory of the electric field-induced phase transition of phospholipid bilayers. BBA Biomembr. 1979, 556, 72–85. [CrossRef]
- 30. Tsong, T.Y. Electroporation of cell membranes. Biophys. J. 1991, 60, 297–306. [CrossRef]
- 31. Rems, L.; Miklavčič, D. Tutorial: Electroporation of cells in complex materials and tissue. J. Appl. Phys. 2016, 119, 201101. [CrossRef]
- 32. Aycock, K.N.; Davalos, R.V. Irreversible Electroporation: Background, Theory, and Review of Recent Developments in Clinical Oncology. *Bioelectricity* **2019**, *1*, 214–234. [CrossRef]
- 33. Weaver, J.C.; Chizmadzhev, Y.A. Theory of electroporation: A review. Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg. 1996, 41, 135–160. [CrossRef]
- 34. Freeman, S.A.; Wang, M.A.; Weaver, J.C. Theory of electroporation of planar bilayer membranes: Predictions of the aqueous area, change in capacitance, and pore-pore separation. *Biophys. J.* **1994**, *67*, 42–56. [CrossRef]
- 35. Kotnik, T.; Pucihar, G.; Miklavčič, D. Induced transmembrane voltage and its correlation with electroporation- mediated molecular transport. *J. Membr. Biol.* **2010**, 236, 3–13. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pucihar, G.; Kotnik, T.; Valič, B.; Miklavčič, D. Numerical determination of transmembrane voltage induced on irregularly shaped cells. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 2006, 34, 642–652. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 37. Hu, Q.; Joshi, R.P. Transmembrane voltage analyses in spheroidal cells in response to an intense ultrashort electrical pulse. *Phys. Rev. E Stat. Nonlinear Soft Matter Phys.* **2009**, 79, 011901. [CrossRef]
- Weaver, J.C.; Smith, K.C.; Esser, A.T.; Son, R.S.; Gworishankar, T.R. A brief overview of electroporation pulse strength-duration space: A region where additional intracellular effects are expected. *Bioelectrochemistry* 2012, *87*, 236–243. [CrossRef]
- Teissié, J.; Rols, M.P. An experimental evaluation of the critical potential difference inducing cell membrane electropermeabilization. *Biophys. J.* 1993, 65, 409–413. [CrossRef]
- 40. Teissie, J.; Tsong, T.Y. Electric Field Induced Transient Pores in Phospholipid Bilayer Vesicles. *Biochemistry* **1981**, *20*, 1548–1554. [CrossRef]
- 41. Probst, U.; Fuhrmann, I.; Beyer, L.; Wiggermann, P. Electrochemotherapy as a new modality in interventional oncology: A review. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* **2018**, *17*, 1533033818785329. [CrossRef]
- 42. Nuccitelli, R. Application of Pulsed Electric Fields to Cancer Therapy. Bioelectricity 2019, 1, 30–34. [CrossRef]
- 43. Breton, M.; Mir, L.M. Microsecond and nanosecond electric pulses in cancer treatments. *Bioelectromagnetics* **2012**, *33*, 106–123. [CrossRef]
- 44. Liu, H.; Zhao, Y.; Yao, C.; Schmelz, E.M.; Davalos, R.V. Differential effects of nanosecond pulsed electric fields on cells representing progressive ovarian cancer. *Bioelectrochemistry* **2021**, *142*, 107942. [CrossRef]
- Zhou, P.; He, F.; Han, Y.; Liu, B.; Wei, S. Nanosecond pulsed electric field induces calcium mobilization in osteoblasts. *Bioelectro-chemistry* 2018, 124, 7–12. [CrossRef]
- Pakhomov, A.G.; Xiao, S.; Pakhomova, O.N.; Semenov, I.; Kuipers, M.A.; Ibey, B.L. Disassembly of actin structures by nanosecond pulsed electric field is a downstream effect of cell swelling. *Bioelectrochemistry* 2014, 100, 88–95. [CrossRef]
- 47. Kulbacka, J. Nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsPEFs) impact and enhanced Photofrin II[®] delivery in photodynamic reaction in cancer and normal cells. *Photodiagn. Photodyn. Ther.* 2015, 12, 621–629. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Tolstykh, G.P.; Beier, H.T.; Roth, C.C.; Thompson, G.L.; Payne, J.A.; Kuipers, M.A.; Ibey, B.L. Activation of intracellular phosphoinositide signaling after a single 600 nanosecond electric pulse. *Bioelectrochemistry* 2013, 94, 23–29. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 49. Morotomi-Yano, K.; Akiyama, H.; Yano, K.I. Nanosecond pulsed electric fields activate MAPK pathways in human cells. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **2011**, *515*, 99–106. [CrossRef]
- 50. Beebe, S.J.; White, J.; Blackmore, P.F.; Deng, Y.; Somers, K.; Schoenbach, K.H. Diverse Effects of Nanosecond Pulsed Electric Fields on Cells and Tissues. *DNA Cell Biol.* 2003, 22, 785–796. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Beebe, S.J.; Chen, Y.J.; Sain, N.M.; Schoenbach, K.H.; Xiao, S. Transient Features in Nanosecond Pulsed Electric Fields Differentially Modulate Mitochondria and Viability. *PLoS ONE* 2012, 7, e51349. [CrossRef]
- 52. Napotnik, T.B.; Wu, Y.H.; Gundersen, M.A.; Miklavčič, D.; Vernier, P.T. Nanosecond electric pulses cause mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in Jurkat cells. *Bioelectromagnetics* **2012**, *33*, 257–264. [CrossRef]
- 53. Berghöfer, T.; Eing, C.; Flickinger, B.; Hohenberger, P.; Wegner, L.H.; Frey, W.; Nick, P. Nanosecond electric pulses trigger actin responses in plant cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2009**, *387*, 590–595. [CrossRef]
- Rassokhin, M.A.; Pakhomov, A.G. Electric field exposure triggers and guides formation of pseudopod-like blebs in U937 monocytes. J. Membr. Biol. 2012, 245, 521–529. [CrossRef]
- Beebe, S.J.; Fox, P.M.; Rec, L.J.; Willis, E.L.K.; Schoenbach, K.H. Nanosecond, high-intensity pulsed electric fields induce apoptosis in human cells. *FASEB J.* 2003, *17*, 1493–1495. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Semenov, I.; Zemlin, C.; Pakhomova, O.N.; Xiao, S.; Pakhomov, A.G. Diffuse, non-polar electropermeabilization and reduced propidium uptake distinguish the effect of nanosecond electric pulses. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomembr.* 2015, 1848, 2118–2125. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 57. Morotomi-Yano, K.; Akiyama, H.; Yano, K.I. Different involvement of extracellular calcium in two modes of cell death induced by nanosecond pulsed electric fields. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **2014**, 555–556, 47–54. [CrossRef]
- Ren, W.; Sain, N.M.; Beebe, S.J. Nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsPEFs) activate intrinsic caspase-dependent and caspaseindependent cell death in Jurkat cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2012, 421, 808–812. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 59. Zhang, J.; Blackmore, P.F.; Hargrave, B.Y.; Xiao, S.; Beebe, S.J.; Schoenbach, K.H. Nanosecond pulse electric field (nanopulse): A novel non-ligand agonist for platelet activation. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **2008**, 471, 240–248. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 60. Perni, S.; Chalise, P.R.; Shama, G.; Kong, M.G. Bacterial cells exposed to nanosecond pulsed electric fields show lethal and sublethal effects. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 2007, *120*, 311–314. [CrossRef]
- Pucihar, G.; Miklavčič, D.; Kotnik, T. A time-dependent numerical model of transmembrane voltage inducement and electroporation of irregularly shaped cells. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 2009, 56, 1491–1501. [CrossRef]
- Pucihar, G.; Kotnik, T.; Miklavčič, D. Measuring the induced membrane voltage with Di-8-ANEPPS. J. Vis. Exp. 2009, 33, e1659.
 [CrossRef]
- 63. Loew, L.M. Voltage-sensitive dyes: Measurement of membrane potentials induced by DC and AC electric fields. *Bioelectromagnetics* **1992**, *13*, 179–189. [CrossRef]
- 64. Miklavčič, D.; Pavšelj, N.; Hart, F.X. Electric Properties of Tissues. Wiley Encycl. Biomed. Eng. 2006, 6, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- Pavšelj, N.; Bregar, Z.; Cukjati, D.; Batiuskaite, D.; Mir, L.M.; Miklavčič, D. The course of tissue permeabilization studied on a mathematical model of a subcutaneous tumor in small animals. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 2005, *52*, 1373–1381. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Golberg, A.; Rubinsky, B. Towards electroporation based treatment planning considering electric field induced muscle contractions. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* 2012, 11, 189–201. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Neal, R.E.; Garcia, P.A.; Robertson, J.L.; Davalos, R.V. Experimental characterization and numerical modeling of tissue electrical conductivity during pulsed electric fields for irreversible electroporation treatment planning. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 2012, 59, 1076–1085. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pavšelj, N.; Miklavčič, D. Numerical modeling in electroporation-based biomedical applications. *Radiol. Oncol.* 2008, 42, 159–168. [CrossRef]
- Granot, Y.; Ivorra, A.; Maor, E.; Rubinsky, B. In vivo imaging of irreversible electroporation by means of electrical impedance tomography. *Phys. Med. Biol.* 2009, 54, 4927–4943. [CrossRef]
- Davalos, R.V.; Otten, D.M.; Mir, L.M.; Rubinsky, B. Electrical Impedance Tomography for Imaging Tissue Electroporation. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 2004, 51, 761–767. [CrossRef]
- 71. Kranjc, M.; Bajd, F.; Serša, I.; Miklavčič, D. Magnetic resonance electrical impedance tomography for measuring electrical conductivity during electroporation. *Physiol. Meas.* **2014**, *35*, 985–996. [CrossRef]
- 72. Buijs, M.; de Bruin, D.M.; Wagstaff, P.G.; Zondervan, J.P.; Jv Scheltema, M.; Engelbrecht, W.M.; Laguna, P.M.; van Lienden, K.P. MRI and CT in the follow-up after irreversible electroporation of small renal masses. *Diagn. Interv. Radiol.* 2021, 27, 654–663. [CrossRef]
- 73. Wang, Z.L.; Zhou, W.; Xiong, Z.A.; Yu, T.H.; Wu, L.M.; Li, C.X.; Yao, C.G.; Wu, Y.T.; Hua, Y.Y. Irreversible electroporation-mediated shRNA knockdown of the HPV18 E6 gene suppresses cervical cancer growth in vitro and in vivo. Oncol. Lett. 2017, 14, 1943–1949. [CrossRef]
- 74. Davalos, R.V.; Mir, L.M.; Rubinsky, B. Tissue ablation with irreversible electroporation. *Ann. Biomed. Eng.* **2005**, *33*, 223–231. [CrossRef]
- 75. Knavel, E.M.; Brace, C.L. Tumor ablation: Common modalities and general practices. *Tech. Vasc. Interv. Radiol.* **2013**, *16*, 192–200. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 76. Silk, M.; Tahour, D.; Srimathveeravalli, G.; Solomon, S.B.; Thornton, R.H. The state of irreversible electroporation in interventional oncology. *Semin. Interv. Radiol.* 2014, *31*, 111–117. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 77. Silk, M.T.; Wimmer, T.; Lee, K.S.; Srimathveeravalli, G.; Brown, K.T.; Kingham, P.T.; Fong, Y.; Durack, J.C.; Sofocleous, C.T.; Solomon, S.B. Percutaneous ablation of peribiliary tumors with irreversible electroporation. *J. Vasc. Interv. Radiol.* 2014, 25, 112–118. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 78. Charpentier, K.P.; Wolf, F.; Noble, L.; Winn, B.; Resnick, M.; Dupuy, D.E. Irreversible electroporation of the pancreas in swine: A pilot study. *Hpb* **2010**, *12*, 348–351. [CrossRef]
- 79. Rubinsky, B.; Onik, G.; Mikus, P. Irreversible electroporation: A new ablation modality—Clinical implications. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* 2007, *6*, 37–48. [CrossRef]
- Lee, E.W.; Chen, C.; Prieto, V.E.; Dry, S.M.; Loh, C.T.; Kee, S.T. Advanced hepatic ablation technique for creating complete cell death: Irreversible electroporation. *Radiology* 2010, 255, 426–433. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, N.; Li, Z.; Han, X.; Zhu, Z.; Li, Z.; Zhao, Y.; Liu, Z.; Lv, Y. Irreversible Electroporation: An Emerging Immunomodulatory Therapy on Solid Tumors. *Front. Immunol.* 2022, 12, 811726. [CrossRef]
- Li, X.; Yang, F.; Gao, B.; Yu, X.; Rubinsky, B. A Theoretical Analysis of the Effects of Tumor-Treating Electric Fields on Single Cells. Bioelectromagnetics 2020, 41, 438–446. [CrossRef]
- Li, X.; Yang, F.; Rubinsky, B. A Theoretical Study on the Biophysical Mechanisms by Which Tumor Treating Fields Affect Tumor Cells during Mitosis. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 2020, 67, 2594–2602. [CrossRef]
- Escribá, P.V.; González-Ros, J.M.; Goñi, F.M.; Kinnunen, P.K.J.; Vigh, L.; Sánchez-Magraner, L.; Fernández, A.M.; Busquets, X.; Horváth, I.; Barceló-Coblijn, G. Membranes: A meeting point for lipids, proteins and therapies: Translational Medicine. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 2008, 12, 829–875. [CrossRef]
- 85. Blackiston, D.J.; McLaughlin, K.A.; Levin, M. Bioelectric controls of cell proliferation: Ion channels, membrane voltage and the cell cycle. *Cell Cycle* **2009**, *8*, 3527–3536. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 86. Mir, L.M.; Orlowski, S.; Belehradek, J.; Paoletti, C. Electrochemotherapy potentiation of antitumour effect of bleomycin by local electric pulses. *Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol.* **1991**, *27*, 68–72. [CrossRef]
- Sersa, G.; Miklavcic, D.; Cemazar, M.; Rudolf, Z.; Pucihar, G.; Snoj, M. Electrochemotherapy in treatment of tumours. *Eur. J. Surg.* Oncol. 2008, 34, 232–240. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Marty, M.; Sersa, G.; Garbay, J.R.; Gehl, J.; Collins, C.G.; Snoj, M.; Billard, V.; Geertsen, P.F.; Larkin, J.O.; Miklavcic, D.; et al. Electrochemotherapy—An easy, highly effective and safe treatment of cutaneous and subcutaneous metastases: Results of ESOPE (European Standard Operating Procedures of Electrochemotherapy) study. *Eur. J. Cancer Suppl.* 2006, *4*, 3–13. [CrossRef]
- Mir, L.M.; Gehl, J.; Sersa, G.; Collins, C.G.; Garbay, J.R.; Billard, V.; Geertsen, P.F.; Rudolf, Z.; O'Sullivan, G.C.; Marty, M. Standard operating procedures of the electrochemotherapy: Instructions for the use of bleomycin or cisplatin administered either systemically or locally and electric pulses delivered by the CliniporatorTM by means of invasive or non-invasive electrodes. *Eur. J. Cancer Suppl.* 2006, *4*, 14–25. [CrossRef]
- 90. Miklavčič, D.; Mali, B.; Kos, B.; Heller, R.; Serša, G. Electrochemotherapy: From the drawing board into medical practice. *Biomed. Eng. Online* **2014**, *13*, 29. [CrossRef]
- Perrone, A.M.; Ferioli, M.; Galuppi, A.; Coe, M.; de Terlizzi, F.; Tesei, M.; Dondi, G.; de Palma, A.; Morganti, A.G.; de Iaco, P. Palliative treatment with electrochemotherapy in recurrent or metastatic vaginal cancer. *Int. J. Gynecol. Cancer* 2020, *30*, 939–946. [CrossRef]
- 92. Jaroszeski, M.J.; Dang, V.; Pottinger, C.; Hickey, J.; Gilbert, R.; Heller, R. Toxicity of anticancer agents mediated by electroporation in vitro. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 2000, *11*, 201–208. [CrossRef]
- Serša, G.; Štabuc, B.; Čemažar, M.; Miklavčič, D.; Rudolf, Z. Electrochemotherapy with cisplatin: Clinical experience in malignant melanoma patients. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2000, 6, 863–867.
- 94. Todorovic, V.; Sersa, G.; Flisar, K.; Cemazar, M. Enhanced cytotoxicity of bleomycin and cisplatin after electroporation in murine colorectal carcinoma cells. *Radiol. Oncol.* 2009, 43, 264–273. [CrossRef]
- 95. Rembiałkowska, N.; Dubińska-Magiera, M.; Sikora, A.; Szlasa, W.; Szewczyk, A.; Czapor-Irzabek, H.; Daczewska, M.; Saczko, J.; Kulbacka, J. Doxorubicin assisted by microsecond electroporation promotes irreparable morphological alternations in sensitive and resistant human breast adenocarcinoma cells. *Appl. Sci.* **2020**, *10*, 2765. [CrossRef]
- Saczko, J.; Kamińska, I.; Kotulska, M.; Bar, J.; Choromańska, A.; Rembiałkowska, N.; Biezuńska-Kusiak, K.; Rossowska, J.; Nowakowska, D.; Kulbacka, J. Combination of therapy with 5-fluorouracil and cisplatin with electroporation in human ovarian carcinoma model in vitro. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2014, 68, 573–580. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zalewski, J.; Mączyńska, J.; Bieżuńska-Kusiak, K.; Kulbacka, J.; Choromańska, A.; Przestrzelska, M.; Zalewski, M.; Saczko, Z.; Cwynar-Zając, Ł.; Rusak, A.; et al. Calophyllum inophyllum in vaginitis treatment: Stimulated by electroporation with an in vitro approach. *Adv. Clin. Exp. Med.* 2019, *28*, 223–228. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mączyńska, J.; Choromańska, A.; Kutkowska, J.; Kotulska, M.; Zalewski, M.; Zalewski, J.; Kulbacka, J.; Saczko, J. Effect of electrochemotherapy with betulinic acid or cisplatin on regulation of heat shock proteins in metastatic human carcinoma cells in vitro. Oncol. Rep. 2019, 41, 3444–3454. [CrossRef]
- Calvet, C.Y.; Famin, D.; André, F.M.; Mir, L.M. Electrochemotherapy with bleomycin induces hallmarks of immunogenic cell death in murine colon cancer cells. *Oncoimmunology* 2014, 3, e28131. [CrossRef]

- 100. Heller, R.; Coppola, D.; Pottinger, C.; Gilbert, R.; Jaroszeski, M.J. Effect of electrochemotherapy on muscle and skin. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* 2002, 1, 385–391. [CrossRef]
- Agerholm-Larsen, B.; Iversen, H.K.; Ibsen, P.; Moller, J.M.; Mahmood, F.; Jensen, K.S.; Gehl, J. Preclinical validation of electrochemotherapy as an effective treatment for brain tumors. *Cancer Res.* 2011, 71, 3753–3762. [CrossRef]
- 102. Frandsen, S.K.; Gibot, L.; Madi, M.; Gehl, J.; Rols, M.P. Calcium electroporation: Evidence for differential effects in normal and malignant cell lines, evaluated in a 3D spheroid model. *PLoS ONE* **2015**, *10*, e0144028. [CrossRef]
- Frandsen, S.K.; Gissel, H.; Hojman, P.; Tramm, T.; Eriksen, J.; Gehl, J. Direct therapeutic applications of calcium electroporation to effectively induce tumor necrosis. *Cancer Res.* 2012, 72, 1336–1341. [CrossRef]
- 104. Frandsen, S.K.; Gissel, H.; Hojman, P.; Eriksen, J.; Gehl, J. Calcium electroporation in three cell lines: A comparison of bleomycin and calcium, calcium compounds, and pulsing conditions. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj.* **2014**, *1840*, 1204–1208. [CrossRef]
- 105. Hoejholt, K.L.; Mužić, T.; Jensen, S.D.; Dalgaard, L.T.; Bilgin, M.; Nylandsted, J.; Heimburg, T.; Frandsen, S.K.; Gehl, J. Calcium electroporation and electrochemotherapy for cancer treatment: Importance of cell membrane composition investigated by lipidomics, calorimetry and in vitro efficacy. *Sci. Rep.* 2019, *9*, 4758. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Falk, H.; Matthiessen, L.W.; Wooler, G.; Gehl, J. Calcium electroporation for treatment of cutaneous metastases; a randomized double-blinded phase II study, comparing the effect of calcium electroporation with electrochemotherapy. *Acta Oncol.* 2018, *57*, 311–319. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 107. Plaschke, C.C.; Gehl, J.; Johannesen, H.H.; Fischer, B.M.; Kjaer, A.; Lomholt, A.F.; Wessel, I. Calcium electroporation for recurrent head and neck cancer: A clinical phase I study. *Laryngoscope Investig. Otolaryngol.* **2019**, *4*, 49–56. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 108. Ágoston, D.; Baltás, E.; Ócsai, H.; Rátkai, S.; Lázár, P.G.; Korom, I.; Varga, E.; Németh, I.B.; Viharosné, É.D.R.; Gehl, J.; et al. Evaluation of calcium electroporation for the treatment of cutaneous metastases: A double blinded randomised controlled phase II trial. *Cancers* 2020, 12, 179. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 109. Navickaitė, D.; Ruzgys, P.; Maciulevičius, M.; Dijk, G.; O'Connor, R.P.; Šatkauskas, S. Ca²⁺ roles in electroporation-induced changes of cancer cell physiology: From membrane repair to cell death. *Bioelectrochemistry* **2021**, *142*, 107927. [CrossRef]
- Frandsen, S.K.; Krüger, M.B.; Mangalanathan, U.M.; Tramm, T.; Mahmood, F.; Novak, I.; Gehl, J. Normal and malignant cells exhibit differential responses to calcium electroporation. *Cancer Res.* 2017, 77, 4389–4401. [CrossRef]
- 111. Gibot, L.; Montigny, A.; Baaziz, H.; Fourquaux, I.; Audebert, M.; Rols, M.P. Calcium delivery by electroporation induces in vitro cell death through mitochondrial dysfunction without DNA damages. *Cancers* **2020**, *12*, 425. [CrossRef]
- 112. Frandsen, S.K.; Vissing, M.; Gehl, J. A comprehensive review of calcium electroporation—A novel cancer treatment modality. *Cancers* **2020**, *12*, 290. [CrossRef]
- Monteith, G.R.; Prevarskaya, N.; Roberts-Thomson, S.J. The calcium-cancer signalling nexus. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2017, 17, 367–380.
 [CrossRef]
- 114. Batista Napotnik, T.; Polajžer, T.; Miklavčič, D. Cell death due to electroporation—A review. *Bioelectrochemistry* **2021**, *141*, 107871. [CrossRef]
- Staresinic, B.; Jesenko, T.; Kamensek, U.; Krog Frandsen, S.; Sersa, G.; Gehl, J.; Cemazar, M. Effect of calcium electroporation on tumour vasculature. Sci. Rep. 2018, 8, 9412. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zielichowska, A.; Daczewska, M.; Saczko, J.; Michel, O.; Kulbacka, J. Applications of calcium electroporation to effective apoptosis induction in fibrosarcoma cells and stimulation of normal muscle cells. *Bioelectrochemistry* 2016, 109, 70–78. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 117. Szewczyk, A.; Gehl, J.; Daczewska, M.; Saczko, J.; Frandsen, S.K.; Kulbacka, J. Calcium electroporation for treatment of sarcoma in preclinical studies. *Oncotarget* **2018**, *9*, 11604–11618. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sachdev, S.; Potočnik, T.; Rems, L.; Miklavčič, D. Revisiting the role of pulsed electric fields in overcoming the barriers to in vivo gene electrotransfer. *Bioelectrochemistry* 2021, 144, 107994. [CrossRef]
- 119. Zhao, Z.; Anselmo, A.C.; Mitragotri, S. Viral vector-based gene therapies in the clinic. *Bioeng. Transl. Med.* **2021**, *7*, e10258. [CrossRef]
- 120. Wilson, J.M.; Flotte, T.R. Moving Forward after Two Deaths in a Gene Therapy Trial of Myotubular Myopathy. *Hum. Gene Ther.* **2020**, *31*, 695–696. [CrossRef]
- 121. Bulysheva, A.; Hornef, J.; Edelblute, C.; Jiang, C.; Schoenbach, K.; Lundberg, C.; Malik, M.A.; Heller, R. Coalesced thermal and electrotransfer mediated delivery of plasmid DNA to the skin. *Bioelectrochemistry* **2019**, *125*, 127–133. [CrossRef]
- 122. Donate, A.; Bulysheva, A.; Edelblute, C.; Jung, D.; Malik, A.M.; Guo, S.; Burcus, N.; Schoenbach, K.; Heller, R. Thermal Assisted In Vivo Gene Electrotransfer. *Curr. Gene Ther.* **2016**, *16*, 83–89. [CrossRef]
- Wolf, H.; Rols, M.P.; Boldt, E.; Neumann, E.; Teissié, J. Control by pulse parameters of electric field-mediated gene transfer in mammalian cells. *Biophys. J.* 1994, 66, 524–531. [CrossRef]
- 124. Golzio, M.; Teissié, J.; Rols, M.P. Direct visualization at the single-cell level of electrically mediated gene delivery. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2002, *99*, 1292–1297. [CrossRef]
- 125. Faurie, C.; Robersek, M.; Golzio, M.; Kanduser, M.; Escoffre, J.-M.; Pavlin, M.; Teissie, J.; Miklavčič, D.; Rols, M.-P. Electromediated gene transfer and expression are controlled by the life-time of DNA/membrane complex formation. *J. Gene Med.* 2010, 12, 117–125. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 126. Boye, C.; Christensen, K.; Asadipour, K.; DeClemente, S.; Francis, M.; Bulysheva, A. Gene electrotransfer of FGF2 enhances collagen scaffold biocompatibility. *Bioelectrochemistry* **2022**, *144*, 107980. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 127. Nuccitelli, R.; Chen, X.; Pakhomov, A.G.; Baldwin, W.H.; Sheikh, S.; Pomicter, J.L.; Ren, W.; Osgood, C.; Swanson, R.J.; Kolb, J.F.; et al. A new pulsed electric field therapy for melanoma disrupts the tumor's blood supply and causes complete remission without recurrence. *Int. J. Cancer* 2009, 125, 438–445. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 128. Nuccitelli, R.; Huynh, J.; Lui, K.; Wood, R.; Kreis, M.; Athos, B.; Nuccitelli, P. Nanoelectroablation of human pancreatic carcinoma in a murine xenograft model without recurrence. *Int. J. Cancer* **2013**, *132*, 1933–1939. [CrossRef]
- Nuccitelli, R.; Tran, K.; Athos, B.; Kreis, M.; Nuccitelli, P.; Chang, K.S.; Epstein, E.H.; Tang, J.Y. Nanoelectroablation therapy for murine basal cell carcinoma. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2012, 424, 446–450. [CrossRef]
- 130. Polajžer, T.; Dermol-Černe, J.; Reberšek, M.; O'Connor, R.; Miklavčič, D. Cancellation effect is present in high-frequency reversible and irreversible electroporation. *Bioelectrochemistry* **2020**, *132*, 107442. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 131. Perrone, A.M.; Cima, S.; Pozzati, F.; Frakulli, R.; Cammelli, S.; Tesei, M.; Gasparre, G.; Galuppi, A.; Morganti, A.G.; De Iaco, P. Palliative electro-chemotherapy in elderly patients with vulvar cancer: A phase II trial. *J. Surg. Oncol.* 2015, *112*, 529–532. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 132. Perrone, A.M.; Galuppi, A.; Cima, S.; Pozzati, F.; Arcelli, A.; Cortesi, A.; Procaccini, M.; Pellegrini, A.; Zamagni, C.; De Iaco, P. Electrochemotherapy can be used as palliative treatment in patients with repeated loco-regional recurrence of squamous vulvar cancer: A preliminary study. *Gynecol. Oncol.* 2013, 130, 550–553. [CrossRef]
- Sharei, A.; Cho, N.; Mao, S.; Jackson, E.; Poceviciute, R.; Adamo, A.; Zoldan, J.; Langer, R.; Jensen, K.F. Cell squeezing as a robust, microfluidic intracellular delivery platform. J. Vis. Exp. 2013, 81, e50980. [CrossRef]
- 134. Sokołowska, E.; Błachnio-Zabielska, A.U. A critical review of electroporation as a plasmid delivery system in mouse skeletal muscle. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2019, 20, 2776. [CrossRef]
- Stewart, C.; Ralyea, C.; Lockwood, S. Ovarian Cancer: An Integrated Review. Semin. Oncol. Nurs. 2019, 35, 151–156. [CrossRef]
 [PubMed]
- 136. Reid, F. World Ovarian Cancer Coalition Atlas 2020: Global Trends in Incidence, Mortality and Survival; World Ovarian Cancer Coalition: Toronto, ON, Canada, 2020.
- 137. Momenimovahed, Z.; Tiznobaik, A.; Taheri, S.; Salehiniya, H. Ovarian cancer in the world: Epidemiology and risk factors. *Int. J. Women Health* **2019**, *11*, 287–299. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Saczko, J.; Pilat, J.; Choromanska, A.; Rembialkowska, N.; Bar, J.; Kaminska, I.; Zalewski, J.; Kulbacka, J. The effectiveness of chemotherapy and electrochemotherapy on ovarian cell lines in vitro. *Neoplasma* 2016, 63, 450–455. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vaughan, S.; Coward, J.I.; Bast, R.C.; Berchuck, A.; Berek, J.S.; Brenton, J.D.; Coukos, G.; Crum, C.C.; Drapkin, R.; Etemad-moghadam, D.; et al. Rethinking ovarian cancer: Recommendations for improving outcomes. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2011, *11*, 719–725. [CrossRef]
- 140. Łapińska, Z.; Dębiński, M.; Szewczyk, A.; Choromańska, A.; Kulbacka, J.; Saczko, J. Electrochemotherapy with calcium chloride and 17β-estradiol modulated viability and apoptosis pathway in human ovarian cancer. *Pharmaceutics* **2021**, *13*, 19. [CrossRef]
- 141. Rolong, A.; Schmelz, E.M.; Davalos, R.V. High-frequency irreversible electroporation targets resilient tumor-initiating cells in ovarian cancer. *Integr. Biol.* 2017, *9*, 979–987. [CrossRef]
- 142. Yao, C.; Lv, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Dong, S.; Liu, H.; Ma, J. Synergistic combinations of short high-voltage pulses and long low-voltage pulses enhance irreversible electroporation efficacy. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 15123. [CrossRef]
- 143. Kobayashi, M.; Sawada, K.; Miyamoto, M.; Shimizu, A.; Yamamoto, M.; Kinose, Y.; Nakamura, K.; Kawano, M.; Kodama, M.; Hashimoto, K.; et al. Exploring the potential of engineered exosomes as delivery systems for tumor-suppressor microRNA replacement therapy in ovarian cancer. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2020, 527, 153–161. [CrossRef]
- 144. Perales-Puchalt, A.; Duperret, E.K.; Yang, X.; Hernandez, P.; Wojtak, K.; Zhu, X.; Jung, S.H.; Tello-Ruiz, E.; Wise, M.C.; Montaner, L.J.; et al. DNA-encoded bispecific T cell engagers and antibodies present long-term antitumor activity. *JCI Insight* 2019, 4, e126086. [CrossRef]
- 145. Ahmed-Salim, Y.; Saso, S.; Meehan, H.E.; Galazis, N.; Phelps, D.L.; Jones, B.P.; Chan, M.; Chawla, M.; Lathouras, K.; Gabra, H.; et al. A novel application of calcium electroporation to cutaneous manifestations of gynaecological cancer. *Eur. J. Gynaecol. Oncol.* 2021, 42, 662–672. [CrossRef]
- 146. Rogers, L.J.; Cuello, M.A. Cancer of the vulva. Int. J. Gynecol. Obstet. 2018, 143, 4–13. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 147. Kang, Y.J.; Smith, M.; Barlow, E.; Coffey, K.; Hacker, N.; Canfell, K. Vulvar cancer in high-income countries: Increasing burden of disease. *Int. J. Cancer* 2017, 141, 2174–2186. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 148. Weinberg, D.; Gomez-Martinez, R.A. Vulvar Cancer. Obstet. Gynecol. Clin. N. Am. 2019, 46, 125–135. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 149. Rakislova, N.; Clavero, O.; Alemany, L.; Saco, A.; Quirós, B.; Lloveras, B.; Alejo, M.; Pawlita, M.; Quint, W.; del Pino, M.; et al. Histological characteristics of HPV-associated and -independent squamous cell carcinomas of the vulva: A study of 1,594 cases. *Int. J. Cancer* 2017, 141, 2517–2527. [CrossRef]
- 150. Faber, M.T.; Sand, F.L.; Albieri, V.; Norrild, B.; Kjær, S.K.; Verdoodt, F. Prevalence and type distribution of human papillomavirus in squamous cell carcinoma and intraepithelial neoplasia of the vulva. *Int. J. Cancer* **2017**, *141*, 1161–1169. [CrossRef]
- 151. Pils, S.; Gensthaler, L.; Alemany, L.; Horvat, R.; de Sanjosé, S.; Joura, E.A. HPV prevalence in vulvar cancer in Austria. *Wien. Klin. Wochenschr.* 2017, 129, 805–809. [CrossRef]
- Hoang, L.N.; Park, K.J.; Soslow, R.A.; Murali, R. Squamous precursor lesions of the vulva: Current classification and diagnostic challenges. *Pathology* 2017, 176, 139–148. [CrossRef]
- 153. Fistarol, S.K.; Itin, P.H. Diagnosis and treatment of lichen sclerosus: An update. Am. J. Clin. Dermatol. 2013, 14, 27–47. [CrossRef]

- 154. Allbritton, J.I. Vulvar Neoplasms, Benign and Malignant. Obstet. Gynecol. Clin. N. Am. 2017, 44, 339-352. [CrossRef]
- 155. Shylasree, T.S.; Bryant, A.; Howells, R.E.J. Chemoradiation for advanced primary vulval cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 2011, 2011, 1–36. [CrossRef]
- 156. Hacker, N.F.; Eifel, P.J.; Van Der Velden, J. Cancer of the vulva. Int. J. Gynecol. Obstet. 2016, 132, S76–S83. [CrossRef]
- 157. Micheletti, L.; Preti, M. Surgery of the vulva in vulvar cancer. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol. 2014, 28, 1074–1087. [CrossRef]
- 158. Khanna, N.; Rauh, L.A.; Lachiewicz, M.P.; Horowitz, I.R. Margins for cervical and vulvar cancer. J. Surg. Oncol. 2016, 113, 304–309. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 159. Gill, B.S.; Bernard, M.E.; Lin, J.F.; Balasubramani, G.K.; Rajagopalan, M.S.; Sukumvanich, P.; Krivak, T.C.; Olawaiye, A.B.; Kelley, J.L.; Beriwal, S. Impact of adjuvant chemotherapy with radiation for node-positive vulvar cancer: A National Cancer Data Base (NCDB) analysis. *Gynecol. Oncol.* 2015, 137, 365–372. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Geisler, J.P.; Manahan, K.J.; Buller, R.E. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy in vulvar cancer: Avoiding primary exenteration. *Gynecol.* Oncol. 2006, 100, 53–57. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 161. Perrone, A.M.; Galuppi, A.; Borghese, G.; Corti, B.; Ferioli, M.; Della Gatta, A.N.; Bovicelli, A.; Morganti, A.G.; De Iaco, P. Electrochemotherapy pre-treatment in primary squamous vulvar cancer. Our preliminary experience. J. Surg. Oncol. 2018, 117, 1813–1817. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 162. Crosbie, E.J.; Slade, R.J.; Ahmed, A.S. The management of vulval cancer. Cancer Treat. Rev. 2009, 35, 533–539. [CrossRef]
- 163. Pellegrino, A.; Damiani, G.R.; Mangioni, C.; Strippoli, D.; Loverro, G.; Cappello, A.; Turoli Scd, D.; Corso, S.; Tartagni, M.; Pezzotta, M.G. Outcomes of Bleomycin-based electrochemotherapy in patients with repeated loco-regional recurrences of vulvar cancer. Acta Oncol. 2016, 55, 619–624. [CrossRef]
- 164. Perrone, A.M.; Galuppi, A.; Pirovano, C.; Borghese, G.; Covarelli, P.; De Terlizzi, F.; Ferioli, M.; Cara, S.; Morganti, A.G.; De Iaco, P. Palliative electrochemotherapy in vulvar carcinoma: Preliminary results of the ELECHTRA (electrochemotherapy vulvar cancer) multicenter study. *Cancers* 2019, 11, 657. [CrossRef]
- 165. Estimated Number of Deaths in 2020, Worldwide, Females, Ages 0–59 (excl. NMSC). WHO Cancer Today. Available online: https://gco.iarc.fr/today/online-analysis-table?v=2020&mode=cancer&mode_population=continents&population=900& populations=900&key=asr&sex=2&cancer=39&type=1&statistic=5&prevalence=0&population_group=0&ages_group%5B% 5D=0&ages_group%5B%5D=11&group_cancer=1&i (accessed on 1 January 2022).
- 166. Top Cancer per Country, Estimated Age-Standardized Incidence Rates (World) in 2020, both Sexes, Ages 0–59 (excl. NMSC). WHO Cancer Today. Available online: https://gco.iarc.fr/today/online-analysis-map?v=2020&mode=cancer&mode_population= continents&population=900&populations=900&key=asr&sex=0&cancer=39&type=0&statistic=5&prevalence=0&population_group=0&ages_group%5B%5D=0&ages_group%5B%5D=11&nb_items=10&group_ (accessed on 1 January 2022).
- 167. Panici, P.B.; Angioli, R.; Penalver, M.; Pecorelli, S. Cervical cancer. Lancet 2004, 361, 547–554.
- 168. Hussain, E.; Mahanta, L.B.; Das, C.R.; Talukdar, R.K. A comprehensive study on the multi-class cervical cancer diagnostic prediction on pap smear images using a fusion-based decision from ensemble deep convolutional neural network. *Tissue Cell* 2020, 65, 101347. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 169. Bosch, F.X.; Manos, M.M.; Muñoz, N.; Sherman, M.; Jansen, A.M.; Peto, J.; Schiffman, M.H.; Moreno, V.; Kurman, R.; Shan, K.V. Prevalence of human papillomavirus in cervical cancer: A worldwide perspective. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1995, 87, 796–802. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Qin, Q.; Xiong, Z.A.; Liu, Y.; Yao, C.G.; Zhou, W.; Hua, Y.Y.; Wang, Z.L. Effects of irreversible electroporation on cervical cancer cell lines in vitro. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 2016, 14, 2187–2193. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 171. Tang, B.; Li, L.; Jiang, Z.; Luan, Y.; Li, D.; Zhang, W.; Reed, E.; Li, Q.Q. Characterization of the mechanisms of electrochemotherapy in an in vitro model for human cervical cancer. *Int. J. Oncol.* **2005**, *26*, 703–711. [CrossRef]
- 172. Liu, X.Y.; Xiong, Z.A.; Li, H.S.; Li, C.X. Alterations in the mortality and growth cycle of cervical cancer cells treated with electroporation at different electric strengths. In *Gynaecological Oncology*; I.R.O.G. CANADA, Inc.: Montreal, QC, USA, 2012; Volume 33, pp. 79–85, ISBN 9780511691799.
- 173. Chai, W.; Zhang, W.; Wei, Z.; Xu, Y.; Shi, J.; Luo, X.; Zeng, J.; Cui, M.; Li, J.; Niu, L. Irreversible electroporation of the uterine cervix in a rabbit model. *Biomed. Microdevices* **2017**, *19*, 103. [CrossRef]
- 174. Ramachandran, R.P.; Madhivanan, S.; Sundararajan, R.; Wan-Ying Lin, C.; Sankaranarayanan, K. An In Vitro Study of Electroporation of Leukemia and Cervical Cancer Cells; Woodhead Publishing Limited: Sawston, UK, 2014; ISBN 9781908818294.
- 175. Trimble, C.L.; Morrow, M.P.; Kraynyak, K.A.; Shen, X.; Dallas, M.; Yan, J.; Edwards, L.; Parker, R.L.; Denny, L.; Giffear, M.; et al. Safety, efficacy, and immunogenicity of VGX-3100, a therapeutic synthetic DNA vaccine targeting human papillomavirus 16 and 18 E6 and E7 proteins for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2/3: A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2b trial. *Lancet* 2015, 386, 2078–2088. [CrossRef]
- 176. REVEAL 2 Trial (Evaluation of VGX-3100 and Electroporation for the Treatment of Cervical HSIL)—Full Text View—ClinicalTrials.gov. Available online: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03721978 (accessed on 1 January 2022).
- 177. Hasan, Y.; Furtado, L.; Tergas, A.; Lee, N.; Brooks, R.; McCall, A.; Golden, D.; Jolly, S.; Fleming, G.; Morrow, M.; et al. A Phase 1 Trial Assessing the Safety and Tolerability of a Therapeutic DNA Vaccination Against HPV16 and HPV18 E6/E7 Oncogenes After Chemoradiation for Cervical Cancer. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2020, 107, 487–498. [CrossRef]

- 178. Morris, V.K.; Jazaeri, A.A.; Westin, S.N.; Pettaway, C.A.; George, S.; Huey, R.; Onstad, M.; Tu, S.-M.; Wang, J.; Shafer, A.; et al. Phase II trial of MEDI0457 and durvalumab for patients with recurrent/metastatic HPV-associated cancers. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2021, 39, 2595. [CrossRef]
- 179. Humeau, L.; Trimble, C.; Morrow, M.; Shen, X.; Dallas, M.; Weiner, D.; Boyer, J.; Yan, J.; Kraynyak, K.; Sylvester, A.; et al. DNA vaccine VGX-3100 with electroporation induces regression of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2/3 and clears HPV infection with robust T cell responses: Results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase II trial. *J. Immunother. Cancer* 2014, 2, 3100. [CrossRef]
- Morrow, M.P.; Kraynyak, K.; Shen, X.; Knott, C.; Yan, J.; Broderick, K.; Khan, A.; Giffear, M.; Lee, J.; Boyer, J.; et al. Boosting of cellular and humoral immune responses to HPV16/18 antigens by VGX-3100: A follow-on phase I trial. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2014, 32, 3101. [CrossRef]
- 181. Choi, Y.J.; Hur, S.Y.; Kim, T.J.; Hong, S.R.; Lee, J.K.; Cho, C.H.; Park, K.S.; Woo, J.W.; Sung, Y.C.; Suh, Y.S.; et al. A phase II, prospective, randomized, multicenter, open-label study of GX-188E, an HPV DNA vaccine, in patients with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 3. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2020, 26, 1616–1623. [CrossRef]
- 182. Vonderheide, R.H.; Kraynyak, K.A.; Shields, A.F.; McRee, A.J.; Johnson, J.M.; Sun, W.; Chintakuntlawar, A.V.; Pawlicki, J.; Sylvester, A.J.; McMullan, T.; et al. Phase 1 study of safety, tolerability and immunogenicity of the human telomerase (hTERT)encoded DNA plasmids INO-1400 and INO-1401 with or without IL-12 DNA plasmid INO-9012 in adult patients with solid tumors. J. Immunother. Cancer 2021, 9, 3019. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 183. IARC Cancer Tomorrow. Available online: https://gco.iarc.fr/tomorrow/en/dataviz/isotype?cancers=20&single_unit=100000 (accessed on 9 January 2022).
- Fitzal, F.; Mittlboeck, M.; Trischler, H.; Krois, W.; Nehrer, G.; Deutinger, M.; Jakesz, R.; Gnant, M. Breast-conserving therapy for centrally located breast cancer. *Ann. Surg.* 2008, 247, 470–476. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Neal, R.E.; Singh, R.; Hatcher, H.C.; Kock, N.D.; Torti, S.V.; Davalos, R.V. Treatment of breast cancer through the application of irreversible electroporation using a novel minimally invasive single needle electrode. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 2010, 123, 295–301. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Serša, G.; Čemažar, M.; Miklavčič, D. Antitumor Effectiveness of Electrochemotherapy with cis-Diamminedichloroplatinum(II) in Mice. Cancer Res. 1995, 55, 3450–3455. [PubMed]
- 187. Waks, A.G.; Winer, E.P. Breast Cancer Treatment: A Review. JAMA J. Am. Med. Assoc. 2019, 321, 288–300. [CrossRef]
- Cvetković, D.M.; Živanović, M.N.; Milutinović, M.G.; Djukić, T.R.; Radović, M.D.; Cvetković, A.M.; Filipović, N.D.; Zdravković, N.D. Real-time monitoring of cytotoxic effects of electroporation on breast and colon cancer cell lines. *Bioelectrochemistry* 2017, 113, 85–94. [CrossRef]
- 189. Mittal, L.; Aryal, U.K.; Camarillo, I.G.; Ferreira, R.M.; Sundararajan, R. Quantitative proteomic analysis of enhanced cellular effects of electrochemotherapy with Cisplatin in triple-negative breast cancer cells. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 13916. [CrossRef]
- 190. Sundararajan, R. Combination Electrochemotherapy: Another Solution for Triple Negative Breast Cancers. J. Cancer Prev. Curr. Res. 2015, 3, 6–9. [CrossRef]
- 191. Jothi, V.; Raman, V.; Sharma, R.; Camarillo, I. Electroporation-based Enhanced Anti-Cancer Effect of Veliparib on Triple Negative Breast Cancer Cells Electroporation-based Enhanced Anti-Cancer Effect of Veliparib on Triple Negative Breast Cancer Cells. In Proceedings of the Electrostatics Joint Conference 2016, West Lafayette, IN, USA, 13–16 June 2016. [CrossRef]
- 192. Romeo, S.; Frandsen, S.K.; Gehl, J.; Zeni, O. Calcium Electroporation: An Overview of an Innovative Cancer Treatment Approach. In Proceedings of the 2019 PhotonIcs & Electromagnetics Research Symposium-Spring (PIERS-Spring), Rome, Italy, 17–20 June 2019; pp. 2979–2984. [CrossRef]
- 193. Frandsen, S.K.; Gehl, J. Effect of calcium electroporation in combination with metformin in vivo and correlation between viability and intracellular ATP level after calcium electroporation in vitro. *PLoS ONE* **2017**, *12*, e0181839. [CrossRef]
- 194. Kulbacka, J.; Rembiałkowska, N.; Szewczyk, A.; Moreira, H.; Szyjka, A.; Girkontaitė, I.; Grela, K.P.; Novickij, V. The impact of extracellular Ca²⁺ and nanosecond electric pulses on sensitive and drug-resistant human breast and colon cancer cells. *Cancers* 2021, 13, 3216. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 195. Babikr, F.; Wan, J.; Xu, A.; Wu, Z.; Ahmed, S.; Freywald, A.; Chibbar, R.; Wu, Y.; Moser, M.; Groot, G.; et al. Distinct roles but cooperative effect of TLR3/9 agonists and PD-1 blockade in converting the immunotolerant microenvironment of irreversible electroporation-ablated tumors. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 2021, *18*, 2632–2647. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 196. Zhang, H.; Liu, K.; Xue, Z.; Yin, H.; Dong, H.; Jin, W.; Shi, X.; Wang, H.; Wang, H. High-voltage pulsed electric field plus photodynamic therapy kills breast cancer cells by triggering apoptosis. *Am. J. Transl. Res.* **2018**, *10*, 334–351. [PubMed]
- 197. Bazzolo, B.; Sieni, E.; Zamuner, A.; Roso, M.; Russo, T.; Gloria, A.; Dettin, M.; Conconi, M.T. Breast cancer cell cultures on electrospun poly(ε-caprolactone) as a potential tool for preclinical studies on anticancer treatments. *Bioengineering* **2021**, *8*, 1. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 198. Rocco, N.; Papallo, I.; Nava, M.B.; Catanuto, G.; Accurso, A.; Onofrio, I.; Oliviero, O.; Improta, G.; Speranza, D.; Domingos, M.; et al. Additive manufacturing and technical strategies for improving outcomes in breast reconstructive surgery. *Acta IMEKO* **2020**, *9*, 74–79. [CrossRef]
- 199. Belehradek, M.; Domenge, C.; Luboinski, B.; Orlowski, S.; Belehradek, J.; Mir, L.M. Electrochemotherapy, a new antitumor treatment. First clinical phase I-II trial. *Cancer* **1993**, *72*, 3694–3700. [CrossRef]
- 200. Sersa, G.; Cufer, T.; Paulin, S.M.; Cemazar, M.; Snoj, M. Electrochemotherapy of chest wall breast cancer recurrence. *Cancer Treat. Rev.* **2012**, *38*, 379–386. [CrossRef]
- 201. Matthiessen, L.W.; Johannesen, H.H.; Hendel, H.W.; Moss, T.; Kamby, C.; Gehl, J. Electrochemotherapy for large cutaneous recurrence of breast cancer: A phase II clinical trial. *Acta Oncol.* **2012**, *51*, 713–721. [CrossRef]
- 202. Larkin, J.O.; Collins, C.G.; Aarons, S.; Tangney, M.; Whelan, M.; O'Reily, S.; Breathnach, O.; Soden, D.M.; O'Sullivan, G.C. Electrochemotherapy: Aspects of preclinical development and early clinical experience. *Ann. Surg.* 2007, 245, 469–479. [CrossRef]
- 203. Solari, N.; Spagnolo, F.; Ponte, E.; Quaglia, A.; Lillini, R.; Battista, M.; Queirolo, P.; Cafiero, F. Electrochemotherapy for the management of cutaneous and subcutaneous metastasis: A series of 39 patients treated with palliative intent. *J. Surg. Oncol.* 2014, 109, 270–274. [CrossRef]
- 204. Telli, M.L.; Nagata, H.; Wapnir, I.; Acharya, C.R.; Zablotsky, K.; Fox, B.A.; Bifulco, C.B.; Jensen, S.M.; Ballesteros-Merino, C.; Le, M.H.; et al. Intratumoral plasmid IL12 expands CD8p T cells and induces a CXCR3 gene signature in triple-negative breast tumors that sensitizes patients to Anti–PD-1 therapy. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2021**, *27*, 2481–2493. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 205. Wichtowski, M.; Murawa, D.; Czarnecki, R.; Piechocki, J.; Nowecki, Z.; Witkiewicz, W. Electrochemotherapy in the treatment of breast cancer metastasis to the skin and subcutaneous tissue—Multicenter experience. *Oncol. Res. Treat.* 2019, 42, 47–51. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 206. Supabphol, S.; Li, L.; Goedegebuure, S.P.; Gillanders, W.E. Neoantigen vaccine platforms in clinical development: Understanding the future of personalized immunotherapy. *Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs* **2021**, *30*, 529–541. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 207. Lopes, A.; Vandermeulen, G.; Préat, V. Cancer DNA vaccines: Current preclinical and clinical developments and future perspectives. J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 2019, 38, 146. [CrossRef]
- 208. Li, L.; Goedegebuure, S.P.; Gillanders, W.E. Preclinical and clinical development of neoantigen vaccines. *Ann. Oncol.* 2017, 28, xii11–xii17. [CrossRef]

11. Informacje o źródłach finansowania badań

Badania składające się na rozprawę doktorską zostały sfinansowane przez:

- Subwencję Katedry i Zakładu Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Uniwersytetu Medycznego im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu nr SUBZ.D260.22.016
- Grant Narodowego Centrum Nauki (NCN) SONATA BIS 6 (2016/22/E/NZ5/00671; kierownik: J. Kulbacka)
- Grant Narodowego Centrum Nauki, DAINA 2 (2020/38/L/NZ7/00342; kierownik: J. Kulbacka)
- 4) Grant Litewskiej Rady ds. Badań Naukowych (S-LL-21-4; kierownik: V. Novickij)

12. Oświadczenia współautorów prac będących podstawą cyklu



OŚWIADCZENIE

Z głębokim żalem informujemy o śmierci **prof. dr hab. Jolanty Saczko**, która pełniła rolę pierwszego Promotora niniejszej pracy doktorskiej w latach 2020-2023. Pani Prof. Saczko jest współautorem każdej z zawartej w cyklu publikacji naukowej, a jej wkład polegał na budowaniu koncepcji prac naukowych, nadzorowaniu przeprowadzonych eksperymentów, pomocy w analizie i interpretacji wyników oraz pomocy w przygotowywaniu każdego z manuskryptów.

(podpis doktoranta)

(podpis promotora)



mgr Zofia Łapińska

Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Wydział Farmaceutyczny Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Michała Dębińskiego, Anny Szewczyk, Anny Choromańska, Julity Kulbacka, Jolanty Saczko pt. "Electrochemotherapy with Calcium Chloride and 17β-Estradiol Modulated Viability and Apoptosis Pathway in Human Ovarian Cancer" opublikowanej w czasopiśmie *Pharmaceutics* w 2020 roku vol. 13; art. 19 mój udział polegał na opracowaniu koncepcji pracy, przeprowadzeniu eksperymentów, analizie i interpretacji wyników oraz przygotowaniu manuskryptu.

putte filline (podpis promotora)



mgr Michał Dębiński

Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Wydział Farmaceutyczny Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Michała Dębińskiego, Anny Szewczyk, Anny Choromańska, Julity Kulbacka, Jolanty Saczko pt. "Electrochemotherapy with Calcium Chloride and 17β-Estradiol Modulated Viability and Apoptosis Pathway in Human Ovarian Cancer" opublikowanej w czasopiśmie *Pharmaceutics* w 2020 roku vol. 13; art. 19 mój udział polegał na opracowaniu koncepcji pracy, przeprowadzeniu eksperymentów oraz analizie i interpretacji wyników.

Jullie fillune (podpis promotora)

dr Anna Szewczyk

^a Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Wydział Farmaceutyczny Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

^b State Research Institute Centre for Innovative Medicine, Department of Immunology

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Michała Dębińskiego, Anny Szewczyk, Anny Choromańska, Julity Kulbacka, Jolanty Saczko pt. "Electrochemotherapy with Calcium Chloride and 17β-Estradiol Modulated Viability and Apoptosis Pathway in Human Ovarian Cancer" opublikowanej w czasopiśmie *Pharmaceutics* w 2020 roku vol. 13; art. 19 mój udział polegał na wykonaniu zdjęć preparatów metodą mikroskopii konfokalnej (przedstawione na rycinie 5 i 6), interpretacji otrzymanych wyników oraz nanoszeniu poprawek w manuskrypcie.

Anna Szewezyle

juite feillune (podpis promotora)

dr hab. Anna Choromańska, prof. UMW

Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Wydział Farmaceutyczny Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Michała Dębińskiego, Anny Szewczyk, Anny Choromańska, Julity Kulbacka, Jolanty Saczko pt. **"Electrochemotherapy with Calcium Chloride and 17β-Estradiol Modulated Viability and Apoptosis Pathway in Human Ovarian Cancer"** opublikowanej w czasopiśmie *Pharmaceutics* w 2020 roku vol. 13; art. 19 mój udział polegał na nadzorze merytorycznym podczas wykonywania eksperymentów, pomocy w przygotowaniu manuskryptu oraz nanoszeniu poprawek (tekstu i części wizualnej).

Home Ceronomistic

(podpis współautora)

Julies Kullune

(podpis promotora)

prof., dr hab., inż. Julita Kulbacka

^a Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Wydział Farmaceutyczny Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

^b State Research Institute Centre for Innovative Medicine, Department of Immunology

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Michała Dębińskiego, Anny Szewczyk, Anny Choromańska, Julity Kulbacka, Jolanty Saczko pt. "Electrochemotherapy with Calcium Chloride and 17β-Estradiol Modulated Viability and Apoptosis Pathway in Human Ovarian Cancer" opublikowanej w czasopiśmie Pharmaceutics w 2020 roku vol. 13; art. 19 mój udział polegał na opracowaniu koncepcji pracy, kierowaniu projektem naukowym obejmującym badania opisane w tej pracy (2016/22/E/NZ5/00671), krytycznej ocenie wyników, nadzorze merytorycznym przy planowaniu eksperymentów, korekcie manuskryptu oraz pozyskaniu funduszy na pokrycie kosztów eksperymentów i publikacji.

(podpis współautora)

Julie falling (podpis promotora)



mgr Zofia Łapińska

Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej, Wydział Farmaceutyczny, Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Vitalijego Novickij, Niny Rembiałkowskiej, Anny Szewczyk, Magdaleny Dubińskiej-Magiery, Julity Kulbackiej, Jolanty Saczko pt. "**The influence of asymmetrical bipolar pulses and interphase intervals on the bipolar cancellation phenomenon in the ovarian cancer cell line**" opublikowanej w czasopiśmie *Bioelectrochemistry* w 2023 roku vol. 153; art. 108483 mój udział polegał na opracowaniu koncepcji pracy, przygotowaniu eksperymentów, analizie i interpretacji wyników oraz przygotowaniu manuskryptu.

(podpis współautora)

June fieldine

(podpis promotora)

prof. dr Vitalij Novickij

 State Research Institute Centre for Innovative Medicine, Department of Immunology
 Faculty of Electronics.

Vilnius Gediminas Technical University

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Vitalijego Novickij, Niny Rembiałkowskiej, Anny Szewczyk, Magdy Dubińskiej-Magiery, Julity Kulbackiej, Jolanty Saczko pt. **"The influence of asymmetrical bipolar pulses and interphase intervals on the bipolar cancellation phenomenon in the ovarian cancer cell line"** opublikowanej w czasopiśmie *Bioelectrochemistry* w 2023 roku vol. 153; art. 108483 mój udział polegał na opracowaniu koncepcji pracy oraz wykonaniu eksperymentów (pomiar wychwytu markera Yo-Pro-1[™]; Fig. 2-4), kierowaniu projektem naukowym obejmującym badania opisane w tej pracy (S-LL-21-4), pomocy w analizie i interpretacji wyników, pomoc w odpowiedzi dla Recenzentów i zatwierdzeniu finalnej wersji manukryptu.

Imunologijos ir bioelektrochemijos kyriaus vadovas Vitalij Novickij (podpis współautora)

the fielding odpis promotora)



UNIWERSYTET MEDYCZNY

IM. PIASTÓW ŚLĄSKICH WE WROCŁAWIU

Wrocław, 26.08.2024

dr Nina Rembiałkowska

Uniwersytet Medyczny we Wrocławiu Wydział Farmaceutyczny Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej ul. Borowska 211A, 50-556 Wrocław

OŚWIADCZENIE WSPÓŁAUTORA

Niniejszym oświadczam, że mój udział w artykule naukowym autorstwa Zofia Łapińska, Vitalij Novickij, Nina Rembiałkowska, Anna Szewczyk, Magda Dubińskiej-Magiera, Julita Kulbacka, Jolanta Saczko, pt. **"The influence of asymmetrical bipolar pulses and interphase intervals on the bipolar cancellation phenomenon in the ovarian cancer cell line**" opublikowanym w czasopiśmie Bioelectrochemistry w 2023 roku vol. 153; DOI:10.1016/j.bioelechem.2023.108483, polegał na opracowaniu koncepcji pracy, wykonaniu elektroporacji komórek i przygotowaniu ich do testów przeżywalności oraz edycji manuskryptu.

> Uniwersytet Medyczny we Wrocławiu KATEDRA I ZAKŁAD BIOLOGII MOLEKULARNEJ I KOMÓRKOWEJ adiunkt

dr inż. Nina Rembiałkowska Nine Rembatioka (podpis współautora)

odpis promotora)

dr Anna Szewczyk

Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej, Wydział Farmaceutyczny, Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Vitalijego Novickij, Niny Rembiałkowskiej, Anny Szewczyk, Magdy Dubińskiej-Magiery, Julity Kulbackiej, Jolanty Saczko pt. **"The influence of asymmetrical bipolar pulses and interphase intervals on the bipolar cancellation phenomenon in the ovarian cancer cell line"** opublikowanej w czasopiśmie *Bioelectrochemistry* w 2023 roku vol. 153; art. 108483 mój udział polegał na przeprowadzeniu zdjęć preparatów metodą mikroskopii konfokalnej (przedstawione na rycinie 5 i 6), analizie i interpretacji wyników oraz nanoszeniu poprawek w manuskrypcie.

Anna Seewayle

Juliote Hilloune (podpis promotora)

dr hab. Magda Dubińska-Magiera

Zakład Biologii Rozwoju Zwierząt Wydział Nauk Biologicznych, Uniwersytet Wrocławski

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Vitalijego Novickij, Niny Rembiałkowskiej, Anny Szewczyk, Magdy Dubińskiej-Magiery, Julity Kulbackiej, Jolanty Saczko pt. "The influence of asymmetrical bipolar pulses and interphase intervals on the bipolar cancellation phenomenon in the ovarian cancer cell line" opublikowanej w czasopiśmie Bioelectrochemistry w 2023 roku vol. 153; art. 108483 mój udział polegał na wykonaniu zdjęć metodą mikroskopii konfokalnej (przedstawione na rycinie 5 i 6).

Magda Dubin, ku - Magiera (podpis współautora)

Junte Kelletare (podpis promotora)

prof., dr hab., inż. Julita Kulbacka

^a Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Wydział Farmaceutyczny Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

^b State Research Institute Centre for Innovative Medicine, Department of Immunology

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Vitalijego Novickij, Niny Rembiałkowskiej, Anny Szewczyk, Magdy Dubińskiej-Magiery, Julity Kulbackiej, Jolanty Saczko pt. "The influence of asymmetrical bipolar pulses and interphase intervals on the bipolar cancellation phenomenon in the ovarian cancer cell line" opublikowanej w czasopiśmie Bioelectrochemistry w 2023 roku vol. 153; art. 108483 mój udział polegał na opracowaniu koncepcji pracy, kierowaniu projektem naukowym obejmującym badania opisane w tej pracy (2020/38/L/NZ7/00342), krytycznej ocenie wyników, nadzorze merytorycznym przy planowaniu eksperymentów, korekcie manuskryptu oraz pozyskaniu funduszy na pokrycie kosztów eksperymentów oraz publikacji.

(podpis współautora)

pelite fillence (podpis promotora)



mgr Zofia Łapińska

Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Wydział Farmaceutyczny Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Urszuli Szwedowicz, Anny Choromańskiej i Jolanty Saczko pt. "Electroporation and electrochemotherapy in gynecological and breast cancer treatment" opublikowanej w czasopiśmie Molecules w 2022 roku vol. 27; art. 2476 mój udział polegał na opracowaniu koncepcji pracy, dokonaniu przeglądu literatury oraz przygotowaniu manuskryptu.

(podpis współautora)

Jullue filline (podpis promotora)

mgr Urszula Szwedowicz

Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Wydział Farmaceutyczny Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Urszuli Szwedowicz, Anny Choromańskiej i Jolanty Saczko pt. **"Electroporation and electrochemotherapy in gynecological and breast cancer treatment"** opublikowanej w czasopiśmie *Molecules* w 2022 roku vol. 27; art. 2476 mój udział polegał na dokonaniu przeglądu literatury oraz przygotowaniu manuskryptu w części *3.3 Cervical Cancer*.

Umpho Szwedowich (podpis współautora)

- Juir Kellline

(podpis promotora)

dr hab. Anna Choromańska, prof. UMW

Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej Wydział Farmaceutyczny Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu

OŚWIADCZENIE

Oświadczam, iż w pracy autorstwa Zofii Łapińskiej, Urszuli Szwedowicz, Anny Choromańskiej i Jolanty Saczko pt. "Electroporation and electrochemotherapy in gynecological and breast cancer treatment" opublikowanej w czasopiśmie Molecules w 2022 roku vol. 27; art. 2476 mój udział polegał na dokonaniu przeglądu literatury w części 3.2 Vulvar Cancer, pomocy w przygotowaniu i edycji manukrysptu oraz poprawie tekstu.

Anne Choromonistia

(podpis współautora)

Julie fulllene (podpis promotora)

13. Życiorys oraz dorobek naukowy

Dane osobowe:

- Imię i nazwisko: Zofia Łapińska
- Data i miejsce urodzenia: 18.12.1996 r. Łapy
- Adres korespondencyjny: Łapy-Szołajdy 31, 18-100 Łapy

Aktualne miejsce i stanowisko pracy: brak

<u>Edukacja:</u>

- 2020-2024 Doktorantka w Szkole Doktorskiej Uniwersytetu Medycznego im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu; Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej
- 02.2024 11.2024 Stażystka w grupie Cancer and Genome Instability, wydział Cancer Biology, The Institute of Cancer Research, Londyn, Zjednoczone Królestwo Wielkiej Brytanii i Irlandii Północnej (konkurs Nagroda Naukowa); opiekun: dr Jadwiga Nieminuszczy, prof. Wojciech Niedźwiedź
- 2018 2020 Studia magisterskie na kierunku biotechnologia Wydziału Biotechnologii Uniwersytetu Wrocławskiego, spec. biologia molekularna. Praca magisterska realizowana w Zakładzie Biotransformacji; tytuł pracy: "Rola mutacji punktowych genu ERG11 w oporności grzybów Candida albicans na flukonazol."
- 2015 2018 Studia licencjackie na kierunku biotechnologia Wydziału Biotechnologii Uniwersytetu Wrocławskiego. Praca licencjacka realizowana w Zakładzie Biotransformacji; tytuł pracy: "Rola receptora cukrów Mig1p u *Candida albicans.*"
- 2012 2015 I Liceum Ogólnokształcące im. Adama Mickiewicza w Białymstoku

13.1 Prace pełnotekstowe w czasopismach naukowych

Liczba rozdziałów: 10; Łączna punktacja: IF: 43,233; MNiSW: 1170 pkt.

- Kowalski Szymon, Karska Julia, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Hetnał Bartosz, Saczko Jolanta, Kulbacka Julita: An overview of programmed cell death: apoptosis and pyroptosis-mechanisms, differences, and significance in organism physiology and pathophysiology, *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 2023, vol. 124, nr 6, s. 765-784, DOI:10.1002/jcb.30413
 IF: 3,0; MNiSW: 100 pkt.
- Radzka Justyna, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Szwedowicz Urszula, Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, Gizak Agnieszka, Kulbacka Julita: Alternations of NF-κB signaling by natural compounds

in muscle-derived cancers, *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 2023, vol. 24, nr 15, art.11900 [15 s.], DOI:10.3390/ijms241511900 **IF:** 4,9; **MNiSW:** 140 pkt. Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, Szwedowicz Urszula, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Rudno-Rudzińska Julia, Kielan Wojciech, Kulbacka Julita: Irreversible electroporation in pancreatic cancer - an evolving experimental and clinical method, *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 2023, vol. 24, nr 5, art.4381 [19 s.], DOI:10.3390/ijms24054381 **IF:** 4,9; **MNiSW:** 140 pkt.

- 3) <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Novickij Vitalij, Rembiałkowska Nina, Szewczyk Anna, Dubińska-Magiera Magdalena, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta Ewa: The influence of asymmetrical bipolar pulses and interphase intervals on the bipolar cancellation phenomenon in the ovarian cancer cell line, *Bioelectrochemistry*, 2023, vol. 153, art.108483 [10 s.], DOI: 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2023.108483 IF: 4,8; MNISW: 100 pkt.
- 4) Urbanek Aneta K.*, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>*, Derkacz Daria, Krasowska Anna: The Role of ERG11 point mutations in the resistance of Candida albicans to fluconazole in the presence of lactate, *Pathogens*, 2022, vol. 11, nr 11, art.1289 [15 s.], DOI:10.3390/pathogens11111289 IF: 3,7; MNiSW: 100 pkt.

* Autorzy ci w równym stopniu przyczynili się do powstania tej pracy.

- 5) <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Szwedowicz Urszula, Choromańska Anna, Saczko Jolanta: Electroporation and electrochemotherapy in gynecological and breast cancer treatment, *Molecules*, 2022, vol. 27, nr 8, art.2476 [32 s.], DOI:10.3390/molecules27082476 IF: 4,6; MNiSW: 140 pkt.
- 6) Szwedowicz Urszula, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, Choromańska Anna: Exosomes and other extracellular vesicles with high therapeutic potential: their applications in oncology, neurology, and dermatology, *Molecules*, 2022, vol. 27, nr 4, art.1303 [34 s.], DOI:10.3390/molecules27041303 IF: 4.6; MNiSW: 140 pkt.
- 7) <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Dębiński Michał, Szewczyk Anna, Choromańska Anna, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta: Electrochemotherapy with calcium chloride and 17β-estradiol modulated viability and apoptosis pathway in human ovarian cancer, *Pharmaceutics*, 2021, vol. 13, nr 1, art.19 [17 s.], DOI:10.3390/pharmaceutics13010019 IF: 6,525; MNiSW: 100 pkt.
- Kulbacka Julita, Choromańska Anna, <u>Łapińska Zofia</u>, Saczko Jolanta: Natural polymers in photodynamic therapy and diagnosis, *Polimery w Medycynie*, 2021, vol. 51, nr 1, s. 33-41, DOI:10.17219/pim/139587 IF: 0,0; MNiSW: 70 pkt.
- 9) Szlasa Wojciech, Kiełbik Aleksander, Szewczyk Anna, Novickij Vitalij, Tarek Mounir, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Saczko Jolanta, Kulbacka Julita, Rembiałkowska Nina: Atorvastatin modulates the efficacy of electroporation and calcium electrochemotherapy, *International*

Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2021, vol. 22, nr 20, art.11245 [21 s .], DOI:10.3390/ijms222011245 **IF:** 6,208; **MNiSW:** 140 pkt.

13.2 Rozdziały w monografiach naukowych i inne

Liczba rozdziałów: 2; Łączna punktacja: IF: 2,1; MNiSW: 90 pkt.

- <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Michel Olga, Szlasa Wojciech, Saczko Jolanta: Hormonotherapy in gynecological cancers, W: Advances in biomedical research: from cancer prevention to treatment, (red.) Izabela Młynarczuk-Biały, Łukasz Biały, Lublin; Warszawa 2020, Warszawski Uniwersytet Medyczny, s. 130-142, ISBN 978-83-66489-45-5, 978-83-7637-551-9 IF: 0,0; MNiSW: 20 pkt.
- <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Saczko Jolanta: Novel electroporation-based treatments for breast cancer [editorial], Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, 2022, vol. 31, nr 11, s. 1183-1186, DOI:10.17219/acem/156058 IF: 2,1; MNiSW: 70 pkt.

13.4 Streszczenia zjazdowe

- <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Novickij Vitalij, Rembiałkowska Nina, Radzevičiūtė-Valčiuke Eivina, Szewczyk Anna, Dubińska-Magiera Magda, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta, Baczyńska Dagmara; Modulating electrochemotherapy efficacy in ovarian carcinoma with bipolar nsPEFs: Insights into cell membrane permeabilization and reactive oxygen species levels;
- 2) <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Novickij Vitalij, Rembiałkowska Nina, Radzevičiūtė-Valčiuke Eivina, Szewczyk Anna, Dubińska-Magiera Magda, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta, Baczyńska Dagmara; The effect of asymmetrical pulsed electric fields consists of micro- and nanosecond-range pulses and interphase delays on bipolar cancellation phenomenon; W: XXVII Gliwice Scientific Meetings. Gliwice, November 16-17, 2023. Conference materials [online] 2023, 124 poz. [VI-5]
- 3) <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Szwedowicz Urszula, Kulbacka Julita; Nutraceutyki w walce z kancerogennym działaniem smogu; V Ogólnopolska Konferencja Naukowa "Ochrona środowiska rozwiązania i perspektywy". Lublin, 25 maja 2023 r. Abstrakty, red. Paulina Szymczyk i Monika Maciąg, Fundacja na rzecz promocji nauki i rozwoju TYGIEL, 2023, s. 22–23.
- 4) <u>Lapińska Zofia</u> Novickij Vitalij, Rembiałkowska Nina, Radzevičiūtė-Valčiuke Eivina, Szewczyk Anna, Dubińska-Magiera Magda, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta, Baczyńska Dagmara; The influence of asymmetrical electric fields with calcium ions or bleomycin on ovarian carcinoma; 5th International Wroclaw Scientific Meetings. Wrocław, Poland,

October 19-21, 2023; Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu, vol. 32, no. 3 spec., 2023, pp. 31

- 5) Bieżuńska-Kusiak Katarzyna, Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, Szwedowicz Urszula, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>: The influence of microplastic particles on the development of breast cancer cells; 5th International Wroclaw Scientific Meetings. Wrocław, Poland, October 19-21, 2023; Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu, vol. 32, no. 3 spec., 2023, pp. 51
- 6) Śmietańska Aleksandra, Szlasa Wojciech, <u>Łapińska Zofia</u>, Saczko Jolanta: Evaluation of the expression of folic acid receptors in ovarian cancer after chemotherapy: In vitro research; 5th International Wroclaw Scientific Meetings. Wrocław, Poland, October 19-21, 2023; Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu, vol. 32, no. 3 spec., 2023, pp. 112
- 7) Kulbacka Julita, Rossowska Joanna, Chwiłkowska Agnieszka, Choromańska Anna, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Rembiałkowska Nina: Antitumor effects of nanosecond PEFs with calcium ions in colon cancer in vitro and in vivo, In: 4th World Congress on Electroporation and Pulsed Electric Fields in Biology, Medicine, and Food & Environmental Technologies. Copenhagen, Denmark, 9 13 October 2022. Book of abstracts / Gehl Julie, Frandsen Dobbelaar Stine, Mahnič-Kalamiza Samo (eds.), 2022, 108 poz. OR-164
- 8) <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Szewczyk Anna, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta: Electroporation-based modalities fused with 17β-estradiol in ovarian cancer therapy in vitro, In: 4th World Congress on Electroporation and Pulsed Electric Fields in Biology, Medicine, and Food & Environmental Technologies. Copenhagen, Denmark, 9 13 October 2022. Book of abstracts / Gehl Julie, Frandsen Dobbelaar Stine, Mahnič-Kalamiza Samo (eds.), 2022, 175 poz.PO-021
- 9) Bieżuńska-Kusiak Katarzyna, Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, <u>Łapińska Zofia</u>, Szwedowicz Urszula: Rodzaje śmierci komórkowej ze szczególnym uwzględnieniem apoptozy po zastosowaniu elektroporacji w obecności jonów wapnia w komórkach gruczolakoraka gruczołu sutkowego MCF-7/WT i MCF-7/DOX, In: VI Ogólnopolska Konferencja Naukowa "Współczesne zastosowanie metod analitycznych w farmacji i medycynie". Wrocław, 03 grudnia 2021 r. Książka abstraktów, 2021, pp. 5
- 10) Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Szwedowicz Urszula, Rudno-Rudzińska Julia, Kulbacka Julita: Biomarkers for early detection of pancreatic cancer what is new, In: VI Ogólnopolska Konferencja Naukowa "Współczesne

zastosowanie metod analitycznych w farmacji i medycynie". Wrocław, 03 grudnia 2021 r. Książka abstraktów, 2021, pp. 16

- 11) <u>Łapińska Zofia</u>, Szlasa Wojciech, Szewczyk Anna, Szwedowicz Urszula, Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, Bieżuńska-Kusiak Katarzyna, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta: Elektroporacja z jonami wapnia i 17β-estradiolem jako potencjalna metoda leczenia raka jajnika in vitro, In: VI Ogólnopolska Konferencja Naukowa "Współczesne zastosowanie metod analitycznych w farmacji i medycynie". Wrocław, 03 grudnia 2021 r. Książka abstraktów, 2021, pp. 9
- 12) Szwedowicz Urszula, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Bieżuńska-Kusiak Katarzyna, Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta, Chwiłkowska Agnieszka, Choromańska Anna: Wpływ elektroporacji na uwalnianie mikropęcherzyków błonowych z komórek nowotworowych, In: VI Ogólnopolska Konferencja Naukowa "Współczesne zastosowanie metod analitycznych w farmacji i medycynie". Wrocław, 03 grudnia 2021 r. Książka abstraktów, 2021, pp. 10
- 13) <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Szlasa Wojciech, Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, Szwedowicz Urszula, Kulbacka Julita, Choromańska Anna: In vitro study of calcium electroporation (CaEP) fused with 17β-estradiol in ovarian cancer treatment, In: II Interdisciplinary Conference of Doctoral Students of Medical Universities "DocUMed" under the slogan "Libertas et ipsa scientia". Łódź, October 22-24, 2021. Book of abstracts / Duda Łukasz (eds.), 2021, ISBN 978-83-963099-5-2, pp. 28
- 14) Szwedowicz Urszula, Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta: Electroporation-based applications: extracellular vesicles, In: II Interdisciplinary Conference of Doctoral Students of Medical Universities "DocUMed" under the slogan "Libertas et ipsa scientia". Łódź, October 22-24, 2021. Book of abstracts / Duda Łukasz (eds.), 2021, ISBN 978-83-963099-5-2, pp. 32
- 15) <u>Lapińska Zofia</u>, Szwedowicz Urszula, Gajewska-Naryniecka Agnieszka, Szewczyk Anna, Saczko Jolanta: Calcium electroporation (CaEP) fused with 17β-estradiol in ovarian cancer treatment in vitro, In: XXVIth International Symposium on Bioelectrochemistry and Bioenergetics of the Bioelectrochemical Society. Cluj-Napoca, Romania, 9-13 May 2021. Abstract book, 2021, 207 poz. S3-P-06
- 16) <u>Łapińska Zofia</u>, Kulbacka Julita, Saczko Jolanta: Calcium electroporation as a potential ovarian cancer treatment modality, In: Proceedings and workbook of the electroporation-based technologies and treatments: International Scientific Workshop and Postgraduate

Course. Ljubljana, Slovenia, November 16-December 4, 2020 / Kramar Peter, Miklavcic Damijan, **2020**, Založba FE, ISBN 978-961-243-410-6, pp. 23

13.4 Nagrody i wyróżnienia

- Laureatka konkursu Nagroda Naukowa organizowanego przez firmę AstraZeneca, The Institute of Cancer Research (ICR) oraz Porozumienie Akademickich Centrów Transferu Technologii (PACTT) – stypendium na 10-miesięczny staż badawczy w ICR, Londyn, Anglia, I edycja, 2023
- Nominacja do nagrody Naukowiec Przyszłości 2023 w kategorii Kobieta nauki, która zmienia świat organizowanej przez Forum Inteligentnego Rozwoju
- **3)** I nagroda Komitetu Naukowego VI Ogólnopolskiej Konferencji Naukowej "*Współczesne zastosowanie metod analitycznych w farmacji i medycynie*", 03.12.2021, Wrocław, Polska
- 4) I nagroda Komitetu Naukowego Konferencji II Interdyscyplinarna Konferencja Doktorantów Uczelni Medycznych "DocUMed" pod hasłem: *Libertas et ipsa scientia* za najlepsze wystąpienie ustne, 22-24.10.2021, Łódź, Polska

13.5 Udział w projektach naukowych

- 2020/38/L/NZ7/00342 (DAINA 2 NCN) "Manipulacja oporności lekowej w komórkach nowotworowych poprzez nanosekundowe, asymetryczne sekwencje impulsów"; kierownik projektu: prof., dr hab. Julita Kulbacka; okres działalności Doktorantki: 01.09.2022-31.05.2024; funkcja: wykonawca (stypendysta)
- 2) SKN.D260.22.001 (Studenckie Koła Naukowe Tworzą Innowacje MNiSW) "Nutraceutyki w walce z kancerogennym działaniem smogu"; kierownicy projektu: prof., dr hab. Julita Kulbacka (opiekun), mgr Urszula Szwedowicz, mgr Zofia Łapińska; okres działalności Doktorantki: 19.04.2022 – 18.04.2023; funkcja: kierownik, główny wykonawca
- 3) 2016/22/E/NZ5/00671 (Sonata Bis 6 NCN) "Udział ultrakrótkich impulsów elektrycznych w indukcji stresu oksydacyjnego oraz ocena przeciwnowotworowego potencjału elektroporacji nanosekundowej (nsPEF) w nowotworach jelita grubego na modelu in vitro i in vivo"; kierownik projektu: prof., dr hab. Julita Kulbacka; okres działalności Doktorantki: 01.09.2021 28.02.2022; funkcja: wykonawca (stypendysta)
- 4) STM.A040.18.013 (Projekty Młodych Naukowców MNiSW) "Wpływ modulatorów ekspresji receptorów retinoidowych i naturalnych substancji przenikających barierę krew mózg na ludzkie nowotworowe i prawidłowe komórki nerwowe."; kierownik projektu:

dr hab. Anna Choromańska, prof. UMW; okres działalności Doktorantki: 11.2020 – 31.12.2021, funkcja: wykonawca

13.6 Udział w warsztatach i szkoleniach

- 3D Bioprinting and live cell microscopy workshops; 02.12.2022 r.; Katedra i Zakład Biologii Molekularnej i Komórkowej, Wydział Farmaceutyczny Uniwersytetu Medycznego im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu
- 2) 4th Annual Flow Cytometry Conference. Fundamentals of Flow Cytometry; 22-24.09.2021 r.; Laboratorium Cytometrii Przepływowej przy Katedrze i Zakładzie Podstaw Nauk Medycznych, Wydział Farmaceutyczny, Uniwersytet Medyczny im. Piastów Śląskich we Wrocławiu
- 3) Kurs dla osób uczestniczących w wykonywaniu procedur doświadczalnych z udziałem zwierząt; 14.06-28.06.2021 r.; Instytut Immunologii i Terapii Doświadczalnej PAN oraz PolLASA Polska
- 4) Podstawy analizy statystycznej w medycynie z wykorzystaniem oprogramowania Statistica; 27.02 i 06.03. 2021 r.; StatSoft Polska
- 5) Electroporation-based Technologies and Treatments (EBTT) International Scientific Workshop and Postgraduate Course, 16.11-4.12.2020 r.; Laboratorium Cybernetyki, Wydział Elektryczny, Uniwersytet w Lublanie (Słowenia)

13.7 Dodatkowa działalność Doktorantki

- Członkostwo w Studenckim Kole Naukowym (SKN) Biologii Komórki Nowotworowej;
 Doktorantka pełniła funkcję Sekretarza SKN w latach 2020-2023
- Członkostwo w Radzie Doktorantów UMW w latach 2021-2023
- Członkostwo w Kierunkowym Zespole ds. Jakości Kształcenia przy Wydziale Lekarskim UMW w latach 2022-2023